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VISION =

To be a dynamic enterprise that
improves people’s livelihood
through infrastructure and
professional services for cities in
Asia and beyond
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MISSION £ ip

e Improve people’s quality of life
RAAMERER

Grow with our employees

HET—®BKK

Create value for shareholders
AR REEEE

Committed to a sustainable future

HOERUFERRNAK

CORE VALUES % MEBE

Commitment

Respect
g8 g

We respect one another

and treat everyone equally commitment
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FEHESEA
Nurture
ZB
We spare no effort
to nurture

the next generation
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We build trust through

Innovation Initiative

B TH

We are intelligent We are self-starters and
problem-solvers exceed expectations
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Sustainability
AHERE
We prioritize ESG in
every decision
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In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the meanings set out below:

EAFERA BXESBMEIN THRAREEEATRE

"Audit Committee”

EEE3 k-

"Board”

=350

“Bye-laws”
NGRS EUN

"CG Code”
[{bZEEA~FAI]

“Chun Wo"
[ & 70

“Company”
[ARAF]]

“"Company Secretary”
[RAIMWE ]

“CSR”
[EREERIT]

"Director(s)"”

[E%]

"ESG”
[R5 e REE]

"Executive Committee”

[BiITRE2]

"“Executive Director(s)”

[$ITESE]

“Group”
[RE&EHE

“"HK$" and “HK cent(s)”
(7] R[]

the audit committee of the Board

EXREKEZES

the board of Directors
ZER

the Bye-laws of the Company
/N /NS

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

EMRAMEE A (BEEETAD

Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of the Company
ARFMBAREMEREERR DA

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability,
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00711)

DM EERIERBRAR —AREBREAMKR I 2ERAT EROABERTER LT
(B&fA 5% : 00711)

the company secretary of the Company

RRBZABEIME

corporate social responsibility
TEMHEEME

the director(s) of the Company
RRRIZES

environmental, social and governance
RE-HgkER

the executive committee of the Board

EZRWTERES

the executive Director(s)
WITES

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

RRBRETE 2 B A A

Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BITRE BRNEEEY
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“Hong Kong”
(&8

“INED(s)"
(B IFRTES

“Listing Rules”
[ Er#R Al

“Management Committee”
[EREEE

“Model Code”
2Tl

“NED(s)"
[SERITEE]

“Nomination Committee”

[fR2ZB g

"PRC”
[

“Remuneration Committee”

[FrZ 82

“RMB”
AR

“SFO"
787 M ' &G

"“Share(s)”
[ n ]

"“Shareholder(s)”
[ %38

“Stock Exchange”
[k 32 P

"Year”

[AFE

"o
[% ]

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEERRITHRE

the independent non-executive Director(s)

BIAFRITES

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B X P8 2 AR Al
the management committee of the Board

EEREREZEY

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules
FHRRAM SRR (LT BEITAEFETEF R FINRESFA]D

the non-executive Director(s)

FRTESE

the nomination committee of the Board

EXZRRXZES

the People’s Republic of China
REE AR A

the remuneration committee of the Board

E=RFHEES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

ARE  pEEEEER

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BEEDESNEE S KR ED

the ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company
RAFRAR FRREEO. 108 T 2 BB

the holder(s) of issued Share(s)
BEITROZFEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMERSMARRA

for the year ended 31 March 2022
B E2022F3A318IEFE

per cent

Bt

2021/224F %



CORPORATE INFORMATION

EEXER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Xu Jianhua, Jerry (Deputy Chairman)
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chief Executive Officer)
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
Li Wai Hang, Christina

Non-executive Directors

Wong Wendy Dick Yee
Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Independent Non-executive Directors
Wu William Wai Leung

Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Yen Gordon

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Wu William Wai Leung (Chairman)
Wong Wendy Dick Yee

Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Wong Wendy Dick Yee

Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Wu William Wai Leung

Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Yen Gordon

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Lam Yau Fung, Curt (Chairman)
Wu William Wai Leung
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

COMPANY SECRETARY
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant
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Corporate Information

EEEH

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

LEGAL ADVISORS

Conyers Dill & Pearman
LC Lawyers LLP

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
Chong Hing Bank Limited

HEAD OFFICE AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

C1, 5th Floor

Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1
601-603 Tai Nan West Street

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th floor, North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

CORPORATE WEBSITE

www.asiaalliedgroup.com

STOCK CODE
00711
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TSR
Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

FERGBFERZRE
MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th floor, North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM12

Bermuda
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
REEE

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBERE

Total Revenue S Profit Attributable to Shareholders
MEXR | PR SR PB4k 2 A

Hks 7,722,064,000 Hks 121,999,000 &5

Dividend per Share Basic Earnings per Share Gearing Ratio
BRRE - BREXEF  EXafEH=R

S

: ]
mterim o5 HK0.88 cent 4 S8
: M '"WW‘MUH |
Final R &5: HK1.10 cents 1L . HK 6.78 cents 1l \"‘""llllllﬂl“".;f N / } 0.71

\

Full year 2 %: HK1.98 cents Bl Wm‘ mw“/ e
Total Assets $ Equity per Share Net Assets
s 8,464,080,000 7 Hks 1.32 5% ks 2,413,697,000 5

WORKPLACE QUALITY

THERREER ‘
Accident Rate - Fatality Rate
(per 100,000 man-hours) TR
E0E (S+HEIH) v e, |
0.057 Q . 0
Employees Training
== |

Accumulated
Training Hours

RETEFIEF 2

34,371

hours /N

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22



ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
RIGARE

Carbon Emissions
and Intensity

BB R BE

Diesel Consumption and Intensity

SmRBRE

6,861,108 Litre #

3 888.51 Litre/ HK$ million revenue
5.34 tonnes CO,e/ A/ BEBETWE

HK$ million revenue

W= LB R E S T e
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 3 Petroleum Consumption and Intensity

41,212 tonnes COe M—SF{tHEE

Electricity Consumption BmERE
and Intensity 3
REBRZE | 441,906 Litre # I

| 57.23 Litre / HKS million revenue
54,928,835 kwh TEE F S EES T

7,1 13 kwh/ HK$ million revenue

TRE SEEBTHKE Non-hazardous Waste Production
””””””””””””””””””””””””””””””” mEBREYRE
Water Consumption 1
and InterLs||ty f 732,188 tonnes i
FKEREE |
Non-hazardous Waste Reused/Recycled
3 375K |
63.46 m:/ HK$ million revenue
oK, 719,402 tonnes ’-ﬁ‘
COMMUNITY
HE
: Volunteer
Charitable and Other Donations Service Hours
BEREMBR 3 % TIRER Y
| 315.25
Hks 1,600,000 ;55 Hours /NEF

DMEE ERIERARAR 2021/22F #)
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS

EREARFLE
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05/2021

The Second “Chun Wo Innovation Student Awards”
Chun Wo successfully held the online award ceremony of
the second “Chun Wo Innovation Student Awards” in May
2021. The team “Fog-based Self-powered System” from the
City University of Hong Kong won the Gold Award and Merit
honor in “The Best Engineering Solution Award” category.
The competition themed “Engineers for a Smarter Future”
and the response was overwhelmingly favorable by drawing
applications from over 70 student teams and receiving more
than 30 detailed proposals. Sr Lee Ka Lun, Stephen, Chairman
of Chun Wo Construction Holdings Company Limited,
Mr. Cheung Hau Wai s8s, Chairman of the Hong Kong Green
Building Council, Ir Lau Chun Kit, Ricky /7, Permanent Secretary
for Development (Works) and the then Director of Civil
Engineering and Development and Commissioner of Mines,
and Mr. Lo Kwok Wah, Kelvin s, Director of Water Supplies,
have delivered congratulatory messages to the winners.

Chun Wo’s Design and Construction of “Kwai
Chung Hospital Day Recovery Centre” Won the
Quality Building Award

Designed and constructed by Chun Wo, the “Kwai Chung
Hospital Day Recovery Centre” was awarded the “Merit
Award” under the “Hong Kong Non-Residential (New
Building — Government, Institution or Community)”
category of the Quality Building Award. In addition to
rehabilitation facilities such as occupational therapy
rooms and conference rooms, a central courtyard was
built to provide better ventilation and light to the centre,
and extensive green areas were adopted in the design to

provide psychological benefits to patients.

BRAMRTRBEN [HFERAFETHL] REEHE
EAR

BIEMRE REEr [ZRBRARETT O] KEERE
BEAR [FAFEIEHEE GIEEYM BN - #Ext

E) | B|hle [BRE]  -BRERXAFEEREZZZRE
RSN - RAITRERIE T —EF REF - BZEETOEHR
FHRBRMRB G - YRRFAPINARFNGZEE
A #E—AEAFEENEERE
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Corporate Event Highlights
ERERBLE

06/2021

Chun Wo Garnered Two “New Engineering Contract” Awards

Chun Wo has garnered two major awards under the New Engineering Contract Users’ Group of the United Kingdom.
Upgrading of Shek Wu Hui Effluent Polishing Plant — Main Works Stage 1, undertaken by KL-CW JV, was named “Water
Project of the Year” and In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works) — Water Treatment Works
and Ancillary Facilities, undertaken by ATAL-CW-MH JV, received the “Highly Commended Award” under the “NEC
Contractor of the Year” category.

BANREME [HIREKN] ®E

i : EMESKEFTEANAPATHRERKR

L] ~nec B o EFP R — (RN i B8 RN 6 B K

| NEC Awards Ceremony 2021 it —ERBTRE-RBRFES [FEKH
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“Dalisay”, the specially designed tunnel
boring machine introduced in the Design
and Construction of the Novaliches -
Balara Aqueduct 4, which is Chun Wo's
first contracted project in the Philippines,
successfully completed a breakthrough as its
cutter head reached the exit shaft at the La
Mesa Reservoir, marking partial completion of
the project. The whole project is expected to
be completed in 2022. By then, the reliability &FIRIERE B EE XIE B — & ELA Y HT —Balarald SR 87k BB R 5T &
and sustainability of water supply to the most  32i& T2 SN R R BEZHE [Dalisay | BUSHERIEER -
densely populated areas of Metro Manila will H#ESRRINEERGEKENL O - BHEFZRECA D TIL - B(E
be improved. BB R 2022F L - B - BN AR E® A O &ESHEAH
IR ERE I SE ©
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Corporate Event Highlights
EERKBLE

09/2021

The Urban Renewal Authority and Chun
Wo Pioneered in Application of Concrete
“Modular Integrated Construction” on
Private Residential Projects

The Urban Renewal Authority approved the tender
award to Chun Wo for the superstructure works
contract of the Proposed Re-development Project
at Nos. 5-13 Ash Street, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon,
which is the first application of the Concrete
“Modular Integrated Construction” (“MiC")
method developed by Chun Wo and the P&T Group
on private residential projects in Hong Kong.

TEERREGNEREER RRTAKESRESEL] BEAAEEER
TEREZEENEAABREH-13NEZRANLETRAORTEN - ZHERE2BEERAHENMEESHZ
SEFZEN DERTARAKRESE] ( [ERAKEEE] ) EEMALAEEER -

10/2021

Synergistic Partnership with
Build King Holdings Limited

Build King Holdings Limited, a major
construction contractor in Hong Kong,
has become a strategic shareholder
of Mattex Asia Development Limited
("Mattex Asia”), a subsidiary of the
Group, by investing in Mattex Asia at
the value of approximately HK$6 million.
The parties will cooperate in accelerating
the digitalisation of processes used in
construction material management and
procurement.

RANEZRBRARAKREHERH

%%K’*”?ﬁﬁﬁﬂg% BB BR A FILA%Y6,000,0008 TR E AN LB 2 I
~EMAREMNEREEARAT ( [FARAZM] ) - RAMERTMNZ KK
HERGR - BT RIETHEREREMEEMRBNE F(LERE -
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Corporate Event Highlights
ERERBLE

11/2021

“Lifewire Run 2021"” Raised over HK$2 Million for Children with Rare Diseases
The “Lifewire Run 2021" charity run jointly organised by Lifewire Foundation Limited and Chun Wo was successfully held
at the Sheung Shui Ho Sheung Heung Village Office. The event has raised over HK$2 million for children with rare diseases.

(20218 - AL | BERFEREEBE
82,000,000 7T
EBNPEEESHERARRENAE RN

(2021888 - A B4 ] 2SR O L4548
RETERET - EHAEAFERERNAES
15#8152,000,000/ TTE 7K ©

“SOYO" Kick-Off Sale

“SOYO", a brand-new residential project
jointly developed by Excel Billion (HK)
Limited and Chun Wo, kicked off the sale
of all of its 120 studio flats. Located at No.
63, Soy Street, in the heart of Mongkok,
“SOYO" offers convenient access to a
complete range of transportation and
entertainment facilities.

(&% BHE
mMEBHNAERATDRENAFAERN2HETHR [E&] CHD
2H120EFAMAEL - [BF ]| UREAT OHERBOMEE35 @

BEMBREREE S -

01/2022

SHERRARAT 2021/226 8K
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Corporate Event Highlights
EERKBLE

Lung Mun Three Brothers Won the Silver Award in The
International Exhibition of Inventions of Geneva

Lung Mun Three Brothers, silt cleaning robots invented by Chun Wo, won
the Silver Award in The International Exhibition of Inventions of Geneva,
one of the world’s most prestigious innovation exhibitions. These robots,
being the first application of silt cleaning robotics in Hong Kong, were
introduced to Chun Wo's “Rehabilitation of Trunk Sewers in Tuen Mun”
project to improve safety.

EM=A5%ERANRBREARRE
HEMBERANEREEMA —EFI=Z A PR ERERRENEIFRE
BB E AR P RERE - RARN [HFPTKBREETRE] PR
REM=ZAHMEE TR  TEEEREEERAREBEEMARN
BH -

03/2022

Water Supplies Department Tin Shui Wai
Building Project Garnered the Merit Award
in the Green Building Award 2021

The Relocation of New Territories West Regional
Office and Water Resources Education Centre of
Water Supplies Department to Tin Shui Wai project,
undertaken by Chun Wo, garnered the Merit Award
in the “Green Building Award 2021", in recognition
of Chun Wo's contribution to enhancing sustainable
development and shaping the liveability of the
built environment. The Water Resources Public
Education Centre “"H,OPE Centre” enhances the
public’s awareness of water conservation through
exhibitions. Besides, the greywater reuse and
rainwater harvesting systems of the building can
recycle wastewater for non-drinking purposes, save
fresh water and reduce sewage discharge.

04/2022

KBBRKEREEBR202IFRRBEREPREBRE

B & MG B IRB KBS BT R A R B MoK ERHEE PO ERK
BIHE - KE [2021FRREBEANE] BRE  URFBEMR
RAMBEERNPEERRETHANER - KERHEF L
[TKAE | BRREMBAREEHHRKNER - MAEHTK

ERAFKREERZRABTKERBAEIFKBRE  KRTHE

RIK - TREERANTIKBEI ©
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERS

66

Apart from our core competencies, we have
also been looking into other opportunities that
encourage sustainability and help shape a better

future.

BREMOZOEZON  BAT-—EESREME

B BRFERRREREEERF AR

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Chairman

B—E

B

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the annual results of the Group
for the Year. Over the last 12 months, the operating environment has
remained difficult amid Covid-19 and its ongoing impact on the global
economy. Nonetheless, the Group has remained resilient and delivered
reasonable results.

The challenging business conditions have, in part, been induced by
Covid-19 and global logistics disruptions that created obstacles for many
industries. The situation was worsened in early 2022, triggered by a rise
in Covid-19 infections in Hong Kong, coupled with uncertainty in the
macroeconomic environment and anticipated interest rate rises, all of which
contributed to weak investment sentiments. The Group's performance
during the Year was affected by delay in approval of projects in both public
and private sectors and increased raw material costs due to logistics issues,
as well as reduced productivity owing to large-scale Covid-19 infections
across Hong Kong in early 2022 and lock-downs in the PRC. The impact of
these factors, particularly in the second half year, was significant, and led
to a slight downturn in the Group's operating performance for the Year.
However, with the supportive policies from the Hong Kong Government,
including continuous investment in infrastructure, the Group has been able
to maintain an overall reasonable results, and is positive in future prospects.

RABRRESZREZASERAFENE
FEE-RNBENER EFEMALE S
PHREENFEZET  ERRRDAREE-
A AREDRFEE S WRERENE

4 o
A

LA R 2RI X H A B ERIR S R
BOHERTEEEKER -N20225¥9) F
BRI A R ER LT N ERBE R
RIEN T T ERERNE  SEERRL
FBEZERRERREBERT - AKER
REFNRREZ I QNEMALEHEFBHER
) 7% )R8 48 B IR AR A AN £ R A 522022
FNEBRRBEHE IR RN B A
WEREENTROZE RFEARNTE
(LEETHF)T0BE SRAKERA
FENEEXERB TR -AM EFEK
FOXHERET BESEENRHERE
AEERBARBERRENZEE WHARK

AIRFFEBAEE -

TMNB A ERBIERAR AR 2021/22F 3K
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Construction segment’s performance had been impacted during the
Year due to the aforementioned reasons. However, various government
policies, such as waivers for penalties that related to construction delays
and compensation for raw material price differences, helped to lessen the
impact. With our industry experience and expertise, the Group was able
to secure new projects requiring advanced technical skills and innovative
construction technologies, which will help generate revenue in long
term. As such, the management is looking forward to capturing more
opportunities for the coming year.

The property development segment sold various residential units at “128
Waterloo” in Ho Man Tin and “SOYO" in Mongkok during the Year.
With so much uncertainty surrounding the macroeconomic impacted by
pandemic and interest rate environments, the management will continue
to adopt a cautious approach.

Our professional services segment, which includes the security, tunnel and
other facility management businesses, recorded a satisfactory performance
for the Year. Such segment continued to provide the Group with solid
and reliable income, highlighting the effectiveness and relevance of the
management’s long-term development strategy.

Non-franchised bus services segment also delivered a stable performance
following the Group's strategic decision to switch its focus to scheduled
services, consequently secured sizeable contracts with various prestigious
organisations, property management companies and schools during the
Year. In addition, our new medical technology and healthcare business
performed encouragingly as well, and successfully secured new contracts
and renewed existing ones.

Moving forward, we are confident that Hong Kong is on its way to
recovery as the Covid-19 pandemic gradually subsides. Over the years,
the Group has been focusing on developing advanced construction
technologies, such as the MiC technology, preparing itself for supporting
the city’s large-scale and highly technical infrastructure projects. Apart from
our core competencies, we have also been looking into other opportunities
that encourage sustainability and help shape a better future. The Board
and the management will continue to closely monitor market conditions
and do our best to create long term values for the Shareholders.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to the
management team and all staff members for their tireless effort and
dedication over the past Year, which has once again been filled with
tremendous challenges and adversities. | wish to also express my sincere
gratitude to all of our business partners and shareholders for their
unstinting support. We remain committed to bolstering our business
foundation and strengthening our industry leadership in Hong Kong,
all the while progressing towards our goal of becoming Asia’s leading
construction and development group.

Annual Report 2021/22
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The Group performed stably during the Year, with total revenue amounting
to approximately HK$7.72 billion (2021: HK$7.53 billion). Net profit
attributable to Shareholders for the Year was approximately HK$122.0
million (2021: net loss attributable to Shareholders of HK$184.5 million),
under the challenges to numerous industries, a testimony to the Group's
long-term strategy and the management’s agility during such challenging
times.

Over the past 12 months, the operating environment has remained
tough, owing to the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic, which included
global logistics disruptions that led to construction project delays, greater
operating expenses and lower productivity. According to the latest Policy
Address, the Chief Executive stated that infrastructure investment will be
a major countercyclical measure for stimulating the economy. The Hong
Kong government, therefore, maintained its commitment to investing in
infrastructure projects, pushed forward on public housing developments
and offered various subsidies to reduce the pandemic-related headwinds
plaguing the construction industry. The Group will pay close attention to
the relevant opportunities going forward.

During the Year, the construction segment, which operates under the
“Chun Wo" brand, contributed HK$6.72 billion (2021: HK$6.57 billion)
in revenue. Though impact of the pandemic and related logistics issues
resulted in high operating costs, the segment still recorded a profit of
HK$41.2 million (2021: HK$58.6 million). The Group possessed contracts
with an aggregate value of HK$30.05 billion at the end of the Year,
HK$15.82 billion of which were ongoing contracts.

Rely on experience in construction industry, the Group secured 30
new projects during the Year, including the Urban Renewal Authority's
residential development project at Ash Street, Tai Kok Tsui. This is one of
the first concrete MiC high-rise residential projects in Hong Kong. Other
projects include the construction of a primary school at Anderson Road,
Kwun Tong, and the Main Contract Works for Proposed Modular Social
Housing at 5-7 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung, all of which employ MiC
technology. It also won the Main Contract for the Multi-Level Carpark and
Footbridge and the Direct Contract for Alteration and Addition Works at
the Hub Area for the Members’ Main Entrance Redevelopment and Multi-
Level Carpark at Shatin Racecourse for The Hong Kong Jockey Club; and
the In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works)
— Administration Building. Furthermore, the Group has been entrusted with
the Development of Lok Ma Chau Loop: Main Works Package 1 — Contract
3 — Direct Road Link Phase 2.
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With respect to ongoing projects, the Group is engaged in 70 projects
during the Year, including Construction of San Shek Wan Sewage
Treatment Works, Associated Submarine Outfall and Pui O Sewerage
Works; In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South
Works) — Water Treatment Works and Ancillary Facilities; Site Formation
and Foundation Works for Campus Expansion at Ho Man Tin Slope for The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University; Fanling North New Development Area,
Phase 1: Fanling Bypass Eastern Section (Shek Wu San Tsuen North to Lung
Yeuk Tau); Hong Kong Disneyland Resort Project — Arendelle Completion
Package; Construction of Public Housing Development at Hiu Ming Street;
and the Central — Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and
Island Eastern Corridor Link.

During the Year, the Group completed several notable projects, including
Main Works Contract for Alterations and Additions Works of New Annex
for Lam Tai Fai College; Foundation for Public Housing Development at
Anderson Road Quarry Site RS-1; Construction of Reprovisioning Facilities
at Hong Ning Road Park and Ngau Tau Kok Fresh Water Services Reservoir.

The construction sector continued to face a number of challenges during
the Year. The supply chain remaining affected by the ongoing Covid-19
pandemic and the resultant border closure, which in turn impacted the
availability of raw materials and caused project delays. The fifth wave of
Covid-19 caused a severe shortage of labour and staff during February and
March 2022, and the materials shortage became a major issue from April
2022 onwards, materials supply from the Mainland China was impacted as
well. Although the government has exempted contractors from liquidated
damages for delays, the overhead costs are borne by contractors. The
prices of raw materials also surged due to both local supply chain issues
and global logistics disruptions. However, given that the Group was
engaged in a large number of public sector projects, the impact could be
offset by the price fluctuation compensation.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) E 3 3C) e
Major Projects Completed in the Year REFEERTI 2 EIEE
Contract Sum*
Project Name (I-i($ million)
HE AW
Building Construction Work 2 FEE T ]E
1 + Construction of Public Rental Housing Redevelopment at Pak Tin Estate Phase 11 } 932

 HHABE - HALAGEREREARETR
Civil Englneerlng Works + R T7E

2 Hong Kong International Airport — Terminal 2 Foundation and Substructure Works ; =
,,,,,,,,, EABRES - —REEAMeERTEAETE
3 - Subcontract for the Engineering, Procurement and Construction of South East New Territories - -

© Landfill Extension
N RERMEBRERSE S REREIHHAD
Foundation Works it: & T 72

4 ' Foundation for Public Housing Development at Anderson Road Quarry Site RS—1 ; 230
o RERBRABSRIMMAEFE¥EBAMEIE
5 - Foundation, ELS and Excavation Works for Proposed Residential Development at Yau Tong Inland -

Lot No. 44, Junction of Shung Shun Street and Yan Yue Wai, Yau Tong
1 /Haf)ifm1=.&TE@F%I&RE%W%Eﬁ%Mﬁﬁ'ﬂI%?ﬂElﬁEZﬂ’g% Al 7 A FE R IZ PR T A2

Maintenance Works # & T 72

6 - Construction of Reprovisioning Facilities at Hong Ning Road Park and Ngau Tau Kok Fresh Water | 309
Services Reservoir :

REEABERFEARKEKEEER EEETRE

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

7 Term Contract for the Maintenance of Slopes for which the Architectural Services Department 272
. (Property Services Branch) is Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Hong Kong Island and !
Qutlying Islancjs (South)) (Contract No. TC F928) ) -
 REREE (MEFBKERE) BENMNEBETREIERNEHEH (SNETER - BERES () ) |
o (BRRSRTCF28)
8 - Revamp of Public Toilets at Terminal Buildings at Hong Kong International Airport -
o ARBEESEEARANOETRENIE
9 | Main Works Contract for Alterations and Additions Works of New Annex for Lam Tai Fai College -
 MARIEF R — RRERERMNEIRRNESL :
* Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.

* EHLEREAEBMEMRE BYTRBMERESHER.

- i |
Revamp of Public Toilets at Terminal Buildings at
Hong Kong International Airport
EHREBRRSTEARAHAFEHBH IR

DMEE ERIERARAR 2021/22F #)

Maintenance Work

17
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) 3 E) 1))
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year REFEARKEEZNEIEIR
Contract Sum*
Project Name (HK$ million)
SRS
HEEW (AB#ET)
Building Construction Works #FEZE T2
1 + Construction of Public Housing Development at Hiu Ming Street } 1,330
o BREREER¥wERzEEIR
2 + Main Contract for the Proposed Composite Development at Nos. 12-30 Hang On Street, Kwun -

; Tong, Kowloon

BEBIEELH12-30 AR REEERETIE
Civil Englneerlng Works + /R T2

3 © Central-Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and Island Eastern Corridor Link } 4,020
. REREfRE tARBEMREERERETE
4 - In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works) — Water Treatment Works 2,999

. and Ancillary Facilities

P EBKBREE TE (R — BKE N M E R

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

5 | Site Formation and Infrastructure Works for Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site } 2,668
L RERERWSBREEMtWTRLARESTE
6 - Fanling North New Development Area, Phase 1: Fanling Bypass Eastern Section (Shek Wu San 1,690

- Tsuen North to Lung Yeuk Tau) N
BT RRRE PR MEKBERE CRAIN L E5EREE)

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

7 - Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site — Road Improvement Works and Pedestrian 853
+ Connectivity Facilities Works Phase 2A ‘
 REREABSBMER — BRAEIRERITAZEREIEE —HF

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

8  Shek Wu Hui Effluent Polishing Plant — Main Works Stage 1 — Civil Works for Sewage Treatment 689
© Facilities !
L AMERORENE - TBIRE MR —sKmBRee AR
9 - Shek Wu Hui Effluent Polishing Plant — Main Works Stage 1 — Civil Works for Sludge Treatment 629

© Facilities and 132kV Primary Substation
D BEEF KR — ERIRE—RE — 5 REERERI32KV EEBE UM T ARTE

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

10 | Tseung Kwan O — Lam Tin Tunnel — Tseung Kwan O Interchange and Associated Works } 585

L BER—EMBE - RERAXESLRARIE
11 Construction of Lung Tsun Stone Bridge Preservation Corridor at Kai Tak } 570

L REERemfsERREETIE
12 Construction of San Shek Wan Sewage Treatment Works, Associated Submarine Outfall and | 482

. Pui O Sewerage Works
RS KER IR - BRI E & BUR)5 KR Rt iE TR

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

13+ Kwu Tung North New Development Area, Phase 1 — Roads and Drainage between Kwu Tung | 451
' North New Development Area and Shek Wu Hui ‘
CEREFERES —ER — ORI EREZE AR BRAER T2

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

14 ' Construction of Government Flying Service Kai Tak Division } 237
- BRRGEBEREsS2ETE

15 ' Rehabilitation of Trunk Sewers in Tuen Mun } 205
EPTEKBREE TR :

16 | Hong Kong Disneyland Resort Project — Arendelle Completion Package = -
 BARBTELEERRERR —MEAZETRE ‘

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

17 1 Site Formation and Foundation Works For Campus Expansion at Ho Man Tin Slope for the Hong | -
' Kong Polytechnic University :
: %x’%ﬁlﬁﬂﬂXEﬂ?%EZTXITE%E'JM%$%‘&1@§I&

"i’s’"f’b’és]gh’éh’dEéHsi(@BriBf’ti{e’N’d\}éﬁéHé’s’-"éé|}a’r}a"A’duéa’dc’{21’""""’""""""""""""E""""-’ ””””

# ELFY0 AT — Balara POSRRi/kpR 8 ~ Rt MR ET 12

* Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.

* EHLEREAEAMENRE BY TR ERESHEE.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EBERE =)
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year REFEARKEEZNEIEIR
(continued) (%)
Contract Sum*
Project Name (HK$ million)
SRS
BHEHEHE (AB#®ET)
Electrical & Mechanical Work = 7 % # i T 72
19 | Electrical Installation for Construction of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Tung Chung Area 54 186

‘iﬁ%mﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁélﬁm NEETIR
Foundation Works it & T 72

20 ' Foundation for Public Housing Development at Tung Chung Area 99 799
,,,,,,,  RROBABFESEEAREIR
21 . Foundation for Public Rental Housing Development at North West Kowloon Reclamation Site 1 458
© (East) |
,,,,,,,  ERNERASEE —S® (R)ARBEEERRCELR
22 Foundation for Public Housing Development at Anderson Road Quarry Site R2-5 and Demolition 253

. for Redevelopment of Mei Tun%Estate (Older Part) :

3 é%ﬁgffﬁ%%m SHBENEEEERASNMETRERERBESEZTEMFHLIE (B

L BFEbD :
Interior Design and Fitting-out Work E ARt REE T2

23 | Hotel Interior Design Works Package 1 (Guestroom) and Package 2 (Public Area) for Park Hyatt ! -
© Kuala Lumpur

 EREEEERE— (BR)REE- (AHEE) ZRRTREETIR }
Maintenance Works HIEIRE

24 | Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and ! 722
Other Properties for which the Architectural Services Department (Property Services Branch) is
. Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Wan Chai (South) and Wan Chai (North)) :
RIEEE (W WJE)E;E’JE%% 4 R AW R AT N REREETIRS
 EHER (EREER EF () REF (db) ) :

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

25 Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and 719
. Other Properties for which the Architectural Services Department (Property Services Branch) is
: Respon5|b|e (Designated Contract Area: Tai Po, North District and Outlying Islands (North)) :
} %L A (MR B S B MIEEY) - i YR TR R 1%%&@“17&&’9 ‘
: B (AREER: AE tERES (46))

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

26 Shatln\to Central Link: Platform Modification and Associated Works at East Rail Line -
g REKRBEEAGNRERABITRE ‘

* Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.

* EHLEREAEMEMRE BYTRBEREEHEE.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EBEE(E)
New Major Projects Awarded in the Year REFEHRRENETEERE

Building Construction Works T2 £ T &

1 " In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works) — Administration Building | 509
CHERAKBREE TR () — (1RAE 1

2 - Construction of a 30-classroom Primary School at Site KT2¢, Development at Anderson Road, 271
© Kwun Tong !
BRERERERRE GhBKT20) —MRE0HREWN/ B :

3 - Main Contract at Multi-Level Carpark and Footbridge and Direct Contract for Alteration and | -

- Addition Works at Hub Area for Members Main Entrance Redevelopment and Multi-Level -
Cargark at Shatin Racecourse for the Hong Kong Jockey Club
;i - EVHEESZEETEANRZEFESRITARBERIRRGM 2B R |
CELE :

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

4 | Main Contract Works for Proposed Composite Development for Project DL-11: YTM at Nos. 5-13 | -
. Ash Street, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon ‘
LA AEBREES-135R 4R A ZERIAR (DL-11: YTM)

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

5 ~ Main Contract Works for Proposed Modular Social Housing at 5-7 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung, -
© New Territories ‘

 HREEERES-TRAANEREEE

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

6 - Main Contract Works for 250-Place Student Hostel at United Campus for The Chinese University | -
+ of Hong Kong !
| FEH kaﬁ 50BN EERSEBEERETIE

Civil Englneerlng Works + /R T2

7 ' Development of Lok Ma Chau Loop: Main Works Package 1 — Contract 1 Site Formation and | 2,403
 Infrastructure Works inside Lok Ma Chau Loop and Western Connection Road Phase 1 }
: %ﬁggj\ﬂﬂ%i’mﬁgﬁ*ﬁé%*ﬁﬂi%lﬁééﬁ S& BN E MR T T BB R T2 R
 EERBRE— ‘

8 | Retrofitting of Noise Barriers on Po Lam Road North and Po Ning Road : 350
CEMBEILRBEERRERELRR ‘

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

9 . Development of Lok Ma Chau Loop: Main Works Package 1 — Contract 3 — Direct Road Link 304
© Phase 2 3
o EBNARRERR S-MERIE —an=- —HERERE-M® .

10 | Construc‘uon of Kwai Chung Park : 197
R ABEMEETR ‘

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

111 Main Contract Works for Project Harbourfront — Depot Site, Short Term Tenancy Site 5 Development | -
- at Quarry Bay, Hong Kong ‘
BEIREHEEA: E%QEJ U 56 5 R AR T ih B R ER A R 4

Electrlcal & Mechanical Work & 1 & # g T2

12 Building Services Installation for the Construction of Columbarium, Garden of Remembrance and 30
- related works at On Hing Lane, Shek Mun, Sha Tin (Nominated Sub- Contractor) :
 PHARMIREERRERREN LA LERGIEE LRNEFERRETRE (BTH M) |

Foundation Work i & T 2

13 Piling Works for Integrated Basement and Underground Road in Zones 2B & 2C of the West : 2,355
- Kowloon Cultural District !

AN EE2B R2C [EARA B ity NTER K 2 4T HE T 12

Maintenance Works #15 T 72

14 | Term Contract for Risk-Based Improvement of Water Mains — New Territories West ! S35
. MRARBAAOKEREERAL
15 | Term Contract for the Maintenance of Slopes for which the Architectural Services Department ' 233

- (Property Services Branch) is Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Hong Kong Island and
© Outlying Islands (South)) (Contract No. TC K928) N !
RERE (MESBE) BENRBETREIENTEHAN (AREER B8RS (F) ) |

- (BKIHRSRTC K928) :

* Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.

* EHLEREAEAMENRE BY TR ERESHEE.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development and Assets Leasing

The property development and assets leasing segment accounted for a
segment profit of HK$185.8 million (2021: loss of HK$272.0 million) for
the Year. The result was mainly attributable to the one-off provision for
compensation of approximately HK$272.0 million for legal litigation was
made for the year ended 31 March 2021, but such litigation was settled
and part of provision was reversed during the Year.

Sales activity at “128 Waterloo”, a premium residential property
development located on Waterloo Road, Ho Man Tin, continued
throughout the Year and received an occupation permit in November 2021.
As at the date of this report, a total of 39 units were sold with contracted
sales revenue reaching approximately HK$845.8 million in which 36 units
have been handed over to purchasers. The Group has a 40% interest in
this development project.

\‘. T
SN

128 Waterloo

The sales of the hybrid residential and retail building located in Soy Street,
Mongkok, “SOYO", has commenced and received favourable market
response in the second half of the fiscal year. As at the date of this report,
the contracted sales of 67 units generated sales revenue of approximately
HK$296.3 million. The Group has a 40% interest in this development
project.

Among the other projects, a joint venture group in which the Group owns
40% equity interest acquired a residential site with retail shops located
at 437-441 Castle Peak Road in Cheung Sha Wan. It has a net site area
of approximately 3,675 square feet and is close to Cheung Sha Wan and
Lai Chi Kok MTR stations. In addition, the land exchange application for
the residential land parcel in Tung Chung was approved in June 2022
during the District Land Conference and the land premium negotiation is
in progress. The disposal of 51% interest in the commercial development
project at Shijiazhuang in Hebei Province, the PRC was completed.

¥ EIRE )
WEREREERR

MEBRRNEEREDINAFEALAEE
#5738 4> &8 % F1185,800,0005%8 7T (20214F : &
$8272,000,0008 L) ¥ BT EZHRE R
2021F3A3MA L FENEZRFAZEEE
2 — KR #9272,000,00058 7T % EF
IMNERAFEERMBERTIODBEERNAT
[EREED -

URRMXEEITEZEEN—
18 B [128 Waterloo ] B SEE/E BN AT E
REFEETT WHR2021F 11 BEBIEBRFA
FBoHEAREHH HEHVEEMCZE
#) 85 & W 2 4 &845,800,000/8 7T - i E A 36

EEEEEHRE

BEMERXNFER - AEERNLEREAER
B A0% K HE L °

$H7TBZ¢FT¥¢ i 7 HE%&“/EE%IE’J

% , ﬁ%%ﬂtlﬁ B &}%?M&o%ﬁ%@$$&% B
B 67ABEMMANHEEEEHEREY
296,300,000 L - RNEEB R W ERIEE H %
B40% HORESS ©

REMEBEMmME ANEEHEEFL0% KRIED
AEEBEBEWBEBALREDESILE437-441
SRR EE A EE A % TR EEL
3,675F R B RDE RSB AB -
I AN - BB AE M A R FR R FR20224F
A BB e HME B IZ RIE#E
TRHERH AEEBTXRLEMR TR
A AR EEERRIEE 251% e
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The professional services segment, operated by City Services Group
Limited, provides security, tunnel and other facility management services
for its clients. For the Year, the segment recorded revenue of HK$963.8
million (2021: HK$952.2 million) and profit of HK$53.7 million (2021:
HK$157.0 million). Core segment profit actually increased by 14% year-on-
year if one-off subsidies were excluded.

The security and facility management business secured several prominent
clients during the Year, including The Hong Kong Jockey Club, Hong
Kong Palace Museum and Hong Kong Customs and Excise Department.
The property management division, in particular, has developed a new
income stream during the Year by provision of catering services in the
Customs Headquarters Building. The tunnel management operation,
meanwhile, has continued to make steady contributions to the Group's
overall performance, with the management contracts for six tunnels in
Hong Kong, namely the Cross-Harbour Tunnel, the Shing Mun Tunnels, the
Tseung Kwan O Tunnel, the Kai Tak Tunnel, the Lion Rock Tunnel and the
Central-Wan Chai Bypass Tunnel.

The non-franchised bus services segment, operated by Chun Wo Bus
Services Limited (“Chun Wo Bus Services”), has continued to provide a
stable profit to the Group. For the Year, the operation contributed HK$2.7
million in segment profit (2021: HK$6.0 million).

Despite the ongoing border closures, Chun Wo Bus Services recorded a
steady performance for the Year. It continued to focus on provision of
scheduled services, such as shuttle bus services for employees, residents
and students, and secured and maintained sizeable contracts with various
renowned organisations, institutions and property management companies,
including a new contract with a prestigious international school. Though
the shuttle bus service was affected by school closures in the first quarter
of 2022, it has since resumed operation following their recent reopening.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE RO

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Medical Technology and Healthcare

Hong Kong Cyclotron Laboratories Limited (“HKCL") specialises in
the research and development and production of positron emission
tomography (“PET") radiopharmaceuticals and operates one of the largest
PET radiopharmacy distribution networks in Hong Kong. HKCL, which was
acquired in late 2020, has integrated into the Group smoothly and has
performed well during the Year, with a revenue of HK$37.1 million (2021:
HK$13.9 million) and a profit of HK$12.9 million (2021: HK$3.3 million).
In addition to the Hospital Authority, which is an ongoing major client, the
business secured a number of new clients during the Year, including CUHK
Medical Centre and a few private imaging centres.

Other Business

The online building materials procurement and management platform
continued to progress well. During the Year, a major contractor
collaborated with the Group to enable more comprehensive use of such
procurement platform, effectively accelerating the digitalisation processes
used in construction materials management and procurement. This in turn
has made the construction process more efficient, while also benefitting
industry participants and promoting the industry’s growth.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group mainly relies upon internally generated funds as well as bank
borrowings to finance its operations and expansion, which is supplemented
by equity funding when it is required.

BEREEER

Hong Kong Cyclotron Laboratories Limited
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At 31 March 2022, the total net debts of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$1,686.3 million, representing total debts of
approximately HK$3,142.4 million less total of cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$1,456.1 million. The debt maturity profile, based on
scheduled repayment dates set out in loan agreements of the Group at 31
March 2022, is analysed as follows:

Bank borrowings and lease liabilities repayable:

M2022F3A31H AEB 2 FEKESE
%) /51,686,300,000/% 7T BN E B A FE L
3,142,400,000/8 TR =R & R IRTT A A B RE
#491,456,100,0007% JT © 1R 15K 2N &2 B 722022 4F

3AACERGEME 2B EERB
BREZIBESFMNT

AR THHMEERE ZRITERR

HE A EARE:
Within one year or on demand —FANIEEK 1,161.0
After one year, but within two years —FRBREMFN
— On demand shown under current liabilities —SARBABIEREX
BEZ# 7D 1,260.3
— Remaining balances —REE 21.1
After two years, but within five years MEBRZERFA
— On demand shown under current liabilities —SARBABIEREX
BEZ# 7D 784.6
— Remaining balances —REE 20.1
Over five years RFEURE
— On demand shown under current liabilities —SARBABIEREX
BEZ# 7D 3.8
— Remaining balances —REE 20.0
Total debts B ER 3,270.9

The Group has continued to implement a prudent financial management
policy, at 31 March 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group, being the
proportion of net interest bearing debts to equity attributable to
Shareholders, was 0.71 (2021: 0.74).

To minimise exposure on foreign exchange fluctuations, the Group’s bank
borrowings and cash balances are primarily denominated in Hong Kong
dollars or Renminbi which are the same as the functional currency of the
relevant group entities. The Group has no significant exposure to foreign
exchange rate fluctuations and shall use derivative contracts to hedge
against its exposure to currency risk only when it is required. Furthermore,
the Group’s bank borrowings have not been hedged by any interest rate
financial instruments.

Details of the structure and interest rate profile of the bank borrowings
of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set out in Note 34 to the financial
statements.
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Details of the pledge of assets of the Group are set out in Note 34(d) to
the financial statements.

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in Note 44 to
the financial statements.

The Group had approximately 6,150 employees as at 31 March 2022.
Total remuneration of employees for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$1,786.0 million. Employees are remunerated according to their nature
of work and the market trend, with merit-based components incorporated
in the annual increment review to reward and motivate individual
performance. Employee bonus is distributable based on the performance
of the respective divisions and the employees concerned. Moreover,
the Group also provides in-house training program and sponsorship for
external training courses which are complementary to their job functions.

With a view to providing incentive for employees to achieve performance
goals and aligning the interests of employees directly to the Shareholders
through ownership of shares of the Company, the Company adopted the
restricted share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) on 1 August
2017, pursuant to which the Company may grant to eligible participants
restricted shares of the Company. Such grant shares are acquired by the
scheme trustee on the market of the Stock Exchange and held upon trust
for the benefit of the grantees and shall become vested in the grantees
upon satisfaction of specified vesting criteria.

In addition, the Company had also adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”), under which the Directors are authorised to
grant share options to the eligible participants to subscribe for shares of
the Company for the purpose of, among other things, providing incentives
and rewards to, and recognising the contributions of, the eligible
participants. The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing on 3 September 2012.
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With the pandemic showing signs of subsiding, business operations are
gradually returning to pre-pandemic normality, and the government has
introduced a series of supportive policies that will create opportunities for
the industry in the wake of Covid-19. During the most recent legislative
session, funding approved by the Finance Committee for capital works
projects reached a record high of HK$220 billion. Land development
projects such as the Northern Metropolis and the Lantau Tomorrow Vision
will generate massive infrastructure projects such as new railway extensions
and large-scale urban development works. The government’s increasing
investment in infrastructure will present significant prospects to the market
going forward.

The government has set aside 350 hectares of land for the construction
of approximately 333,000 public housing units, and made commitment
to increase the land and housing supply, expecting that an average of
19,000 private residential units will be completed annually in the next five
years, which in line with demand over the next 10 years, continuing to
create opportunities for the industry. Current initiatives include accelerating
public housing development by streamlining processes, increasing the
provision of public housing and transitional housing units, identifying
land for development purposes, and launching additional redevelopment
opportunities with the Urban Renewal Authority. The administration is also
encouraging the use of advanced construction technologies, with methods
such as MiC being promoted to shorten construction times, reduce
manpower and costs, and enhance construction site safety. With its status
as a renowned enterprise and its advanced construction technologies, the
Company is confident to capture aforesaid opportunities.

With an expected interest rate rise and the introduction of policies aimed
at increasing land and housing supply in the short to medium term, Hong
Kong's property market continues to face much uncertainty. In response
to this potential volatility, combined with weak market sentiment and
purchasing power as a result of the epidemic and resultant lockdown in
the Mainland China, the management will monitor the market closely
and maintain a prudent operating strategy as well as review and adjust
its property portfolio in a timely manner and wait for the opportunities to
continue with the sale of the Group's property development projects in
order to achieve the best possible prices and generate the greatest returns
for the Shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EXREm RO h

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)
Professional Services

The Group will continue to provide quality professional services to new
and existing clients while seeking new opportunities. The Group is in
confidence of expanding its market share of the tunnel management
sector in the near future.

Non-Franchised Bus Services

The Group plans to extend the local shuttle bus service routes in order to
broaden its customer base. With schools having reopened in the second
quarter of 2022, and hopefully the resumption of traveller clearance
in the near future, the Group is looking forward to seizing the related
opportunities and achieving a better performance.

Medical Technology and Healthcare

Following the satisfactory performance of HKCL during the Year, the
management is optimistic about the prospects for this segment going
forward and is exploring an expansion plan. HKCL will continue to deliver
top notch services to its clients and strive to maintain its leading position in
the industry.

Other Business

The management will continue to nurture the Group's other businesses
and look for suitable growth opportunities. It will also seek new ventures
to diversify its operations, expand its income streams and ultimately
stimulate long-term growth.

Conclusion

With the pandemic subsiding, the management is confident that the
Hong Kong economy will gradually recover in 2022. The Group will
therefore focus on further developing its core businesses and actively
seek new opportunities that will help shape a better future and facilitate
sustainable development, such as those pertaining to medical technology
and environmental conservation. The management will also maintain its
commitment to improving operational efficiency and consolidating the
Group's strong industry position, while ensuring it is well prepared to grasp
opportunities arising from the recovery of the market.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R ERERERS

INTRODUCTION

Our Group is dedicated to maintaining a high standard of CSR. The
business sector is placing an increasing emphasis on CSR performance,
particularly in the aspects of safety and health, sustainable development,
community impact and law and regulatory compliance. We understand
that we do not operate our business in isolation of our society. Employees,
suppliers, clients, the natural environment and the general community are
all our stakeholders influenced by the ways in which our Group transacts
the business.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Group conducts a top-down management approach regarding its
CSR issues. The Board takes overall responsibilities for ESG matters and
integrate the objectives, strategies, priorities and goals into the company.
To support the Board's oversight and systematic management of the
ESG issues, working group is established with the responsibilities of
implementing strategies, issues management, data collection and report
preparation. The working group shall provide ESG updates to the Board at
least once a year.

Besides, the Audit Committee focuses on ESG risks control, internal
monitoring mechanisms, performance review and evaluation and reporting
to the Board. The recommendations are reviewed and approved by the
Board for various departments to implement ESG performance accordingly.

With our objectives of ensuring company’s sustainability and introducing
strategic decision making, the Board committed to develop an effective
reporting framework to connect with the public, in return for the business
improvement in future. The Company developed a CSR report and an ESG
report annually.

Our strategy focuses on the sustainability of Compliance, Safety, Quality
and Green and Low Carbon Construction. We set up a brand-new
set of VMV (Vision, Mission & Core Values) in February 2022, which
reflects the Group's corporate culture has thus been established and
will be implemented to further strengthen our capacity for sustainable
development.
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Continuously enhance prevention of legal risks, abide by all local laws, regulations and related
policies where the business operates and ensure the interests of the Group

FEMABEERRE T BTEBRKEMEMNSIER ERMEERRUNREREE
ik

It has always been first in our priority, we keep maintaining precise management to prevent injuries,
serious incidents and prosecutions
ZEE— ARBRER MHEIE BREFWRFARR

We keep evaluating and improving the Group'’s quality management system
BHMBET A TERNREEEER AL

Continuously conserve and utilise resources, reduce the negative environmental impact, maximise
the number of renewable energy use and performance, therefore reducing the carbon emissions of

construction through the new building technology and our energy management

REBRNMBIEBITHA ROERRNEEFE BrRS A BERRER KRG EH

A 2 SRR I BETR B IR AR I SRR PR IR

To strengthen the credibility of the data of this report, we have engaged
Accredited Certification International Limited (“ACI”) as independent
carbon auditor. ACI conducted the verification with regard to the data
of emissions and use of resources, which included assessment of data,
monitoring system and reporting plan or protocol. This assessment
included collection of evidence of reported data and checking of whether
the provisions of the protocol reference were consistently and appropriately
applied.

We also implemented different kind of management systems and arranged
training courses on various international standards, e.g., ISO 14001:2015
Environmental Management System, ISO 45001:2018 Occupational Health
and Safety Management System and ISO 50001:2018 Energy Management
System to improve sustainability performance.

Internally, we organised activities to promote the proper ESG behaviors,
for example, recycling workshops, “Green” public activities and becoming
a "Green” Volunteer, etc. We designated coloured recycling bins for
different wastes and make them accessible to all employees. We also
encouraged employees to share testimonials about resources conservation.
In our construction sites, we encouraged our staff to rush to “Green”
opportunities such as reuse or recycle of waste and waste management in
order to achieve our environmental management practices and subject to
continuous improvement.
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In the face of Covid-19 crisis affecting our working and safety conditions,
we have set up a multifunctional emergency team against any “ad-hoc”
issues. Our management team has been closely monitored the conditions
of our staff and provided solutions, i.e., manpower deployment. In the
practice of social responsibility, efforts have been made for anti-pandemic
such as a donation to charities for buying anti-pandemic materials for the
families in need, our staff was being volunteers to pack the anti-pandemic
package, etc.

Throughout the challenging year of 2021, the Company has made
towards fulfilling its commitment to sustainability and drive business
success by focusing on ESG performance. We surely will continue to drive
improvements in our ESG activities and create long-term value for our
stakeholders and customers.

The Group tries its utmost best to communicate with the stakeholders
through various communication channels such as surveys and interviews
and had incorporated their feedback into the process of identifying the
material topics, which act as the foundation of formulating long term ESG
strategies as well as a strong reference to this report.

Following the communication with our senior management and
operational staff, we assessed ESG issues relevant to the Group by
considering their importance to our stakeholders. During the Year, five
material aspects were identified in the assessment, including Training and
Development, Employee Health and Safety, Environmental Performance,
Product/Service Responsibility and Anti-corruption.

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules, which mainly covers the Group’s principal business activities in Hong
Kong during the Year. The four key subject areas in this ESG Report cover:
(I) Workplace Quality, (Il) Environmental Protection, (lll) Operating Practices
and (IV) Community Involvement.
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As at 31 March 2022, our Group had approximately 6,150
employees with the majority stationed in Hong Kong. We recognise
that employees are valuable assets to our Group and embrace the
philosophy of investing in people by providing them with a range
of training programs that can enhance their professional skills and
knowledge. We are also committed to maintaining a safe and healthy
working environment for all employees as well as implementing
equal opportunity employment practices.

The Company adopted a diversity policy to promote diversity of
workforce of the Company (including management) to enhance
the effectiveness of corporate governance of the Company as a
whole. The Company considers the concept of diversity incorporates
a number of different aspects, such as professional experiences,
business perspectives, skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and
educational background and ethnicity. Employment is based on
merit and attributes that the selected candidates will bring to the
Group to complement and expand the competencies, experience and
perspectives, taking into account the vision, mission and core values
of the Group.

The Company will take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendations on suitable candidates for employment. The
Company ensures that appropriate balance of gender diversity is
achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R ERERRS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () TERREERE @
Our People (continued) EMANET (&)
Employment Statistics Employee Turnover Rate'
ERESBE & &R &k &

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21
(Restated)

(&2&E7)

68.8% 70.1% 23.4% 21.6%

31.2% 29.9% 22.0% 17.5%

Top Management? SEE = 0.9% 1.0% 6.8% 14.3%
Middle Management? 4.7% 4.6% 31.2% 32.2%
Supervisory 13.9% 12.6% 27.1% 20.0%
Operation 80.5% 81.8% 21.9% 19.8%
hgeoow  mmew | | | ]
Below 30 30B AT 13.5% 15.2% 44.9% 31.2%
30-50 30—505% 36.5% 36.8% 25.5% 22.3%
Above 50 505% A £ 50.0% 48.0% 15.2% 15.4%

Geographical Region |

Hong Kong i 95.3% 95.5% 22.0% 19.5%
PRC 0.1% 0.1% 0% 0%
Overseas 4.6% 4.4% 41.7% 40.6%
L Employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of separation i BERKRNNENAEEHBNIES ABKI
employees in the Year by the number of employees at the end of the Year RAFEERNEE ABGTE

2 The ratio for male and female are 79.7% and 20.3% for 2021/22; and 82.5% and 2 2021/22FEBHRZMELHA79.7% Kk
17.5% for 2020/21 20.3% : M2020/215F F A /82.5% [ 17.5%

g The ratio for male and female are 83.4% and 16.6% for 2021/22; and 82.7% and 3 2021/22F BB MR ZEL B A83.4% K
17.3% for 2020/21 16.6% : M2020/215 E A 282.7% &%17.3%
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To attract, motivate and retain talents, our Group regularly reviews
our staff compensation and benefit packages to ensure our benefits
are competitive in the market. With reference to prevailing market
conditions, a review is conducted annually on the pay packages
of employees and other employment benefits, which include the
medical scheme, health check program, travel insurance, training
subsidies and retirement benefits.

Training

Continuous learning is one of our core values. The Group'’s support in
training and development applies to staff of all levels. We have been
offering training sponsorship to all staff members to encourage self-
improvement in a learning organisation since 2005. Employees are
provided with comprehensive in-house training and sponsorships for
external training courses including seminars, workshops, visits and
demonstrations to enhance their skills and knowledge for performing
their duties more effectively and promoting personal development.

Since 1999, our Group’s Chun Wo Construction and Engineering
Company Limited has been certified by the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers as a Scheme A Graduate Training approved organisation in
the Civil, Building, Building Services and Structural disciplines.

GLAD Program for accounting trainees

Core Program

Elite Program

Women Leaders Program

Young Professional Program

Graduate/Freshman Program for Engineers/Quantity Surveyors
Design Engineer Program

Technical Apprentice Program

Site Agent Development Program

Sub Agent Program

eeecececeececec

Construction Industry Council Training Academy Program
© Contractor Cooperative Training Scheme

{ Advanced Construction Manpower Training Scheme
@ Construction Tradesman Collaborative Training Scheme
& Enhanced Construction Manpower Training Scheme
Building Information Modelling Program

Building Frontline Training Program

Mentorship Program

eeece

Internship Program

ececeeceeeeeee

eeece
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R ERERRS

(1) WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () THERBEEE @
Training and Development (continued) B RBRE (&)
Training (continued) I (E)

Average Training Hours
Trained Employees per Employee (Hours)

= YIEA 8P E
(1)
2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

___

83.4% 73.9%

16.6% 26.1%
___

1.0% 1.4%

5.7% 3.4% 3.2 4.4

12.9% 2.5% 2.9 4.3

80.4% 92.7% 4.0 2.8

Development BR

Beside career development, we place great value on the development BREBEZERUIN BATEEERE
of physical and psychological well-being of our employees. The BEELEENER - AEBFET—
Group aspires to a work-life balance for its employees, and thus iz 8 THME TR A 2 EEE 18 -
we encourage colleagues to take part in volunteering, recreational llkl:ﬁzﬁ’ﬁ SERSFEIRFHE2HESE
and sporting activities at leisure in the hope of helping them relax T IR EEES  AHAE B FIRR
and strengthening the team spirit. For demonstrating team spirit, RHELK 7Jl] BB IS o BRI E K
promoting harmonious message and fostering regular exercise habit, B EHNMANMEREEEEED
our basketball team and soccer team regular hold friendly matches BB BP0 & KX R 2 BREX E B 6
with our joint venture partners. EEBHETRERE

Request for help

= 3K 1% 8)
“Caring Hotline” Inquire information
[RIZEAR ] EHREM
Express opinions
REBR

Birthday (Birthday card and coupon)
£B8 (EERKE#HF)

Marriage and New Birth (Gift coupon)
HIERET (B%)
Retirement (Souvenir)

B (L2m)

3 Hospitalisation or Injury (Caring call and fruit basket)
=R ERATE (ERDHLRE)

Death (Flower wreath and condolence money)
it (FERE M EAME)

U

“Staff Care Programme”

[E B st &)

00OORD
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIRHERERRS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Training and Development (continued)
Development (continued)
In recognition of the Group's efforts and accomplishments in
manpower training and development, the Group members have

been awarded the following accreditations by the Employees
Retraining Board:

Name of Company

NE LB

e Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited
EMEREEFR AR

e  City Services Group Limited
W RGEEFR A A

Employee Health and Safety
By integrating internationally-recognised ISO 9001, ISO 14001
and ISO 45001 certifications into our quality, environmental and
occupational safety and health management systems
respectively, our Group demonstrates our compliance
with health and safety standards. Our Group’s
"PDCA" system further ensures all individuals and
teams exert themselves to meet the statutory
requirements and to achieve the ultimate goal
of continuous improvement.

We are aware of the significance of workplace
safety. To maintain the occupational safety
standards in our construction operations, we
have introduced a safety audit system designed to
monitor the effectiveness of our safety management
system. For the year of 2021, the corporate average
safety audit score — physical condition was 86.4% (2020:
83%), exceeding the target of 85%.

Number of Fatality and Fatality Rate

(No. of work-related fatalities/1,000 workers)
ZTABRETE
(ATfEREMETHAR,1,0008TA)

0 0 0
(0/1,000) (0/1,000) (0/1,000)
2019 2020 2021

Continuous
Improvment

HERE

()

THERBEEE &)
BEINRBR (&)

BE (&)
BEEAEEEANENEREESE
MBHRRH AEEREEESS
B BET U TEE

Status/Award
Bk HRIE

Manpower Developers

AT E

Manpower Developers

AT BE

Excellence Award for Employers
HHEEFEARSE

Grand Prize Award

HERALE

BERERZE

AEBEBETRERTERE HAE
B R R A H#1SO 9001 ~1SO 14001 K
ISO 45001 RBBEEZME RIE LB
XL RREERSK - AEER
[PDCA ] R — S HERTA A
AREBRBRE HETET
ER WERFEELSNER
AR

BPFEATIERERZR 22
EBH-AREELEH
B ERRBELTRIZE R
fEHTZ2E&EE B
EERLT 2 EIRREGHMK -
R2021F  EFHL2EEZD
—F AR N 586.4% (20204 :
83% ) FAiE85% K B IZ D & -

Lost days due to work injury

ETERATHERR

415

DNEAEEREIRAERAT 2021/225F )
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R HERERRS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Employee Health and Safety (continued)

In 2021, all safety indicators were in line with our objectives. In
particular, the accident frequency rate of construction work within
5 years recorded a decreasing trend, reflecting our dedication and
achievements in construction site safety and excellent and consistent
occupational safety performance.

() ITEREEE 2
BEERERZE (&)
R2021F AL EEHEFEME
BEEF-Hep - TREABIIER
SERERE TEBE  REEME TR
WRLZEHWERNKGEAR — B2
HBXLZ2RIR-

Accident Frequency Rate (per 100,000 man-hours)

BAHER (BTEIR)

20211 '~t

=0. ED

We are fully aware of certain risks of safety and health of workers
working in construction sites and hence a series of measures have
been in place at various construction project sites to protect the
safety and health of workers.

Protection Measures

REELE E

BPRMIARBRBRIEEE —EH
EEEkzZ2RAR AEBEMEZET
RIHE B KL — RO URE
TANRERGERFE-

Heat Shelters and Water
Mini Health Check Stations Sprinklers on Rooftops
NEMR AR B Uk ETENEE IR ER KRBk B8

Ensure workers are

Dissipate heat gain

at optimal state 244 B EE

BRE TRV REMRRE

.’\ i-
Morning Exercise
FRIED

Alert workers of the
potential injuries and

ways of prevention
RESTEESERE
DYSSELE R
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The safety and health of all our employees are of paramount
importance to our Group. Thus, our senior management places a
strong emphasis on our employees’ safety and health. Our security
and facility management divisions also follow a well-structured
management system and conduct annual audit to ensure that we
meet the international standards. The companies under the divisions
have received accreditations in ISO 45001 occupational health
and safety management system awarded by approved certification
bodies.

Our non-franchised bus services division has abided by the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance and also ensure that
reasonable working hours are allotted to the drivers and provide
enough rest time to them for maintaining good spirits.

Our Group has also set up an effective occupational health and
safety management system conforming to the Factories and
Industrial Undertakings (Safety Management) Regulation and SO
45001 requirements. Related guidelines are stated in our Group's
safety policy.

Our target is to fulfill all relevant health, safety and environmental
protection regulatory requirements and provide our staff with a
hazard-free workplace. In order to achieve this goal, we encourage
all employees to take the responsibility and comply with the systems,
policies, manuals, procedures and working rules such as wearing
personal protective equipment and reporting violations of regulatory
requirements or orders.

© No violence in the workplace

© No sexual harassment and discrimination

@ An alcohol-free and drug-free workplace

& A non-smoking workplace

© Immediate reporting of accidents

© Familiarity with fire prevention and safety working procedures
© Special arrangement for typhoons and rainstorm warnings

{ Security of property and safety inspection

HAEEME SURERENTEME
RHEEHEEZ-A S EBEEABIE
BERKMEENTE RER &M
WRERREEEDSHINET B4
BRENETBEEARRETFESER.
NEREMHAEBEBEE-ZD BT
MAFEESRAURIMIEEER TISO
45001 B ERERLEEERERZRE -

BAMFEELEEL O HEETHRER
EREREEN THREAKNIRS
2RISR D KB R - AR
Fr R AVIE IR A& ©

REBBPERIMETIHELE (22
BRI KZISO 45001RFERYTH
MR ERERL2EERS -EH
B HNARBNEZEBERA -

BHREEIMEEBNRRE 22
ERREEER TREBRHR SR
BEENTHERRE - RERMBE M
B FTEREAERTLETH S
B BRE FM--BFEITHERI G
G AE AR R R (E R R B E
RERETHNER

O HBETIEEMTHNEN
© HBIERE R

O BEESNTIERER

O BEIFERE

© RIRSERBINEW

AEDARRZETERFF
e 2 K 2 I E & MR B 22 B
MERRZ R LZ2KE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R ERERRS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () THERBEERE»)
Safety and Health Awards T2 REERE
In the Year, our various business units garnered more than 65 RAFE BRMZAXEBEMEER
safety and health awards, proving our effective implementation of meSEZ 2 MIEERIA  EAREE
occupational safety and health management system throughout the FESBABELZZHARETERR
various divisions in our Group. KB E M

Construction Sites Safety and Housekeeping Award Scheme (2020)
T2 2 & %2 5% Bh&t &/ (2020)

& Meritorious Award
BEE

Occupational Health Award 2020-21
B 3% 2 B K 282020-21

{ Hearing Conservation Best Practices Award (Merit Award)

REREAR (RRAKE)

@ Joyful a Healthy Workplace Best Practices Award (Enterprise/Organisation Category) (3 Merit Awards)
FOB@BRRIIERMAR (¥ MEE) (ZHRIFHEKRE)

Young Lo Pan Award 2021
20215 FRIREE

@ Occupational Safety and Health Award
B R

@ Young Lo Pan Award
SFEBWAE

Life First Campaign 2021
[EmE— 120212 2 ETH

@ Most Engaging Contractor (Certificate)
RIEHR2 EAGER (RREHK)

& Most Engaging Construction Project (2 Certificates)
REGLETIZAR (MARKHM)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIRHERERRS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () ITERBEZRE #
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZTERBERE (&)

The 27th Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme
F27E A BB EFTE

& Public Works (New Works) (Merit Award)
TITHIRE(GEIR) (BE14%)

& Public Works (RMAA Works) (Merit Award)
THIR(EE RE NERNEIR) (BEELH)

& Model Frontline Supervisor Award
EE AT AR T B T 48

& 2 Model Worker Awards
A T A 8%

& 2 Model Subcontractor Frontline Supervisor Awards

MIBEH D BREAIARTHE T

2020-2021 Construction Safety Incentive Scheme for Construction Practitioners of Diverse Race
TREKZERES Z 2R B $2020-2021

@ Management Award Level (Winner)

ETHR (EBBE)

{» 5 Construction Practitioners Level (Winner)

hIEREREEEAR (BEE)

The 13th Occupational Safety and Health Outstanding Employee Award
TEEBGHBRRETENE

© 2 Merit Awards
WIEE R

The 22nd Construction Safety Award
BT EREXRERR

@ Outstanding Metal Scaffolder in Occupational Safety and Health (1 Gold Award and 1 Merit Award)
BZEREeEMEI (—EHeRE—HEER)

@ Outstanding Power Operated Elevating Platform Worker in Occupational Safety and Health (1 Gold Award and
2 Merit Awards)
BB NRMEA R IIFRRES (—RSBIMEBEERR)

@ Best Safety Enhancement Program for Working at Height (Silver Award)
RERRIIER2REE (RE)

@ Best Safety Enhancement Program for Lifting Operation (Bronze Award)
BEREIEL2NETE (F58)

DMEEERITERER AR 2021225 %
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R ERERRS

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () ITERRBEZ (»)

Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZTERBERE (&)

The 20th Hong Kong Occupational Safety and Health Award
BEoTEEBREXZE2R/ERE

& OSH MVP Award (15 Years Plus)
EL o RTTHZ @A S (155 Plus)

& Work Safe Behaviour Award (Bronze Award)
TER 21T AN (1)

@ Work Safe Behaviour Award — Pointing and Calling Best Practices Award (Merit Award)
THERE2TARE —EEIBRETERRE (ERE)

& Safety Performance Award (Construction Industry) (2 Excellence Awards and 14 Outstanding Awards)
LTRERBF AL (FEFEAR) (FRIEE S8R 1 VO IE 4 H 42)

@ OSH Annual Report Award (Merit Award)
BZEFmAR(ERRE)

Quality Public Housing Construction and Maintenance Awards 2021

BEAHEERRERFREHE KI2021

& New Works Projects — Best Site Safety — Completed Project Site Safety (Foundation/Civil Engineering)
MIREE —&EIHLTE —2HTEe (E T ARITR)

& New Works Projects (1 Outstanding Site Foremen and 2 Outstanding Workers)
IRREE (—HANTIHE T RMEALETR)

Hong Kong Green Awards 2021
BB B E ¥ KE2021

@ Environmental, Health and Safety Award (Large Corporation) (Gold Award)
HERREZPREREZE(KEGE) (£58)

HKCA Construction Safety Awards
ERRERDEREXZTR2AR

@ 2 HKCA Proactive Safety Contractor Awards
MEREREAESREHB LT RER AR

@ 2 Safe Supervisor Awards
WIEZ 2% T K8
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To ensure the continuous improvement of occupational safety and
health standards, we have developed an evaluation questionnaire to
collect feedback from the participants of all meetings, seminars and
forums.

The Group encourages employees to participate in occupational
safety and health activities and voluntary services and share expertise
and information not only with colleagues but also fellow workers
in the Hong Kong construction industry. To actively promote the
awareness of occupational safety throughout the Group, a range of
safety activities, including safety workshops, special safety seminars
and community activities, were organised during the Year.

A safety training centre called “Chun Wo Safe Zone” has been
established since 2020. It consists of 5 training zones to simulate
the major causes of accidents at construction sites. Participants
can enhance their safety awareness and improve their work safety
behaviour by attending the “Behavioural Change Safety Training”
("BCST"). All Chun Wo employees and subcontractors’ workers, who
working on site, must be the holder of valid certificate of BCST.

In order to minimise the risk of spreading Covid-19 in the workplace,
the Group has decided to adopt a centralised toolbox training called
“Web Talk” starting from the end of 2021. The “Web Talk” is an
occupational safety and health training targeted for frontline workers
and supervisors for duration of not more than 15 minutes on topic
related to different construction site activities, which conducted by
an appointed Registered Safety Officer of head office every week via
the video conferencing.

Through these activities, all participants have improved their
awareness and knowledge of occupational safety. Furthermore, they
exchanged ideas and helped to promote the safety culture in the
Group.

RERFERABR L REBRFE
BHCRAETEACHE RERE
# AT EkRETA2EERER
HER -

AEEGBET2EBRER 2 RER
BB RERRY LEREUARLEE
BEXRNIRDZFERMBREM
REBRASEHEIBELZ2EH
BANAFERBRTZHELR2EE:
BRZ2THES BiZ2HaE R
itEES -

H20205 £ AEBE XL L 2 5F7
b [EME 2] - 8BRS E S
& EREEMBENEFRNETENK
CBEETRBANRETREE
FlgRaRIE ] ([ Z21TRMEIIARRE])
ReEZ2EBYRETIHELE2TR
FRERME TIEREMES ko HEE
TABBERAAERNREITREZE
RRIZES -

ARERETTIAETESNE
ERK AEERTH2021FFIKH
IR AR BN AE] R RTAM
BT [BAREE] SHHAETIA
MEENBELZ 2 REREI &M
FRBISHE TEETEEZETH
EEAR WHEEABIE T M
ZEITATABBREEZET

BB LIRS A2 EEGRTE
XL BB LIBERBRE - MO
MRRER UHBRAEERNEH
ZEXE-
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We have adopted the comprehensive Employee Handbook for
employees of the Group and review the policies from time to time to
ensure that we comply with the Employment Ordinance in respect
of employment protection and benefits for employees. Our human
resource functions of different business units also observe the
departmental manuals so as to ascertain that they adhere to legal
and regulatory requirements throughout the recruitment process,
and to avoid the employment of illegal labour or child and forced
labour.

During the Year, the Group did not identify any non-compliance
cases involving illegal labour or child and forced labour, and complied
with all relevant laws and regulations relating to employment and
labour practices.

In view of the growing greenhouse effect and climate change,
energy conservation, carbon reduction and minimising pollution have
become global issue that could affect any one of us. As a responsible
corporate citizen, the Group has established policies and measures
to minimise pollution, efficiently utilise energy, reduce waste and
expand recycling practices in our operation. Risk-based thinking,
lifecycle perspective and mitigation have been incorporated into our
management system to address the latest environmental challenges.
The Group has established effective environmental management
systems in compliance with internationally-recognised I1SO 14001 and
ISO 50001 standards. Committed to the core values of the Group,
we have been members of various environmental protection groups
and actively support these organisations. With the continuation
of our environmental protection measures, in view of the current
business environment and nature and period of construction
project, the Group targets to achieve a 5% drop in emissions and
resources used per HK$ million revenue for every five financial years
commencing from the financial year of 2021.

Annual Report 2021/22
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R HERERRS

(1) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Waste and Resources Management

Waste Management Hierarchy has been adopted on-site to reduce
waste production and enhance recycling.

() BERE 2

BUREREE
RELELBARIEMBERBE &
MEETHANERENERRE-

Waste Management Hierarchy

Y EERE

Last Priority

Top Priority
OIS

1

11l
Avoidance and Reuse of Recovery and
Minimisation Materials Recycling

BREEBSERD ERMHE WK EREE

RE&EEL

1 e

Treatment Disposal

BRI RE

Examples of Waste Recycled and Reused

BYURRBERERM T

Rock, Sails,
Concrete

A%k L

Metal,
Temporary
Works

=B -

Construction
and
Demolition
TR RAFED
EEY)

Tl A ERERERAT

d Safety
ets
)

aged

Barrier
&9
b=
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IR ERERRS

(") ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Waste and Resources Management (continued)

“The Producer Responsibility Scheme on Waste Electrical and Electronic
Equipment” covers air-conditioners, refrigerators, washing machines,
television, computers, printers, scanners and monitors, the suppliers
must be registered with Environmental Protection Department (“EPD")
before distributing the above listed equipment. The supplier must fulfill
other statutory obligations such as the periodic submission of returns
to the EPD, payment of recycling levies and providing recycling labels
when distributing regulated electrical equipments.

The Mercury Control Ordinance aims to fully implement the
Minamata Convention on Mercury in Hong Kong, with a view to
protect human health and the environment from anthropogenic
emissions of mercury and mercury compounds.

Infrequent hazardous waste from demolition of old structures or
equipment (e.g. asbestos), which accounted for less than 0.001%
of the total waste generated has been separated and treated in
accordance with local regulations.

() BHEIRE )

BYKRERER (&)
(BERETEMEIEEREFEE
ERRAK SHE LXK EHK-E
B ITENH R RFR HERE
7B ERREATARRRRE
Z(RRBDET -HEFARBETH
fEEEE MAREEEBER
BR XNERBEBBERDHEXE
i E 2R B RE @ AR

RKEHGINEERETEL2EEBRARN
REKRRK - B B ERE AR R
BRI R I ABBEHOR (858 [7KER )
KRB Y BIRERIT R

RERHEREXRBENTEREE
BER (AR IGFTEERER BB
0.001% » ¥ 3% PR 7N 311 453 191 P ol Sz R 38 o

Waste recycled at public fill
RRAFIERBERBENEY

Soil reused by other projects

HEMEAEEMAMNEL

Timber/paper/cardboard recycled (non-office waste)

BIRBENAM BEEREK GERDEREY)

Paper recycled (office paper)
BERBEREK (HAZERK)

Concrete recycled

BRBERRL

Metal recycled
BIRBES S

Plastic recycled
BIRAEER

Total Waste Recycled and Reused
BYRRBERERA

421,698 515,536
 mses sses
[ %0
e e
[T 2808
e s
— ~
[ e

o Reduced Waste Production and Enhanced Recycling

O o Eems R nERES

e@ Recycled and Reused over 95% of Construction Waste
BIRAERERZNS% 8 TIZEEY

e@ Disposed less than 5% Waste Generated
ZELNS% B EEREY

e@ Pressure on Landfill Decreased

BN B8 3 SR [ Y JER )

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIR B RERRS

(") ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Waste and Resources Management (continued)

@
@

Implementing Eco-friendly Actions in our offices and
project sites to promote environmental awareness

Phasing out traditional T8 tubes and replacing with energy-
saving T5 fluorescence tubes and LED lighting

Using of solar thermal energy for power (electricity)
generation to reduce diesel use and hence carbon
emissions

Reusing wastewater after sedimentation treatment for site
cleaning, water suppression systems, wheel washing at site
access, water barrier filling, etc.

Reusing recycled water for preliminary air lifting of bore
piles

Using seawater instead of freshwater for marine works

Reusing water dripping from air-conditioners for roof
sprinkler cooling systems and watering of plants of site
office

Using noise barrier and enclosure to protect sensitive
receivers

Minimising the use of generator

Increasing the use of renewable energy by 5% every year

@
@

() BIERE )
BUREREE (&)

ERAERIBBMEBETRRERET
B ARITREE S

BN E R T8K B I LA KR A2 &
T5& e E M LED FRBAERX

BERAAGREE WD EASE
e o D B Bk

KR RIE  EERERAN R
BEBKIMERG RIMEAR
B NOE AT KRS

HKERBANYZEREILIE

R F TR RIBKRERK

WELREEK BREBRETRR
KR RSB R BT M A EEYER

ERARERELREEREIRRE
TENERE

REH S HBRAEA
4 AR T B LIRS %

~® Maximise the Benefits in Environmental Protection, Energy Efficiency and Carbon Footprint Reduction

BIERIBORGE  BEIR M an MORL B B By J K25 Be

TMNB A ERBIERAR AR 2021/22F 3K
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IR ERERES

() ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) () RBRE )

Environmental Measures RRIEH

It is our unshirkable responsibility to provide and promote green B RUEREEGERERRAATR

building solutions and methodologies to create sustainable cities and VA T2 #7348 AT 45 4B B R 77 % JE ¥ RUAR

to contribute towards climate change. Sustainability designs and BLEESE-RAMERBEBHER

construction methods have been initiated in our project sites with A FERTRBER A ERAKR

developed mitigation measures to protect our environment, reduce B 4R R FE TE LAR B IR IR R BRI E

waste generation and enhance recycling. ERIESERBE

Water PipesRecyding rEREAE

@  Alteration as mobile office and resting area © HEEARBDHAERKBRE

@  Equipped with solar energy panels for site office and workers © AHBERAZERTARMZELR
welfare facilities EAXRGER

©  The generated electricity is used for powering the computers, © EENENAZANERK ER
televisions and electric fans inside, and for phone charging HRERBFEHERASFHKTE

Use of Enertainer fepmee®

& Zero diesel fumes with 85% less carbon dioxide emission © LHhEANESAEZST —&1thx
BEBUR 185%

@  Backend platform is equipped for energy usage analysis © #®BmTEABRERERS TN
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Noise Reduction
WA RS

© Use of drill and split for rock breaking, replacing
traditional noisy breaker, reducing noise emanating
from sites
ERERESB TAEETHA BEREFEEYH
B RIS EANIRES

© Use of silent piler for sheet pilling, replacing noisy
percussive piling

EREBITER BRERNITHE

Waste Reduction

D B2

& Use of more durable aluminum modules and steel
formworks, replacing traditional timber formworks,
for wall and column construction, reducing waste
generation
e T 77050 A 58 i PR A0 8 AR 48 R #ff AR AR
EREROANER ROEDNESE

{ Reuse excavated soil and rock in other contracts
REMEHERCZRHARLE R AL

B5 Biodiesel
B5 £ ¥ 45h

© Lower well-to-wheel carbon dioxide emission
compared with conventional diesel
HESEEAL  BRECBFDEHRH Al
HERR

Building Information Modelling

BEEERERE

© Improve coordination and clash detection, reduce
the amount of unnecessary remedial works with
true representation of the actual construction
condition
WEBARNERS LR T B ENERIIE
7 M 2 Bk B B e AR

CA

Estimate material quantities precisely, avoid surplus
of materials

RREGEMHEE B2V BT

C«

Facilitate off-site precasting of modules, reducing
use of formwork materials

REEMBINERBER FOBERIFHERD
MK

C«

Reduce of carbon dioxide emission with reduction
in amount of rework, construction and demolition
waste and number of construction plant on site
FREEBIZE TERFHEDRIHP R
EWMEER D — RN

Use of Natural Resources

ERAXRREIR

© Use of seawater instead of freshwater for marine
works (predrilling, piling and airlifting)
RigFTiE (REA THREZE)EREKLE

KK

© Surplus rock and soil are reused by other projects
instead of disposal

REMBEEERFSRNORIOEL REEE
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Carbon Emission
Monitoring System

BB R A

© Paperless meetings
BRER

© Switching off lighting and
appliances (computers and
monitors) during lunch hours
RFEREBERAREE

BREESR)

& Maintaining indoor temperature
between 24°C and 26°C in
summer months
REZFROBFERRERT
TREK24EZ26E

Eco-renovation

BRREE

© Applying energy-saving lighting
15 R i B R B

@ Utilising natural light in interior
design
EEARF FERABRNR

© Reusing old furnitures
EREREA

On-Grid Solar System
BHRE KIGZRER A

© Operating in parallel with the
electricity grid of the site for
supplementing the foil-based
generation and protecting
environment
HETHHRmERRESER"
VA FEUASE R 2N 1 3 B DA B AR

B

@ Enhance Staff's Environmental Awareness for Reducing Energy Consumption and Carbon Emissions

=z ayh

RS 8 TIRY

Bl B BEIROB R R AR BE IR

The Group has established a comprehensive group-wide carbon
audit system which extended the scope of carbon audit to monitor
emission data of the different business units under the Group. The
Group has developed policy of controlling greenhouse gas emission,
and managing our fuel and electricity usage through deployment of
high efficiency equipment for better use of resources.

The Group supports low carbon construction and is a signatory
member of “Low Carbon Charter” of Business Environmental
Council. We support greater use of electric plant and equipment
and low carbon alternative fuels (e.g. biodiesel) where electrification
is not possible. We use B5 biodiesel, renewable energy system (e.g.
solar power) and mass battery energy storage to reduce carbon

emission from sites.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIR B RERRS

() ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) () RBRE @)
Environmental Performance (continued) RRER (&)
The Key Performance Indicators (“KPI(s)") demonstrating our Group's RS ERIRE FEE N 2 BERE
performance under the environmental area are disclosed as follows: IR ([FRRERIEE T
Aspect A1 Emissions
B A1 HEn
A1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data

BE e KRR B R

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
B2AE EX[RERE] —&

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions and intensity
BERBHNE R
Scope 1 Total (tonnes CO.e)
w1 2021/22 - Ry @it (- E(Like R
Direct Emissions (tonnes CO.e) 2021/22  2020/21
EEHR (E-ACiyE 2020721 _ 26636 41,212 48,218
Scope 2 Intensity (tonnes CO,e
&iE2 2021/22 - 21,962 per HK$ million revenue)
Energy Indirect Emissions (tonnes CO,e) §F§+Eﬂmﬁgﬁftﬁﬁ%§§
SERIEE BN (M-St e 2020721 _ 21582 FaEETRE)
2021/22  2020/21
5.34 6.40
A1.3&A1.4 Total hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste produced and intensity
MELRELRBEERENREENREE
Hazardous Waste (tonnes) Non-hazardous Waste (tonnes)
BEEEEY (W) mERZEY (W)
2021/22: 2020/21: 2021/22: 2020/21:
2,408 15.90 732,188 918,781
Intensity (tonnes per HK$ million revenue) Intensity (tonnes per HK$ million revenue)
EE (W SE88WE) EE (W SE858TWE)
2021/22: 2020/21: 2021/22: 2020/21:
0.31 0.01 94.82 121.95
A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them

el PR RR TE BV BERL B 1R M AR BB IR P SR ER Y 22 B
Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
A2 R EXRERE] —&

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description
of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
HEEEEREEBEEMN L URHEAARENREEZRRAERBZMER
HR ) 2B
Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
B2REXRIRRE] —6

SHERRARAT 2021/226 8K
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IR ERER

(1) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) () RBRE 2
Environmental Performance (continued) RREM (&)
Aspect A2 Use of Resources
BT A2 BIR{E A
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity
RREAESHNEREL SEEEREEEREE
Electricity (kWh) Intensity (kWh per HK$ million revenue)
AEE (TEH) BE (TRER SEEBTHE)
2021/22: 2020/21: 2021/22: 2020/21:
54,928,835 54,902,532 7,113.29 7,287.30
Diesel (Litre) Intensity (Litre per HK$ million revenue)
~ X\ Sd () BE (/SEBBTkR)
)A 2021/22: 2020/21: 2021/22: 2020/21:
6,861,108 9,780,016 888.51 1,298.12
Petroleum (Litre) Intensity (Litre per HK$ million revenue)
AdE () BE (F/SEBBTHR)
2021/22: 2020/21: 2021/22: 2020/21:
441,906 435,106 57.23 57.75
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity
BFEKEREE
Water consumption (m3) Intensity (m? per HK$ million revenue)
FEhkE (ZFK) BE (YFKR/SEEBTKE)
2021/22: 2020/21: 2021/22: 2020/21:
490,056 424,520 63.46 56.35

A2.3

A2.4

A2.5

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them

TR AT SRV BEIR (2 2 et B 1R e A B B AR TR RO 2 5]

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
F2RENRBRE] —&

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them

HSKBGE R KR EBERIEE - AR 8 AR B IR R AR ER BRI
gty

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
B2REX[RBRE] —&

Total packaging material used for finished products and, if applicable, with reference to
per unit produced

HEMATABRMHNEER (NER)BLEEEMIEE

Disclosure of packing material is omitted since it is not identified as material aspect in
the business of the Group

HREBEMHARBSBRAREZEEXBHE it AR ZKE
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RIRHERERRS

(II) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) () RERE @
Environmental Performance (continued) RREM (&)
KPIs Description
BRENER fut
Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
[EE A3 BRERRAZR
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural

resources and the actions taken to manage them
MM EBRDHHRBERARARERNEAZERDRKNEERFRATENTY

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
2R X [RRARE] —&

Aspect A4 Climate Change
[ETE A4 IR
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those

which may impact the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them
H BRI HBEITAEEXENERRGHEEEE UREREIEENTE

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
2R X [RRRE] —&

Environmental Awards BRI
Our Group's efforts in contributing to environmental protection have REBAERRIFANBERESHES
been recognised by the community with the following environmental FWRAREFLETIRIREE:

awards received during the Year:

Hong Kong Green Award 2021
ERZELEKE 2021

Green Council
RRRRES
@ Green Management Award — Corporate (Large Corporation) (Gold Award)
BURRERE - X (KEEGE) (£58)
© Green Management Award — Project Management (Large Corporation) (2 Gold Awards, 5 Silver Awards,
1 Bronze Award and 3 Merit Awards)
BURREERZ-BAERE (KFELE) (RWESE RHERE —ARRR=IAERR)
© Ssustained Performance (3 Years+)
B 3FIAL)
Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence 2020

BB RE S A% 2020

Environmental Campaign Committee
RREEDEEE
©@ Merit Award

BREKE

TN A EZERERAT 2021224% 61



We recognise that supply chain management is essential to
operational efficiency and therefore work closely with suppliers and
contractors to effectively and efficiently meet our clients’ needs,
while emphasising responsible operating practices.

Our Group is stringent in selecting qualified suppliers, ensuring
that their entire production process is in line with our standards
and specifications. Not only do we require our new suppliers to
submit all relevant documents for review, we also run background
checks to evaluate their reliability. We conduct regular inspections
and evaluations to review the standards of our suppliers and cease
cooperation with unqualified suppliers. We are committed to
developing and maintaining effective and mutually fruitful working
relationships throughout our entire supply chain.

The Group also puts forward new requirements on the products and
services provided by suppliers are up to the international standard
in terms of quality and environmental protection, motivating the
suppliers to formulate appropriate environmental policies and
promoting energy-saving emission reduction and low-carbon
production. Regular meetings between the Group and suppliers
would be held for communicating and sharing the experience of
environmental protection.

During the Year, 2,226 suppliers in Hong Kong, 13 suppliers in PRC
and 46 suppliers from overseas were engaged by the Group.

Annual Report 2021/22
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We understand that good quality products and services are keys
to success and enhance our competitive edge. To this belief, our
Group has established the Quality Management System embedded
with risk-based thinking, life-cycle perspective and mitigations. Such
system is implemented by reliable business teams, ensuring the
quality of our products and services as well as efficiently handling
of all queries from our clients. The heads of individual divisions
discuss any particular incident related to our products and services
with the relevant division managers, project managers, supporting
departments and committees. They share their views regarding
various aspects of good standards and statutory compliance.
Corresponding improvement plans are set out and implemented
across all levels. The senior management also regularly conducts
reviews with business units and takes necessary precautionary
measures whenever applicable.

We maintain reliable electronic and hard copy recording systems at
various stages, including material delivery notes, origin certificates,
method statements, traceability records, inspection and testing
reports, etc., to facilitate any needs for a recall. Recall procedures are
traced through our recording system to obtain relevant information
to make decisions on any further action that may be necessary.

Our Group implements stringent quality control measures including
detailed operational flows and procedures, project management
and staff training to ensure that we deliver high quality services
to our clients. In recognition of our quality assurance, our various
subsidiaries have been accredited with 1ISO 9001 quality management
system standard and ISO 10002 customer management system
standard to sustain our business position. Through the ISO 9001
quality management system and I1SO 10002 customer management
system, the internal and external factors are determined to support
our Group strategic direction.

BMPEREEERRRBE ORI
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%EAEH*’ TRIYTmEEBERS ®
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Applicable laws and regulations governing property development
and assets leasing are being complied with, and practices are
being conformed to those promulgated by Lands Department,
Buildings Department and Planning Department. In property
development projects, from design to after-sales care, health and
safety considerations are taken into account and that our Group is
committed to the delivery of high-quality products and services to
the satisfaction of customers.

To address regulatory requirements in the context of property
sales, in addition to internal staff members, external legal advisors
and professional consultancy firms are appointed to advise on
the compliance of relevant laws and regulations, particularly the
Residential Properties (First-hand Sales) Ordinance which regulates
the provisions of sales brochures, promotional advertisements,
price lists, show flats, viewing of properties, sales arrangements,
execution of agreements, register of transactions and the like, as
well as observance and performance of the conditions set out in the
Land Grant and/or the pre-sale consent under the Lands Department
Consent Scheme.

Our security and facility management divisions also adopt
control measures in respect of routine operations and comply
with the relevant laws and regulations, especially the license
requirements under the Security and Guarding Services Ordinance
and responsibilities of a property manager under the Building
Management Ordinance, in order to ensure efficiency, quality
assurance and uniformity of performance. During the Year, the
divisions received several awards in the aspects of property safety
management and security services, which affirms our efforts in
maintaining occupational safety and health and our professionalism
in the industries.

In the view of the feedback from customers, we treat it seriously and
view it as means to consistently improve the quality of our products
and services we offer. The Group has standard procedures in place
to deal with the client’s feedback. Upon receiving any feedback, the
Group, subject to the situation, will take action and keep track of its
settlement, ensuring every feedback being handled properly. During
the Year, the Group was not aware of any cases of complaints
related to safety and health reasons.
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The Group is committed to ensuring the intellectual property
rights throughout its course of operation. We primarily rely on the
intellectual property laws in Hong Kong, confidentiality agreements
and internal policies to protect all intellectual property related to the
Group and operations. The employee handbook stipulates the code
and provision that require our employees to comply.

All employees are prohibited from disclosing any confidential
information such as customer data under our privacy protection
policy. Consumer data including project-related information and
other sensitive information are subject to access right control to
ensure its security and prevent any abuse or misuse. Our Group
observes Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and reviews our personnel
and business practices from time to time to ensure its compliance.

Our Group believes that honesty, integrity and fair play are important
contributors to the value of our assets and business. It is therefore
essential for all employees to ensure that our Group’s reputation
will not be tarnished by dishonesty, disloyalty or corruption. Various
policies and guidelines are in place to avoid any breach of the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance.

Employees should decline an offer of gift if acceptance of it could
affect their objectivity in conducting our Group's business, induce
them to act against the interests of our Group or lead to allegations
of impropriety. If an employee wishes to accept a gift with the
amount greater than the limit as stated in our Employee Handbook,
such employee should seek written permission from the managing
director of the particular subsidiary or our Group. Any employee in
breach of the code of conduct in the Employee Handbook will be
subject to disciplinary action including termination of employment.

Periodic written reminders are sent to our business partners and
suppliers about our Group's policy regarding “No Acceptance of
Advantages”.
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The Group encourages the employees to report all illegality,
irregularity, malpractice, unethical acts or behaviours, inappropriate
conducts or actions, which may damage the Group’s interests,
and makes sure that there are sufficient protections for such
whistleblowers. Messages received will be looked into by the
management team at the appropriate level in a timely and impartial
manner. A whistleblowing policy has been put in place, which setting
out the guideline for reporting on irregularities found at work.

During the Year, the Group did not find any significant risks relating
to corruption and was not subject to any confirmed corruption cases
involving the Group or any corruption litigations against the Group
or any of its employees. In the future, the Group will continue to
give priority to anti-corruption and integrity, strengthen supervision
of anti-corruption and expand the scope of external supervision for
the healthy development of the Company.

All employees should avoid any situation which may lead to an
actual or potential conflict of interests and should make a declaration
in writing to the head of the subsidiary or our Group when such
a situation arises. Failure to do so may give rise to allegations of
favoritism, abuse of authority or even corruption.

Over the years, the Group recognises our obligation to take up
CSR and makes our best endeavour in paying back to the society.
This Year, our contribution focuses on four core areas: Community,
Education, Environmental Concerns and Health. We encourage our
staff to take part in various voluntary services to spread positivity into
the community.

The Group is aware of the unprecedented challenges that Covid-19
has brought to the community. Despite the social restrictions that we
are facing, we still make our best effort to reach out for the needy
and to provide resources and assistance to the community under the
pandemic.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR HERERRS

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) (Vi EZEH (@)

Community (continued)

This Year, Chun Wo joined hands with our annual CSR partner “CoCreative
Partners” to carry out a series of home renovation activities named “Repairs
Givers”. The aim of this collaboration is to improve the housing environment of
the elderly, listen to their needs and provide care for them.

On 28 June and 13 August 2021, our staff visited two elderly families in San
Po Kong and Cheung Sha Wan. In addition to making minor repairs to their
homes, we also accompanied the elderlies to yum cha, talked with them
and bought food for one disabled elderly family, spending meaningful time
together.

We will continue to encourage colleagues and partners, including suppliers
and subcontractors, to take part in upcoming elderly home repairs activities to
inspire everyone to do good deeds.

HE (&)
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IR ERERRS

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) (IVETEZEH &)
Community (continued) HE (&)
Harmony Community Programme MBHLEEE G E

H20144F i - REEHETT [ ML EIE
Bt BEMBENMM RAEER -
WEA R DEEIRR HRO T
E-Nxstdlh RMEREEEI8
BERETHNETI2RZEEHEN
BE LES  UARBILE -

Since 2014, the Group has initiated the “Harmony Community
Programme” with the aims to strengthen our ties with the local
community and to minimise the adverse effects brought by our
construction projects. In this programme, our staff of construction sites
from 18 districts of Hong Kong are encouraged to serve the community
by joining a wide range of regularly organised voluntary events.

Y5

On 10 July 2021, colleagues from the “Hong Kong
Jockey Club Sha Tin Racecourse” project collaborated
with The Salvation Army to go to the village at Hung Mui
Kuk in Shatin, visited and distributed gift bags under the
scorching heat to around 50 low-income families living
in squatters to understand their needs and send them
blessings.

MR2021F7H8108 - RE [BEABEFEPHES]EE
WETHEMEFAIE fTAED BLABEANE EBET
RHERERL MOS0FERAREREERE AT
R M0 PR B 5K 0 A Ik 404

6

On 31 July 2021, colleagues from the “Development of Anderson Road Quarry
Site” project co-organised the “Summer Caring Action” with the Hong Kong
Family Welfare Society. The team visited residents of Lok Wah Estate, Shun

M2021F78318 KB [&
ERBARSERE|EBEN
BETHEBRERENZA
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Lee Estate, Shun On Estate
and Shun Tin Estate and
distributed care packages
prepared by the Hong Kong
Family Welfare Society to
around 60 elderies. The aim
of this visit is to understand
the effect of the project on
local residents in the district
and to provide care for the
elderlies.
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IRIR B RERRS

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)
Community (continued)

Harmony Community Programme (continued)

¢

To bring joy to the community during Christmas time, on
18 December 2021, colleagues from the “Development of
Anderson Road Quarry Site” project collaborated with Hong
Kong Family Welfare Society to organise a balloon twisting
workshop at the community centre near the construction
site. We taught a group of primary students twist balloon art
and celebrated the festival together. We also set up a booth
at the nearby On Tai Estate to give out their DIY work to the
neighbours to share the joy.

BEERHEE BT ETRELE RE [ EEBAESS
EBIEEMNETEEBRERHNEMN2021F128188 A 1EE
BEMBRMIEP LR T —ERRERIES - B
B)OBLEMARER —RENEA BAEEWNIIHLZEE
REBH BECHFEROBELMOIERUDZE M-

Education

As a corporate, the Group is committed to nurturing future talents
for our society. This Year, the Group continues to offer financial and
professional support for the youngsters. In addition to scholarships
and donations to local universities and educational events, talks,
seminars and internships are also organised to inspire our next
generation.

On 17 November 2021, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick 7, the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company was invited by the Association for
the Rights of Industrial Accident Victims to Lai Chack Middle School to
enjoy students’ drama performance and as a guest speaker to share
information about occupational safety and health. The aim of this event
is to build up students’ awareness towards social responsibility and the
idea of respecting one another before they start their career.
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IR ERERRS

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) IVt EZEHE &)
Education (continued) HE (&)

Since 2015, Chun Wo has participated in the “Business-School
Partnership Programme” organised by the Education Bureau. In this
year's event, we held a three-day “Chun Wo Career Internship”, inviting
five secondary students to work at our office. During the internship,
students not only helped to organise blood donation activities and
perform clerical tasks, but also visited our machinery warehouse at Lau
Shui Heung, Fanling. This internship provided students an opportunity
to learn outside the classroom, in areas such as professional mechanical
knowledge and purchasing procedures, offering an interesting and
practical summer experience.

ZAMB2015F RS EBHE BN [HRAEETE ] RS FNFBT
BAERASHM=RNENBREXER| BFELRT2LET RN
WMAETE-BRHHE RAEMRHBHERBNEBHREEXET
B B2EB T RALNHERKENKREE - RREERRZM
EREERENEBREXREMAE RERFS RRFREHEEGH

ERNZHES-

Environmental Concerns R

Environmental protection is a social responsibility for all individuals, RERBEEEEANHAERE ER
especially for corporates. In addition to implementing safety and TENMEETL - RTRIMERER
environmental measures in construction sites, we encourage our staff ERERERE RMTASHBHE TSR
to participate in different activities to protect our planet. BIE)EE) - HAFEMIR

On 17 July 2021, a group of Chun Wo staff volunteers
participated in the “Construction Industry Shoreline Cleanup
Day” organised by the Construction Industry Sports &
Volunteering Programme. On that day, we went to Little Palm
Beach in Sai Kung to clean up rubbish on the beach, with the aim
of reducing shoreline pollution caused by the waste. The team
worked hard under the scorching sun to protect the shoreline!

R2021F78178 HEME THEKNELIREL2 N T HEE
XEPRETIHEE PN [BEXEREBERB] -RMER
RIS /MEEEZED BT LR BRG TR -5 T
FRZIAEETEE  THEEFER
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On 13 November 2021, Chun Wo participated in a “Clear
Wedelia Trilobata” event in collaboration with World Wide Fund
for Nature Hong Kong ("WWEF"). Guided by the staff at Mai Po
Nature Reserve, our staff removed the invasive plant Wedelia
Trilobata together to prevent it from harming other plant species.
They also learned more about the importance of ecological
balance and the natural habitats of wildlife in Hong Kong.

R2021F11A13H - B2 N T Bt RERES SR ES
g ([tRERESE]) AERNN [BREEFEHE | JES) -
FEARBERRER TIEABRNEET RMANE THERBR
ABEYNBEEEEE BIEEREEMEYRE P Ih
HARTENEEULEASTLEHEYVNARAEEHEE

ZH)T o
In face of the Covid-19 pandemic, health is definitely one of our RFEMAERET EERERKARK
top concerns. Besides ensuring a safe and healthy workplace for our MHOEZE@E-KMBRT AE TRHE
staff, we also strived our best to help those in need through different ZERENTIIESF TR AIEAD
ways. RAAREHERTENAL

Under the pandemic, the blood bank of Hong Kong has
been facing a state of emergency. On 6 October 2021,
Chun Wo and the Hong Kong Red Cross Blood Transfusion
Service co-organized “Chun Wo Blood Donation Day 2021
to encourage colleagues to demonstrate the spirit of "1
Blood Donation Saves 3”. Our colleagues showed their
enthusiastic support to the “Give Blood Alliance” program
by donating blood on that day.

SRIEZE FEMEFERE - N202141086H @ £
HMEBL+FTERMBRBP LA 2021EMBMmMA ] -
HEEETEM Y5 [ XBMA B = @K Al Rk
sk RPNEEE B EREBI - REY (44 mis |
AEEEFSREE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IR ERERRS

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) (V) HEZHE &)
Health (continued) e (&)

Chun Wo and Lifewire jointly organised the
“Lifewire Run 2021 Ho Sheung Heung Charity
Run” on 14 November 2021. The event
attracted 1,500 runners to participate despite
under strict pandemic precautionary measures,
raising over HK$2 million to support children
who are suffering from rare diseases and
help them with expensive medications and
healthcare.

PR20215F11 A148 - (EFNER (E o Bt iE) HF R [2021F M « 7 L BEZW| - BE B HREEM THREHOH
REE - =R EN I 5] H£1,500% 8 F 2 8 - I F15 = 5082,000,0008 7T BIEENEEFRARNZE 8
BN S ENBREREERE-

Together, we fight the virus! In addition to financial support to
the anti-pandemic events of HKYIC, on 31 March 2022, a group
of our staff joined the volunteer event organised by HKYIC
to pack and distribute anti-pandemic packs. These resources
were distributed to the community and people in need through
volunteer groups and community organisations.

BEKE BENE  BRTEDEESFLERMEN
PURIEE SN MM B THR2022F3A31B2 N T H %
SETEZRHEHEGANE TERE TEEREE %5
WEBBAEREER T RAASREATRENETEA L
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D EREYE o
caringcompany

Awarded by The Hong Kong C
£l

compANYy

AT

Partner Employer Award ¥ 5F&t 81

Chun Wo is proud to have been awarded the
“15 Years Plus Caring Company” logo from
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service for
the Year 2021/2022. Being a recipient of the
“Caring Company” logo for 17 consecutive
years confirms our Company’s effort in
upholding our social responsibilities. The
Group's subsidiary City Security Company
Limited and City Professional Management
Limited also hold the “Caring Company 10+"
logo for its dedication in building a caring
community.

The Group and Chun Wo have been awarded
the “Happy Company” logo from the
Happiness at Work Promotional Scheme while
Chun Wo has been awarded for 9 consecutive
years, confirming the Company’s commitment
in maintaining a positive environment and
motivating team spirit in the workplace.

Chun Wo has been honoured with the “Partner
Employer Award” from The Hong Kong General
Chamber of Small and Medium Business for 7
consecutive years, recognising the Company’s
efforts in hiring graduates from local technical
institutes and universities and offering training
opportunities and practical experience that
facilitate their long-term career planning.

BERMEEEB LT RESH @ EE
2021/2022F Z #y [ 154 Plus i R B
BEIRE - AEBEEITFER
(ERREE]ZEH BT T ARQA
BT EEEFEMEZ INETE -
AEEWBRARIMMEFERA A
R MEEBTEBR AR IREMEE
[MOFPlusARBIZ] FiR K15
EE#EVEELRFEMNER

ANEE M EMER O T EMHEER
FEBALLE]I R MEME
BEIFERBERZEW  BEEARQA
EIFEASERRERABE T
B S EEATIERNSE )

BEMEBTFEETRT/DELER
BEREABBER]BA REAN
RAIREAAMEMER R XSS
RETEMENS N REXLE
BEIRENEBER BPHER
EEXRAE-
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IR ERERRS

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) (V)T EZHE &)
CSR Awards and Recognition (continued) EMEEARERET (&)

Chun Wo has garnered the “Industry Cares” EFMETS T EBEHEE [ TER
A o A @ARES ~ recognition by the Federation of Hong Kong & 1255 ZBEA T T IEMA R
‘J IRRE O, Industries. The accolade acknowledges Chun DM EHEXTFHHIL T RE
) Wo's enthusiasm in participating in CSR events {EfMBE—FEBITLEMESET
and recognises its outstanding performance in  FER HE KA -
fulfilling CSR in the past year.

Chun Wo has been recognised as a “Silver EFNAFEEMAGAESZHE
Corporate Member” of the WWF this Year, R[4EEE| @ UXRETERN
recognising the Company’s commitment in RN BAFEETEHRERERESLE
partnering with WWF to drive sustainability #EFHBAZERRE AL R
through business practices and the support of BHAES&EIHE NI -

WWEF's programmes.

SNOX DNOH

The Group has been recognised as AEEBRAFEEHMEBEIZERES

unicef & “Breastfeeding Friendly Workplace” by Unicef &% [ B A E T ER ] B3t
@ 150/ VesToBrensiiveding this Year. In order to give the best working ke ARIEBFHRIREREENT
s environment for working mothers, the Group EFREZEREZ I AEEEHE

e R i has extended maternity leave to 14 weeks BEEZE14E MEERITERRE
sl and paternity leave to 7 days and introduced 7k WAEPH A E K E T AR R I
. § nursing rooms in our offices and on several ILRT REHIL R
oyt suppect i prenetivg 11 AR construction sites to give privacy to nursing
Broastfeeding Friendly Workplace mothers.

The Future AR B[]
Our Group for its part recognises the importance of CSR and, moving AEEFRAGELSETNEE H-
forward, we will continue to improve our performance in this area. R BMGEERS L AT ERE B
Following the expansion of our Group's business in Hong Kong and ERNEEBEREBRIMES &M
Asia, we will endeavour to introduce CSR initiatives in these business BB NEELERBEN MG EMEMD
units and the communities in which they operate as well. BETEELSEEEE-
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Chairman

Mr. Pang, aged 49, graduated from Columbia University, New York in
1995 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics, Political Science and
Mathematics, and obtained a Juris Doctorate from the New York University
School of Law in 1998 and an Executive Master of Business Administration
degree from Kellogg-HKUST in 2010. Mr. Pang has served as a standing
committee member of Hebei Province of The Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference since January 2018, has been appointed as a vice
president of Belt & Road General Chamber of Commerce in April 2018 and
a member of council of the Vocational Training Council since July 2019,
and has served as the chairman of Executive Board of the Hong Kong Real
Property Federation since September 2019.

Mr. Pang joined the Group in 2003 and was appointed as the assistant
to the late Chairman, Dr. Pang Kam Chun. Mr. Pang was appointed as
the Chairman of the Company and the Executive Director in April 2010
and re-designated as the Co-Chairman of the Company and the Non-
executive Director in January 2015. He has been further re-designated as
the Chairman of the Company and the Executive Director since March
2017. Mr. Pang is also the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and
Executive Committee and a member of the Management Committee.
He is also currently the Chairman of the property development executive
board of the Group, responsible for the management of the overall
property development and assets leasing business of the Group. He also
holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Pang is
the elder brother of Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, the Executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat
Sum, Rita, a senior management of the Company, and the son of Madam
Li Wai Hang, Christina, the Executive Director. Mr. Pang is a director of
GT Winners Limited ("GT Winners”), the controlling shareholder of the
Company (as defined in the Listing Rules). Mr. Pang, Madam Li Wai Hang,
Christina and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita each owns 45%, 45% and
10% equity interest in GT Winners.

Deputy Chairman

Mr. Xu, aged 53, holds a Bachelor’s degree in Law of the China University
of Political Science and Law, a Master's degree in Business Administration
of Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics and a Master of Laws
degree in International Economic Law of City University of Hong Kong.
He was qualified as a lawyer in the PRC in 1994 and a senior economist
in the PRC in 2003. Mr. Xu has over 23 years of corporate management
experience and extensive experience in transactions of mergers and
acquisitions and investment and financing. He was a director of a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and two companies listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Xu was appointed as the Co-
Chairman of the Company and the Executive Director in January 2015. He
has been re-designated as the Deputy Chairman of the Company in March
2017 and is currently a member of the Management Committee and
Executive Committee. Mr. Xu also holds directorships in certain subsidiaries
of the Company.

E
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Chief Executive Officer

Ir Dr. Pang, aged 47, graduated from the University of California, Berkeley
in the United States in 1997 with a Bachelor of Science degree and
obtained a Master of Engineering degree in Civil and Environmental
Engineering from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in the United
States in 1998 and a Master's degree in Business Administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2007. He also obtained a Doctor of
Philosophy in Civil Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in 2014. Ir Dr. Pang is a member of the Institution of Civil
Engineers, the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
and a Registered Professional Engineer in the State of California, United
States. He has over 22 years of geotechnical design and construction
experience in the United States and Hong Kong. He has served as a
member of the Construction Industry Council since February 2017. He
has also been appointed as a member of the Aviation Development and
Three-runway System Advisory Committee since August 2021 and a non-
executive director of the Insurance Authority since December 2021. Ir Dr.
Pang was appointed as Justice of the Peace by the Government of Hong
Kong in June 2017.

Ir Dr. Pang joined the Group in 2001 and holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has been appointed as the Executive
Director since April 2010 and acted as the Deputy Chairman of the
Company from April 2010 to March 2017. Ir Dr. Pang has been appointed
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since April 2017 and acted
as the Chief Operating Officer of the Company from April 2017 to January
2019. He is also the Chairman of the Management Committee and a
member of the Executive Committee. He leads the chief executive officer
office for managing overall performance of the construction business and
is the chairman of the City Services Group executive board of the Group
and a member of the property development executive board of the Group,
responsible for management of the overall professional services and
property development and assets leasing businesses of the Group. Ir Dr.
Pang is the younger brother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the Chairman
of the Company and the Executive Director and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum,
Rita, a senior management of the Company, and also the son of Madam
Li Wai Hang, Christina, the Executive Director, both of Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina are controlling shareholders of
the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules).
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Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr. Shea, aged 55, graduated from Monash University of Australia with
a Bachelor's degree in Business and later completed a postgraduate
programme of Public Finance (Taxation) and obtained a Master's degree
in Economics from Jinan University, China and a Master of Laws degree
from Renmin University of China. He is a fellow member of CPA Australia,
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, The Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants of the United Kingdom and Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants and a Chartered Global Management Accountant. He is also
a Chartered Tax Adviser of Hong Kong and obtained a Certificate of Pass in
Practice Training Examination for Hong Kong Certified Tax Advisers Serving
in Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone,
Qianhai, Shenzhen jointly issued by Shenzhen Municipal Office of the State
Administration of Taxation and Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau.

Mr. Shea has substantial experience in accounting and finance in listed
companies and worked as qualified accountant and company secretary in
various companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange over
the years. He was the group financial controller of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 01184) from 1999 to 2005. He has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Water Group
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 00371) since 2002 and is also the chairman of the audit committee
of the company. He has also been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Hi-Level Technology Holdings Limited (a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 08113) since 2015
and is the chairman of the audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee of the company. Mr. Shea joined the Group
as Financial Controller of property development segment in 2008 and
has been appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company
and the Company Secretary since 2015. He has been appointed as
Executive Director since July 2017 and is also currently a member of the
Management Committee and Executive Committee. He is also currently
the member of the property development executive board of the Group,
responsible for the management of the overall property development and
assets leasing business of the Group. Mr. Shea also holds directorships in
certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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Madam Li, aged 71, joined the Group in 1975 and has over 47 years’
experience in the construction industry. Madam Li previously acted as an
Executive Director from July 1992 to February 2015 and had continued to
be a member of the senior management of the Group thereafter. She has
rejoined the Board as an Executive Director since November 2017. She also
holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company. Madam Li is the
mother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the Chairman of the Company and
Executive Director, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, Executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita,
a senior management of the Company. She is a director of GT Winners
, the controlling shareholder of the Company (as defined in the Listing
Rules). Madam Li, Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum,
Rita each owns 45%, 45% and 10% equity interest in GT Winners.

Ms. Wong, aged 36, graduated from Occidental College, Los Angeles in
the United States in 2006 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics and
has over 15 years' experience in marketing and business management.
She is currently the co-founder and director of Wow Concepts Limited
and founder of Topfit Limited. Ms. Wong is a member of Omicron Delta
Epsilon, the International Honor Society in Economics. Ms. Wong has been
appointed as Non-executive Director since May 2020 and is also a member
of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

Dr. Yim, aged 63, is the founder, executive director, chairman and
managing director of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 01184) since May
1993. He has been appointed as a chairman and executive director of
Hi-Level Technology Holdings Limited (@ company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 08113) in October 2015. Dr. Yim has been
an independent director of Innolux Corporation (a company listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange, stock code: 3481.TW) since July 2013.

Dr. Yim is currently the president of the Hong Kong Justice of the Peace
Association, the honorary vice chairman of the Hong Kong Electronic
Industries Association, a member of Yan Chai Hospital Advisory Board, a
member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference Shanghai
Committee, the vice chairman of the Hongkong-Shanghai Economic
Development Association, the chairman of the Tsuen Wan District Civic
Education Committee and the vice chairman of Tsuen Wan District JPC
Honorary President Council.

Dr. Yim was appointed as Independent Non-executive Director in May
2020. He has been re-designated as Non-executive Director in September
2021 and is also a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee.
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Mr. Wu, aged 55, holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree and
a Master of Business Administration degree of Simon Fraser University in
Canada. He was qualified as a chartered financial analyst of The Institute
of Chartered Financial Analysts in 1996. Mr. Wu was the chief executive
officer of SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (now known as Sunwah
Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00188) from April 2006 to September
2010. He was also a director and chief executive officer of RHB Hong Kong
Limited from April 2011 to October 2017. Mr. Wu has been appointed
as the non-executive, independent member of the board of Document
Security Systems, Inc. (a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
stock code: DSS) since October 2019, the independent director of Alset
EHome International Inc. (a company listed on NASDAQ, stock code: AEI)
since November 2020, the independent nominee director of Alset Capital
Acquisition Corp. (@ company listed on NASDAQ, stock code: ACAX)
since January 2022 and the independent non-executive director of JY
Grandmark Holdings Limited (“JY Grandmark”, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 02231) since November
2019. Mr. Wu has also been appointed as managing director, Investment
Banking of Glory Sun Securities Limited since January 2019.

Mr. Wu previously worked for a number of international investment banks
and possesses over 29 years of experience in the investment banking,
capital markets, institutional broking and direct investment businesses. He
is a registered license holder to carry out Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
He has been appointed as a member of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference since January 2013.

Mr. Wu has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director
since February 2015 and is also the Chairman of Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
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Mr. Lam, aged 53, is the general manager of Wanda Hotel Development
Company Limited (stock code: 00169), which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and a member of the Dalian Wanda Group. He
has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of OOH
Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 08091) since August 2019 and the independent non-executive
director of CCIAM Future Energy Limited since October 2020 (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00145). He
was an executive director of Yuexiu Property Company Limited (stock
code: 00123), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
and also the chief financial officer of the Yue Xiu Group. Mr. Lam was
previously the head of Corporate Finance and Business Development
at GOME Electrical Appliances Holding Limited (now known as GOME
Retail Holdings Limited) (stock code: 00493) (“GOME"), one of China’s
largest electronics retailers, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prior to joining GOME, he spent about 10 years working in
investment banking and capital markets at Schroders Asia, ABN AMRO
Rothschild, and Deutsche Bank. Mr. Lam is a Chartered Financial Analyst
and holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Rice University
in the United States. He has extensive experience in corporate finance,
financial and accounting fields.

Mr. Lam has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director since

January 2017 and is also the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEASEN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang 8Comm, (LB, FCPA (Aust.)

Mr. Ho, aged 45, is the chief operating officer, executive director and a
member of the executive committee of NWS Holdings Limited (“NWS")
(@ company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
00659). He joined NWS in January 2018 and is responsible for overseeing
the business development and mergers and acquisitions affairs, and certain
businesses of NWS. He also oversees the day-to-day administrative and
operational functions of the company. He was also the senior investment
director of New World Development Company Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00017), an
executive director of New World Strategic Investment Limited and was
a partner of an international law firm Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver and
Jacobson LLP.

Mr. Ho is a non-executive director of Shoucheng Holdings Limited (stock
code: 00697) since May 2018 and Wai Kee Holdings Limited (stock code:
00610) since December 2018 and an independent non-executive director
of Kam Hing International Holdings Limited (stock code: 02307) since
May 2010. He was an independent non-executive director of Hailiang
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 02336) during May 2014 to
August 2020 (all of the above-mentioned companies are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr. Ho was also a director and/or senior
executive in several Hong Kong listed public companies.

Mr. Ho is the deputy chairperson of CPA Australia Greater Bay Area
Committee, a member of the China Committee of Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce, a committee member of the General Committee
of the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies, a committee member
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Shenyang, a
standing committee member of the Youth Federation of Inner Mongolia
and a vice chairman of Inner Mongolia & Hong Kong Youth Exchange
Association. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Bachelor
of Laws degree from The University of Sydney, Australia and was admitted
as a solicitor in New South Wales, Australia and England and Wales and as
a solicitor and barrister in the High Court of Australia. He is also a fellow
member of CPA Australia. Mr. Ho has extensive experience in the area
of corporate management, investments, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition transactions and international brand and retail management.

Mr. Ho has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director in
January 2017 and is also a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESREEEEAEEH

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)
Dr. Yen Gordon BSc(ME), MBA, DBA

Dr. Yen, aged 52, graduated from Boston University in the United States
with a degree in Bachelor of Science in Manufacturing Engineering in
1990. He was also awarded a Master of Business Administration degree
from McGill University in Canada in 1992 and a Doctor of Business
Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2005. Dr.
Yen is currently the founding managing partner of Radiant Tech Ventures
Limited, an innovation and technology venture capital firm. He has more
than 26 years of management and operational experience in private and
listed companies in investment, global supply chain, manufacturing and
infrastructure industries. Dr. Yen is registered as a responsible officer to
carry out Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO.
He has also been appointed as a non-executive director and non-executive
vice chairman of Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00420) since 2013 and
2018 respectively and an independent non-executive director of Impro
Precision Industries Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 01286) since 2019. He was an independent
non-executive director of Hopewell Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, former stock code: 00054)
from May 2012 to May 2019. Dr. Yen is a member of the Henan Province
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of
the PRC; Honorable Life-Chairman of the Hong Kong General Chamber of
Textiles Limited; and chairman of the Hong Kong Business Angel Network.

Dr. Yen has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director in
September 2021 and is also a member of the Nomination Committee.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREEEEAEEH

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Group

Mr. Yiu Chi Sang, Andy Djp(Eng), LLB(Hons), MA(ArbDR),
MSc(C.Mgt), MRICS, MICE, MHKIE, MASCE, FCIArb, FHKIArb, CEng

Mr. Yiu, aged 66, graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University in 1981
with a Diploma in Civil Engineering. He was awarded a Master of Arts
degree in Dispute Resolution and Arbitration in 1995 and a Master of
Science degree in Construction Management in 1998 from City University
of Hong Kong. He further obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree in 2004
from the University of Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a
member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, the Institution
of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers and the American Society of Civil Engineers as well as a fellow
member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, the United Kingdom
and the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators. Mr. Yiu has over 41 years’
experience in the construction industry, including civil, building, foundation
and marine engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau, Vietnam and
the Mainland China. He re-joined the Group in 2008 and was the Chief
Operating Officer of the construction segment of the Group. He is currently
the Assistant to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, responsible
for assisting the Chief Executive Officer of the Company to oversee the
operation of the construction business of the Group.

Construction Segment

Sr Lee Ka Lun, Stephen BA(AS), B. Bldg, Dip Proj Man (RICS),
FRICS, FHKIS, ACIArb, RPS(QS)

Sr Lee, aged 65, graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a
Bachelor of Arts (Architectural Studies) degree in 1980 and a Bachelor of
Building degree in 1982. He is a Registered Professional Surveyor (QS) with
fellow membership of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and
The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and membership of the Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators. He is on the List of Arbitrators of Hong Kong
International Arbitration Centre and is a member of the Joint Panel of
Arbitrators of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and The Hong Kong
Institute of Architects. Sr Lee has 41 years’ experience in quantity surveying
and commercial management in Hong Kong, the Mainland China, Taiwan,
Macau, Singapore, Malaysia and the Philippines. He worked with the
Group from 1998 to 2005 and re-joined the Group in 2011. Sr Lee was
the Chief Executive Officer of the construction segment of the Group from
2017 and is currently the Chairman of the construction segment of the
Group.
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ESREEEEAEEH

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Construction Segment (continued)

Mr. Ko Wing Nin, Ken B5c(Eng), MSc(Eng), CEng, MICE, FHKIE,
RPE(Civil), FCHKRI

Mr. Ko, aged 58, graduated from Chu Hai College in 1986 with a Bachelor
of Science and Engineering degree in Civil Engineering. He also obtained
a Master's degree in Civil and Structural Engineering from the University
of Sheffield, the United Kingdom in 1994 and a Master's degree in
Construction Law from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2011.
He is a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom,
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a Registered
Professional Engineer in civil discipline in Hong Kong and a Fellow of
the China Hong Kong Railway Institution. He has 36 years’ experience
in the construction industry including civil, building, foundation and
marine engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau and the United Arab
Emirates. Mr. Ko joined the Group in 2006 and is currently the Business
Head of Foundations Division of the construction segment of the Group,
responsible for the operation of the foundations business.

Mr. Luk Wai Lam, William B. £ng, EMBA, MICE, CEng, FHKIE, RPE,
ANEC3&4ECCPM

Mr. Luk, aged 44, graduated from the University College London in 2000
with a Bachelor of Engineering degree in Civil Engineering. He was also
awarded an Executive Master of Business Administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 2016 and a NEC3 and NEC4 Engineering
and Construction Contract Project Manager Accreditation in 2019. He
is a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers in the United Kingdom,
a fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and a Registered
Professional Engineer in civil discipline in Hong Kong. Mr. Luk has 22 years’
experience in construction industry, including infrastructure and project
management in Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland China. Mr. Luk
joined the Group in 2010 and is currently the Operations Director of the
construction segment of the Group, responsible for the operation of the
civil business.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREEEEAEEH

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Construction Segment (continued)
Mr. Chan Anthony Yin Chung

Mr. Chan, aged 36, graduated from University of British Columbia in
Canada in 2008. He is a council member of Hong Kong Construction
Association (“HKCA"), a honorary treasurer of HKCA Civil Engineering
Committee, a vice chairman of HKCA Environmental Committee and a
honorary chairman of HKCA Young Members Society. He is also a board
member of the Construction Industry Council — Zero Carbon Park, a
committee member of Lifewire Foundation Limited, a member of Hong
Kong Institute of Construction STEM Alliance and the chairman of
Construction Industry Council course advisory panel on civil engineering.
Mr. Chan became a business partner of the Group in 2019. He has
substantial experience in construction industry and currently is the director
of Kwan Lee Holding Limited and is responsible for the management of its
overall business.

Dato’ Lim Yuk Meng, Weslie BAE FCCA, CAM)

Dato’ Lim, aged 48, graduated from the University of Strathclyde in the
United Kingdom with a Bachelor's degree of Accounting and Finance in
1995. He is a fellow member of Associated Chartered Certified Accountant
and a member of Malaysia Institute of Accountant. Dato’ Lim has 27
years' experience in accounting and finance, business development and
management, and interior design and fit-out business in Malaysia, Hong
Kong, the Mainland China and Cambodia. He became a business partner
of the Group in 2019 and is the founder and managing director of ECO
Group Holdings Sdn. Bhd., responsible for the management of its overall
business.

Er Ng Swee How, Vincent 5. sc.Eng.(Hons)., M.Sc.Eng., PEng.,
C Eng., ACPE., MIES., M.Con.E.S

Er Ng, aged 67, graduated from the Aberdeen University in the United
Kingdom with a Bachelor’s degree of Engineering (Hons) in 1980. He
has also awarded a Master of Civil Engineering degree from the National
University of Singapore in 1985. Er Ng is a Registered Professional Engineer
in Singapore, a Registered Asean Chartered Professional Engineer and
a member of the Institution of Engineers, Singapore. He has 42 years’
experience in structural design, civil engineering and project management
in Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, Sri Lanka and Vietnam. Er Ng became
a business partner of the Group in 2016 and is currently the managing
director of R.J. Crocker Consultants Pte. Ltd., responsible for the
management of its overall business.
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ESREEEEAEEH

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Professional Services Segment
Mr. Tam Chi Kwong, Steve Visc(Pv)

Mr. Tam, aged 58, obtained a higher diploma in structural engineering and
an associateship in civil and structural engineering from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1986
and 1988 respectively. He further obtained a postgraduate diploma in civil
engineering and a master of science degree in project management from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1996 and 2009 respectively. Prior
to joining the Group in 2002, he had served a construction company,
responsible for various construction projects in Hong Kong. He has more
than 15 years of experience in corporate management. Mr. Tam is currently
the director of the Group overseeing the overall performance of the
internal operations of the Group. He is also the Chief Executive Officer of
City Services Group Limited, responsible for overseeing the management of
the professional services business of the Group. Mr. Tam holds directorships
in certain subsidiaries of the Company and is also a member of other
business executive board of the Group.

Non-franchised Bus Services Segment
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, Calvin 884A(Mktg)

Mr. Wong, aged 37, graduated from Oxford Brookes University in
the United Kingdom in 2009 with a degree in Bachelor of Business
Administration in Marketing. He has 12 years’ experience in local logistics
industry and business management. Mr. Wong became a business partner
of the Group in 2018 and is currently the Chief Executive Officer of the
non-franchised bus services segment of the Group, responsible for the
management of its overall business.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EFREEEEAEEH

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Education Segment
Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita 84, /D

Ms. Pang aged 48, graduated from Harvard University, the United States
in 1996 with a Bachelor of Arts degree. She has also awarded a degree
of Juris Doctor from Duke University, North Carolina in the United States
in 1999. Ms. Pang is @ member admitted to the State of Bar of New York
and Massachusetts in the United States and a certified public accountant
of Delaware in the United States. Prior to joining the Group in 2019, Ms.
Pang had practiced law at Citibank (Hong Kong) and US law firms and
has over 21 years’ experience in legal and compliance fields in the United
States and Hong Kong. Ms. Pang is the founder and director of See
Change Education Limited, responsible for the management of education
business of the Group.

Ms. Pang is the younger sister of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the
Chairman of the Company and the Executive Director, the elder sister of
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
and the Executive Director, and also the daughter of Madam Li Wai Hang,
Christina, the Executive Director. Ms. Pang owns 10% equity interest in GT
Winners, the controlling shareholder of the Company (as defined in the
Listing Rules) in which each of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li
Wai Hang, Christina owns 45% equity interest.

Construction Finance and Construction Material
E-procurement Segment

Mr. Lam Wai Hung, Roy £MBA, Msc, B. Eng(Hon)

Mr. Lam, aged 37, graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 2006 with a Bachelor of Engineering in Building Services Engineering.
He has also awarded a Master of Science in Real Estate from The University
of Hong Kong in 2010 and an Executive Master of Business Administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2018. He has 16 years’
experience in business development and property development. Mr. Lam
worked with the Group from 2006 to 2015, responsible for assisting in
management of projects under construction and property development
segments. Mr. Lam re-joined the Group in 2017 and is currently the
director of Asia One Credit Limited and the Chief Executive Officer of
Mattex Asia Development Limited, responsible for the management of
construction finance and construction material e-procurement businesses
of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERRS

The Company has been making continued efforts to incorporate the key
elements of sound corporate governance into its management structure
and internal control procedures. The Company is committed to maintaining
a high standard of corporate governance, upholding a high standard of
ethics, transparency, responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business,
and ensuring that affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws
and regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all the code provisions of the CG Code
throughout the Year. The Board had duly performed its duties relating
to the corporate governance functions and was not aware of any code
provisions of the CG Code being violated during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, after a specific enquiry made by the Company, that they have
fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the management of the Company on behalf
of the Shareholders. Key responsibilities include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, setting of management targets and supervision
of management performance. The Board confines itself to making
broad policy decisions and also exercising a number of reserved powers
as mentioned below, while delegating responsibility for more detailed
considerations to the Management Committee under the leadership of the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company:

. those functions and matters as set out in the terms of reference of
various Board committees (as amended from time to time), for which
Board’s approval must be sought from time to time;

o those functions and matters for which Board’s approval must be
sought in accordance with the Group's internal policy (as amended
from time to time);

o consideration and approval of the ESG report, financial statements
in interim reports and annual reports, announcements and press
releases of interim and annual results;

o focusing its attention on matters affecting the Company’s overall
strategic policies, financing and Shareholders;

o consideration of dividend policy and dividend amount; and

° reviewing and monitoring the corporate governance policies and
practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal and
regulatory requirements.
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EEERES

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information,
including regular reports from the Board committees and briefings on
significant legal, regulatory or accounting issues affecting the Group.

To enable independent advice accessible by the Board, a Director has a
material conflict of interest in relation to a transaction or proposal to be
considered by the Board, such Director is required to declare such interest and
abstain from voting, but is still able to express his/her opinion. The matter
is considered at a Board meeting and voted on by the Directors who have
no material interest in that transaction. Each Director may seek independent
professional advice as considered necessary to fulfil his/her responsibilities and
in exercising independent judgment when making decisions in furtherance
of his/her Directors’ duties at the Company's expense. Independent
professional advice shall include legal advice and advice of accountants and
other professional financial advisers on matters of law, accounting and other
regulatory matters. Any advice obtained may be made available to other
members of the Board. Each Board Committee should report to the Board on
its decisions and recommendation.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eleven Directors
including five Executive Directors, two NEDs and four INEDs, with INEDs
representing not less than one-third of the Board as required under the
Listing Rules. The Board members are listed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry (Deputy Chairman)
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick s (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley 885 jp

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Dr. Yen Gordon
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EEERES

BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

Each of the NEDs and INEDs has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of three years. The appointment letter is
renewable subject to consent given by the Company and the respective
NEDs and INEDs. The NEDs and INEDs are subject to retirement by rotation
in accordance with the Bye-laws.

The Board had at all times during the Year met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs with
at least one INED possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation from each INED
to confirm his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company is of the view that all INEDs are independent under the
Listing Rules.

Relationship between Board Members

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the Chairman of the Board, and Ir Dr. Pang
Yat Bond, Derrick, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, being
brothers, and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina, the Executive Director, is the
mother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick.

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley is the chairman and executive director of Hi-Level
Technology Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 08113) in which Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant,
the Executive Director, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and the
Company Secretary, is an independent non-executive director.

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, Madam Li Wai
Hang, Christina, the Executive Directors and/or Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum,
Rita, the senior management of the Company, through the companies
controlled by them, hold minority interests in certain investment vehicles
in which Dr. Yen Gordon, an INED, also has interests. The Nomination
Committee considers the aforesaid business relationships will not affect
Dr. Yen Gordon in performing his duties as an INED.

Save as disclosed above, there is no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship among members of the Board.

Diversity Policy

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance and maintain a sustainable development
in long run. In this regard, the Nomination Committee has endorsed the
board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
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EEERRS

BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

Diversity Policy (continued)

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the measurable objectives and provides
that the Company should endeavor to achieve board diversity through
consideration of a number of factors and measurable objectives, which
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional expertise, industry experience, skills and
knowledge.

The Board since 2017 has upheld to consist of at least 1 female member
and currently has two female Directors and as such has achieved gender
diversity in the Board. We will strive to enhance female representation and
achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity with reference to the
stakeholders’ expectation and local recommended best practices.

The Company has also adopted a workforce diversity policy which set
outs the factors and measurable objectives in the employment. Details of
which are provided in the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT" set out on pages 38 to 74.

While conscious efforts are being taken by the Company to fulfil its
pledges, appointments of board member and employment will be based
on merit while taking into account diversity.

Nomination Policy

The Company has also adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) setting out the key selection criteria and principles to be used
by the Company in making recommendations on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors to
the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of skill, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of
the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to the Board Diversity
Policy and the Nomination Policy to nominate suitably qualified candidates
to the Board for consideration and make recommendations on the
appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of
any existing member(s) of the Board.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy
and the Board will review the above policies, as appropriate, to ensure
their effectiveness.
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EEERES

BOARD COMPOSITION (continued) EERAEK @

Board Diversity EERMES L

The following charts show the diversity of the Board as of the date of this TFXRBIINAREAPEZEHZZ It :
report:

Board Composition

8666 80 666 bbdE SEEE 56EG
8886 &8 838 & &8
&

Male ; Female 50 or below ; Over 50 5 years or below Over 5 years

E2lcd pogid 503K A T 5088 A = 5 FHIAT 5FAE

Experience or Expertise

ERNERAR

Construction Corporate Accounting Company
25 Management and Finance Secretarial

Supply Chain

LB G Management

L3EE B RAY AARE o fEsEEE

Property Merger and Investment Retail
Development Acquisition and Financing Management
YR g R &0 RERRME ZEEE
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EXERERS

DIRECTORS' ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT EEHFESERZTE
MEETINGS

During the Year, the Company had held four board meetings and one RAFER AAGRITTHAEERSE
general meeting. The attendance records of each member of the Board K&—ABERE -ZE=RPLkEEFRE LS
and Board committees at the respective meetings during the Year are set @& {EARK BN AFE N H FHE S % 2 8%
out below: AT :

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held
HEEERY BUEENY

Audit Nomination  Remuneration Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EZR ENZEE REZEE FMzEe BRREF

Directors 23 -f 23 o e

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman) YERE(ZE) 44 = W = "
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry (Deputy Chaiman) — HEERE (F1E) 444 = = = 17
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Y- AHLIRM

(Chief Executive Officer) (178 4%) 444 = = = 7
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant Py & Sika

(Chief Financial Officer and (BRYFE#

Company Secretary) ReJfE) 44 - - - n
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina FEMLL 414 - - - 1/1
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee Eiaia/ME 34 m Wy = 0
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley' BEBEL 44 22 i = 1/1
Ir Dr. Wong Nai Keung, Philco? ERHGET TR n S = = =

Independent Non-executive Directors B FH7ES

Mr. Wu Willam Wai Leung HEREE 44 M i N N
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt WhEEE 44 m Wy N N
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang?® EELE 44 22 - 11 1/1
Dr. Yen Gordon BEREL 20 S = = =

1 Re-designated from INED to NED on 15 September 2021 1 R2021F9AR1SHABY IFATEST AT HIER

TES

2 Resigned as NED on 17 July 2021 2 R2021F7 17 B EERITES

3 Appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee on 15 September 2021 g 2021569 15AZ T AREZEEKE

4 Appointed as INED and a member of the Nomination Committee on 15 September 4 R2021F9R1SBEEEABIYENTESERIES

2021 ZEEgKE

TN A RRERAERAT  2021/22F & 93
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EEERES

DIRECTORS' CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company's expense. All Directors are regularly provided with information
in respect of the Group’s latest business development and the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements to facilitate their effective performance
of directors’ duties and ensure compliance and maintenance of good
corporate governance practices. During the Year, all Directors had
participated in seminars and/or studied materials on the following topics
for developing and refreshing their knowledge and skills. The Company
has received from all Directors their respective training records for the Year.

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic TELE

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry REERE

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick BB TR

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant RELEEE

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina FEMRZT

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee mta/ A

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley BREBE L

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung AR LA

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt MEELEE

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang (CEREDH:S

Dr. Yen Gordon EE S E T
Note:

(a) Corporate Governance
(b) Regulatory

(c) Management

(d) Finance
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EEERES

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

During the Year, the Board had been led by the Chairman, Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic and the role of Chief Executive Officer is performed by
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the chief executive. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board while
the chief executive is responsible for managing the Group's business.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Management Committee and the Executive Committee. The respective
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting terms than those
set out in the CG Code and are available on the Company’s website. All
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

Management Committee

The Management Committee was established in April 1993. It operates as
a general management committee with overall delegated authority from
the Board in order to increase the efficiency for the business decision and
facilitate the approval of certain corporate actions.

As at the date of this report, the Management Committee comprises four
members, all of whom are Executive Directors.

Members of the Management Committee:

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established in March 2007 to assist the
Management Committee in the running of the day-to-day business of the
Company. It is responsible for the development and implementation of the
business plans for corporate and business units. The Executive Committee
is also supported by the heads of Project Management, cascading
performance management down to project level.
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EEERES

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Executive Committee (continued)

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprises four
members, all of whom are Executive Directors.

Members of the Executive Committee:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was formed in April 2005. The primary
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are, inter alia, to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies and structure
for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management of the Group
and determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages
of individual Executive Directors and the senior management of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
members, all of whom are INEDs.

Members of the Remuneration Committee:

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt (Chairman)
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee assessed the performance
and approved the remuneration packages of and the grant of share
options to Executive Directors and senior management of the Group,
recommended the remuneration of NED and INED and the grant of share
options to NEDs and INEDs to the Board for approval.

Emolument Policy for Directors

The Directors’ emoluments are in line with market practice. The Group
adopted the following main principles in determining the Directors’
remuneration:

. No individual should determine his/her own remuneration;

o Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with whom
the Group competes for human resources; and

o Remuneration should reflect performance and responsibility with a
view to motivating and retaining high performing individuals and
enhancing the value of the Company to the Shareholders.
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EEERRS

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

Emolument Policy for Directors (continued)

In addition to the basic salaries, the Share Option Scheme and the Share
Award Scheme have been adopted for rewarding and retaining Directors
for the continual operation and development of the Group.

Details of the emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in
Note 10 to the financial statements of this annual report. The annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group by
band for the Year is set out below:

HK$2,000,000 or below 2,000,000/ 708k LA T~
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000

HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was formed in April 2005. The responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee are, inter alia, to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
the succession planning for Directors, to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and to ensure fair and transparent procedures
for the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

In case of necessity, the Nomination Committee will propose candidates
for appointment to the Board for consideration and the Board will review
the qualifications of the relevant candidates for determining the suitability
to the Group on the basis of his/her qualifications, experience and
background. The decision of appointing a director must be approved by
the Board and all Board members’ appointments will be based on merit
while taking into account diversity.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises seven
members, consisting of an Executive Director, two NEDs and four INEDs.

2,000,001/ 7T Z&3,000,000 7 7T
3,000,001 7T %4,000,000 7 7T
4,000,001% 7T, 25,000,000 /& 7T
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EEERES

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Members of the Nomination Committee:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Dr. Yen Gordon

The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
performed the measurable objectives assessment for the year ended
31 March 2021;

(i)  assessing the independence of the INEDs;

(i) recommending the retiring Directors who offered themselves for
re-election at the 2021 annual general meeting for Shareholders’
approval;

(iv)  considering the re-designation of the INED to NED; and

(v)  considering the appointment of the INED.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in December 1998. The Audit
Committee provides an important link between the Board and the
Company's external auditor in matters coming within the scope of the
Group’s audit. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial and accounting policies and practices of the
Group. It also reviews the effectiveness of both the external audit and
internal controls and risk management system.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises five
members, consisting of two NEDs and three INEDs with its chairman
possessing appropriate professional qualification, accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
Members of the Audit Committee:

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung (Chairman)
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

reviewing the annual report and the annual results announcement
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval;

reviewing the external auditor's independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process, with a recommendation to the
Board for the re-appointment of the external auditor at the 2021
annual general meeting;

approving the remuneration and the terms of engagement letters for
the purpose of appointing the external auditor in connection with
the statutory audit and review of the results announcement by the
external auditor;

reviewing the ESG report of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021, with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

reviewing the interim report and the interim results announcement
of the Group for the six months ended 30 September 2021, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval; and

overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control procedures and reviewing the
report of the internal control function on the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.
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EEERES

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control and conducts
review on the effectiveness of the internal control of the Group, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

Role of the Board

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility in ensuring and reviewing
the effectiveness of the systems of internal controls, risk management and
legal and regulatory compliance of the Group in order to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

Internal Controls and Risk Management

The Board has put in place policies and procedures, including policies for
delegation of authority clearly defining the limits of authorities designated
to specified positions within the Group. Such policies and procedures set
out the framework for the risk management and internal control systems
for adoption throughout the Group. To ensure that the systems in place
are adequate and address the existing weaknesses in implementation, the
Executive Directors, with the assistance of the executive board of different
business divisions, review the existing policies and practices and issue
directives from time to time to highlight the specific issues and concerns in
order to achieve ongoing improvement on the governance practices within
the Group. The Executive Directors also approve operational and financial
reports, business plans and budgets provided by management of each
business division at regular meetings.

Executive Directors and senior management of the Group are appointed
to the boards of all operating subsidiaries and associated companies of
material importance in order to monitor the operation of these companies.
They attend board meetings and participate in significant decision making
process on reviewing and approving financial budgets, establishing
business plans and controlling performance targets with associated risks
identified. The management teams of different business divisions are
accountable for the performance of their respective divisions on a day-
to-day basis. The Executive Directors review the financial and operational
reports from division management regularly to monitor the performance
and assess the significant risk exposure of the subsidiaries.
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EEERES

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
Internal Controls and Risk Management (continued)

The Group’s Finance Department reports to the Board in respect of
overseeing the financial reporting and control systems for all subsidiaries
and associated companies of the Company. The business segments
compile annual budgets for review by the Group’s finance function and
the consolidated annual budgets are presented to the Executive Directors
for approval. The Executive Directors also hold regular meetings with the
management team of business divisions to review the cashflow position
of the Group, consider material ad-hoc projects which require additional
operating or capital expenditure, and make decisions on significant
investment and lending activities. Payment approval is subject to control of
the limits of authorities clearly setting out the authority with reference to
the specified positions of the relevant personnel.

Legal and Regulatory Compliance

The Contracts and Legal Department is responsible for preparing, reviewing
and endorsing all material contracts entered into by Group companies in
order to safeguard the interests of the Group against legal risks. It also
oversees the regulatory compliance matters of all Group companies in the
environment of their business operations.

Besides, the Company Secretarial Department is in charge of corporate
secretarial documentation of Group companies and overseeing compliance
matters in relation to the Listing Rules and the relevant corporate laws and
regulations of different jurisdictions.

External legal advisors are engaged to advise the Group on important legal
matters and compliance issues when necessary.

Audit Committee and Internal Audit Function

The Company has established an internal audit function. The internal
audit function conducts internal audit on different business divisions and
functions within the Group on an ongoing basis to assess the effectiveness
and identify weaknesses in the existing internal control, legal and
regulatory compliance and risk management systems of the Group. In
the event that defects are identified, the internal audit function engages
in discussions with the management and recommends suggestions for
improvement.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
Audit Committee and Internal Audit Function (continued)

Delegated by the Board, the Audit Committee reviews the internal audit
report prepared by the internal audit function twice every year. Reviews
have been conducted on the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems during the Year and the Board and the Audit Committee are
satisfied that the Group's risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate.

Whilst these policies and procedures are designed to manage the risks
that could adversely impact the ability of the Group to achieve its
business objectives, they do not eliminate such risks and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss
or non-compliance.

Handling of Inside Information

The Group has adopted a policy in relation to handling of inside
information in compliance with the SFO. Employees should preserve
the confidentiality of any inside information according to the manner
specified in the policy and the “Code of Employee Conduct and Business
Ethics” contained in the Staff Handbook. The Group has also adopted
the pre-clearance procedures on dealing in the Company’s securities
and notified Directors and relevant employees of restrictions on dealing
in the Company's securities during blackout periods to prevent possible
mishandling of inside information within the Group.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of services provided by Ernst & Young (“EY")
is analysed as follows:
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Annual audit services FEEZRE 5,280

Non-audit services* IEE LIRS * 1,760
7,040

* Such non-audit services include agreed-upon procedures on preliminary — * ZENBEZRBGEOEAEEEFREBEZOL RS

announcement of annual results, transaction advisory, tax advisory and compliance
services.
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EEERES

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR ACCOUNTS

Statements of the Directors’ responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements and the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities are set out in the Independent Auditor's Report of this
annual report.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibility to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim
reports and other financial disclosures required by the Listing Rules as well
as reports to regulators and information disclosed pursuant to statutory
requirements.

As at 31 March 2022, the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors have prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis. The management has provided to the Board the
necessary explanation and information to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the financial statements of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant, the Company Secretary,
undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Requisitioning a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
have rights to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition, which must
be signed by the requisitionist(s). The requisition must be deposited at the
registered office of the Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda (the “Registered Office”) for the attention
of the Company Secretary. To ensure that the requisition is received by
the Company at the earliest opportunity, a copy of the signed requisition
should also be deposited at the head office of the Company in Hong Kong
at C1, 5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1, 601-603
Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Head
Office”) for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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EEERES

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies
Act”), Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-twentieth of the total voting right at general meetings of
the Company or not less than one hundred Shareholders may provide a
written requisition to the Company stating the resolution intended to be
proceeded at the general meeting. The requisition must be deposited at
the Registered Office for the attention of the Company Secretary. To ensure
that the requisition is received by the Company at the earliest opportunity,
a copy of the signed requisition should also be deposited at the Head
Office for the attention of the Company Secretary.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of the Company
by Shareholders, Shareholders may refer to the procedures available on the
Company's website.

Shareholders can also refer to the detailed requirements and procedures as
set forth in the relevant sections of the Companies Act and the Bye-laws
when making any requisitions or proposals for transaction at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and
comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and activities.
The Company’s annual and interim reports and circulars are printed and
sent to all Shareholders. Moreover, announcements, circulars, publications
and press releases of the Company are published on the Company’s
website (www.asiaalliedgroup.com). The Company’s website disseminates
corporate information and other relevant financial and non-financial
information electronically on a timely basis.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with Shareholders and encourages the Directors,
the members of the Board committees and senior management of the
Group to attend and answer questions raised by Shareholders at the
general meetings.

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with Shareholders and other stakeholders. The
Shareholders Communication Policy has been updated and adopted for
ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with ready, equal and timely
access to balanced and understandable information about the Company
in order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow Shareholders to engage actively with the Company.
The Shareholders Communication Policy is available on the Company’s
website and will be reviewed by the Board from time to time to reflect
current best practice in communications with Shareholders.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

During the Year, the Company has implemented the Shareholders
Communication Policy effectively by maintaining an on-going dialogue
with Shareholders, and ensuring timely dissemination of information to
Shareholders, mainly through the Company’s announcements, results
announcements, interim and annual reports, general meeting(s), as well as
by making available all the disclosures published to the Stock Exchange’s
website and the corporate communications on the Company’s website.

SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
the Company's share registrars. The addresses of the Company’s share
registrars are set out in the section headed “CORPORATE INFORMATION"
of this annual report. Shareholders may at any time make a request
for the Company’s information to the extent that such information
is publicly available. Shareholders may also send written enquiries or
requests to the Head Office or by fax to (852) 3798 5700 or by email to
info@asiaalliedgroup.com for the attention of the Company Secretary.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) for the Company with effect from 1 March 2019 which setting
out the principles and guidelines to provide the Shareholders with regular
dividend.

Subject to the Bye-laws and the statutory requirements, the Company
shall maintain a sustainable and steady profit distribution policy. Under the
Dividend Policy, the Board targets to pay dividends to the Shareholders
in an aggregate annual amount of approximately 30% of the annual
consolidated net profit attributable to the Shareholders.

In proposing distribution of dividend, the Board will take into consideration
of the following factors:

the long-term interest of the Group;
o the general interest of all the Shareholders;
o the sustainable development of the Group;

° the earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital requirement and
distributable reserves of the Group; and

o any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

The Board has the sole discretion to recommend/not to recommend final
dividend to the Shareholders for approval and to declare/not to declare any
other dividend, including but not limited to interim dividend and/or special
dividends, after taking into consideration the factors as stated above.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-BRIBERY POLICY

The Group is committed to upholding high standards of business integrity,
honesty and transparency in all business dealings. It is in all interest of the
Company to ensure that any inappropriate behavior or malpractice that
compromise the interest of the shareholders, investors, customers and
the wider public does not occur. In line with this commitment to maintain
high ethical standards, the Company has adopted an anti-fraud and anti-
bribery policy which setting out a zero-tolerance approach against all forms
of fraud, bribery and corruption, and comply with all applicable laws and
regulatory requirements.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

To achieve and maintain the highest standards of openness, probity and
accountability, employees at all levels are expected to conduct themselves
with integrity, impartiality and honesty. The Company hence has devised a
whistleblowing policy for all employees and relevant third parties who deal
with the Group, which setting the guideline for reporting on irregularities
found at work. The Group ensures that proper arrangements are in
place for the fair and independent investigation of such matters and for
appropriate follow-up action. The identity of each whistleblower and all
information provided in connection with a whistleblowing report will be
treated with the strict confidence.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has adopted a new Bye-laws with respect
to allow general meetings of the Company to be held as a hybrid meetings
or electronic meetings where Shareholders may attend by electronic means
in addition to or in place of attending physical meetings in person. The
amendment was approved by Shareholders in the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 1 September 2021. Details of the amendment are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 23 July 2021. An up-to-date
version of the Bye-laws is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
ESRERS

The Board are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in civil engineering, electrical and mechanical
engineering, foundation and building construction work, property
development and assets leasing, professional services (including provision
of security, tunnel and other facility management services), non-franchised
bus services and manufacturing of PET radiopharmaceuticals.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 134
and 135.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has approved and adopted a Dividend Policy. Depending on the
financial conditions of the Group and the conditions and factors as set out
in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the
Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial year
will be subject to the Shareholders’ approval. Details of the Dividend Policy
have been disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.10 cents per share for the Year (the “Final Dividend”) (2020/21:
Nil), amounting to approximately HK$19.8 million (2020/21: Nil), to the
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 5 September 2022. The proposed Final Dividend will be
paid on 13 September 2022 subject to approval by the Shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM"). Together with
the interim dividend of HKO0.88 cent per share paid in January 2022, the
proposed Final Dividend will result in a full-year dividend of HK1.98 cents
for the Year per share (2020/21: HK0.87 cent).
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ESREE

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the AGM and the entitlement of the proposed Final Dividend (subject to
approval of the Shareholders at the AGM), the register of members of the
Company will be closed during the following periods respectively:

TEMERDBFERLFRE

AEEEREREBFARLNG LRELE
o REREREORBRE 2 AR (A
BRERREBEAR L)  ARABH
BIR T 5 BRI (IR R B P B T4

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM

AEEEFRRBEAEINRELREZER

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration

RERRG B P X AEE R KL R R

4:30 p.m. on Monday,

22 August 2022
202298A22H (EH¥—)
TF4EF309

Closure of register of members

EEnEknBFELTE

Tuesday, 23 August 2022 to
Friday, 26 August 2022
(both days inclusive)
2022F8H23R (E2H=) =&
20224F8A26R (EH#F)
(BREEEMX)

For determining the entitlement of the proposed Final Dividend

REETREREEBNRIRE ZER

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration

B i P XM LAVE S FC B A 12 FRE BR

4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
31 August 2022
202298A31H (EH#=)
485305

Closure of register of members

EiEmERnBFPERTE

Thursday, 1 September 2022 to
Monday, 5 September 2022
(both days inclusive)
2022F9R1H (28m) =
202299 A5H (28—)
(BEERMX)

In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM and be eligible for
the entitlement to the proposed Final Dividend, all completed transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be
lodged with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company, Tricor
Secretaries Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong for registration not later than the respective latest time as
stated above for registration.
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EZRBE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

A review of the business and the future development of the Group, its
principal risks and uncertainties and an analysis of its performance for the
Year are provided in the sections headed “CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT"
set out on pages 13 and 14 and “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS” set out on pages 15 to 37.

The Group's environmental policies and performance, compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations as well as its relationships with employees,
customers and suppliers and other significant stakeholders are discussed
in the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT" set out on pages 38 to 74.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 298.

EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

The Company did not conduct any fund raising activities on issue of equity
securities during the Year.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the revalued investment properties of the Group as at 31 March
2022 are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the Year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in Note 37 to the financial statements.
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ESREE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3 September 2012, the
Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme.

Purposes

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to provide the directors and
employees of, and technical, financial or corporate managerial advisers
and consultants to the Company and its subsidiaries with the opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company, and to encourage the
grantees of options to work towards enhancing the value of and for the
benefit of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Eligible Participants

The eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme include (i) any full
time employee of the Company or of any subsidiary; (ii) directors (including
non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company or of any subsidiary; (iii) part-time employees of the Company
or of any subsidiary with weekly work hours of 15 hours or above; and
(iv) advisors and consultants to the Company or to any subsidiary in the
technical, financial or corporate managerial aspects.

Scheme Mandate Limit

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all the
share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company must not exceed 10% of
the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of passing the ordinary
resolution of the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit under the
Share Option Scheme on 11 December 2017 (i.e. 187,553,384 Shares) (the
“Refreshment”). Since the Refreshment, on 31 March 2022, the Company
offered to grant a total of 40,000,000 share options of which 38,000,000
share options had been accepted.

Furthermore, the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. As at
the date of this report, the Company had 38,000,000 outstanding share
options granted and remaining unexercised under the Share Option
Scheme, representing approximately 2.11% of the issued Shares.

Maximum Entitlement

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to any eligible participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the total number of Shares in issue without separate approval from the
Shareholders.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Option Period

The option period of a particular option is the period during which the
option can be exercised. Such period is notified by the Board to each
grantee at the time of making an offer. In any event, the option period
shall not expire later than 10 years from the date of grant.

Acceptance of Options

The grantee of options shall pay HK$1 in favour of the Company by way
of consideration for the grant of options within 30 days from the date of
offer.

Exercise Price

The exercise price of an option shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion and shall be no less than the highest of: (i) the closing
price per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii)
the average closing price per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value per share.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to early termination of the Share Option Scheme in accordance
with the terms thereof, the Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for
a period of 10 years commencing on 3 September 2012 (i.e. the adoption
date of the Share Option Scheme).

Movements of Share Options

Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme during the Year were as follows:
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Number of share options

BRERE

Exercise Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding

Name or price as at during during as at

category of grantees Date of grant (HK$) Vesting date Exercise period 01/04/2021 the Year the Year  31/03/2022

R2021% 20225

IR 4718 FEER FEER 3A31R

AR AR EREE eizh (Br) BEBRH T HRITRE B P R IT
Directors:

EF:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic* ~ 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 900,000 - (900,000) -

YEREr 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 900,000 - (900,000) =

05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 1,200,000 - (1,200,000 -

31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 900,000 - 900,000

31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 900,000 - 900,000

31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 1,200,000 - 1,200,000

DMEEEEIERABERAR 2021226 %%
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-
SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BRESTE (2
Movements of Share Options (continued) BREZESE &
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding
Name or price as at during during as at
category of grantees Date of grant (HK$) Vesting date Exercise period 01/04/2021 the Year the Year  31/03/2022
R20214 R2022&
4818 KEER EEER 38318
ABAEEZHER BEAH (Fr) BEAH T8 i K AT 48 R XM 18 RATAE
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 900,000 - (900,000) =
hEELE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 900,000 = (900,000) =
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 1,200,000 - (1,200,000) =
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 = 900,000 = 900,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 900,000 = 900,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick* ~ 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 = 900,000 = 900,000
YA IRAM 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 = 900,000 = 900,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant  05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 900,000 - (900,000) =
REREE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 900,000 = (900,000) =
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 1,200,000 - (1,200,000) =
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 = 900,000 = 900,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 900,000 = 900,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina* 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 360,000 = (360,000) =
FERTL 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 360,000 = (360,000) =
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 480,000 = (480,000) =
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 600,000 = 600,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 = 600,000 = 600,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 = 800,000 = 800,000
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee  31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 = 300,000 = 300,000
Fiafa/MA 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 300,000 = 300,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 = 400,000 = 400,000
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 = 300,000 = 300,000
BREBEL 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 = 300,000 = 300,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 = 400,000 = 400,000
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 180,000 - (180,000) -
HEREE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 180,000 = (180,000) =
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 240,000 = (240,000) =
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 = 300,000 = 300,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 300,000 = 300,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 = 400,000 = 400,000
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 180,000 = (180,000) =
WEELE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 180,000 = (180,000) =
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 240,000 - (240,000) =
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 300,000 = 300,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 = 300,000 = 300,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 = 400,000 = 400,000
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BIRERTE (=
Movements of Share Options (continued) BREZESE &
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding
Name or price as at during during as at
category of grantees Date of grant (HK$) Vesting date Exercise period 01/04/2021 the Year the Year  31/03/2022
R2021% R20225F
TEE 4818 EEER FEER 3A31A
ARAEARER REBH Er) BRAH k2 CESLd R P i R AT B
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 180,000 - (180,000) -
fABELEE 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 180,000 - (180,000) -
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 240,000 = (240,000) -
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 300,000 - 300,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 300,000 - 300,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 400,000 - 400,000
Dr. Yen Gordon 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 300,000 - 300,000
BEHEL 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 = 300,000 - 300,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 400,000 - 400,000

12,000,000 20,000,000  (12,000,000) 20,000,000

Directors’ associate:
BEEIHEA
Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita* ~ 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 450,000 - 450,000
FY-LILH 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 450,000 - 450,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 600,000 - 600,000
- 1,500,000 - 1,500,000
Other employees:
AtES -
In aggregate 05/12/2017 1.02 05/12/2018 05/12/2018-04/12/2021 4,314,000 - (4,314,000 -
a# 05/12/2019 05/12/2019-04/12/2021 4,314,000 - (4,314,000 -
05/12/2020 05/12/2020-04/12/2021 5,752,000 - (5,752,000) -
31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 - 4,950,000 - 4,950,000
31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 - 4,950,000 - 4,950,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 - 6,600,000 - 6,600,000
14,380,000 16,500,000  (14,380,000) 16,500,000
Total
@ 26,380,000 38,000,000 (26,380,000) 38,000,000

Number of options exercisable at the end of the Year

REAFREREAFTE 2 BREYE -

Weighted average exercise price (HK$ per share)

mEFHTER BT (8R)) 0.60

* Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina are also substantial ~ * TEAERTFERZEINRAARRZEER

and controlling shareholders of the Company, and Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, ERBRR My —ELE ZF-AELIRM
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat FTERZLIRTE - LEXRTIRUERBEA
Sum, Rita are associates of each other (within the meanings as defined under the (BB LETRBFREZEE) -

Listing Rules).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Movements of Share Options (continued)

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant as
quoted on the Stock Exchange was HK$0.60 per share.

Save as disclosed above, no share options were exercised or cancelled
during the Year.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 39 to the
financial statements.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board has adopted the Share Award Scheme, pursuant to which the
Company may grant to eligible participants restricted Shares. A summary
of the Share Award Scheme is set out as below:

Purposes

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to encourage and retain
selected participants (the “Selected Participant(s)”), including any eligible
person selected by the administration committee of the Share Award
Scheme in accordance with the terms of and entitled to receive a grant
under the Share Award Scheme, to work with the Company and to provide
incentive for them to achieve performance goals with a view to achieving
the objectives of increasing the value of the Company and aligning the
interests of the Selected Participants directly to the Shareholders through
ownership of Shares.

Eligible Persons

The eligible persons under the Share Award Scheme include individuals
being a director (including executive and non-executive director), officer or
employee of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Duration

Subject to any early termination of the Share Award Scheme and without
prejudicing the subsisting rights of any Selected Participant, the Share
Award Scheme shall be valid for the period of 10 years commencing on
1 August 2017 (i.e. the adoption date of the Share Award Scheme).

Maximum Limit

The maximum number of Shares administered under the Share Award
Scheme shall not reach 10% or more of the Company’s issued share
capital from time to time.

Movements of Restricted Shares

No restricted Shares were granted by the Company or vested during the
Year. Further details of the restricted Shares are set out in Note 38 to the
financial statements.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

To enable the employees to have a stake in the investment in the Group,
the Group in December 2020 had separately entered into the sale and
purchase agreement (the “Subsidiary SPA”) with two directors (one of
which is Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, the Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company) and six employees of a subsidiary (the
“Relevant Subsidiary”) (collectively, the “Relevant Staff”) for disposal of
certain shares of the Relevant Subsidiary to the Relevant Staff. Upon the
fulfillment of certain performance conditions under the Subsidiary SPA,
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick shall acquire 3.5% equity interest in the
Relevant Subsidiary at the consideration of approximately HK$1.7 million
(the "Stake Investment”).

Other than the Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and the
Stake Investment disclosed above, at no time during the Year and at
the end of the Year was the Company or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Details of the Group's borrowings are set out in Note 34 to the financial
statements.

Interest capitalised by the Group during the Year is set out in Note 8 to the
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT OPERATIONS, JOINT
VENTURE AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint operations, joint
venture and associates as at 31 March 2022 are set out in Notes 50, 51,
52 and 53 to the financial statements respectively.

BERODIESLZH

AEEBET2HAERNRAERE AEER
2020612 A E R —FEWE AR ([
MEAR])MMUES (AR —(ANTE
ERARNRZITHRAHEY —FHiEL TEM)
FAfMEE (B IHEET])EIIRNHE
Emz([MBAREERZ]) UL EHE
MBARMAETRO FTHEEI -FWEBEAR
AIEBEWHZ FTE TRBGMHEKRRE & —
Foig - T2 A0 A LA (B 491,700,0007% T 8
B AN B R F3.5% WA RS ([BAE
&)

B b PR R 2 sk B 8 %) 2R
FHEI R AR E N AR AR EAEFIERA
A B ARRERNERRALERAFE
A E RN AFERERTLEAR K
FEEZTRABARNRBSEMEMEAERE
B RESFMEIGE S -

BRRABERL
AR S RHE RN B REN 534 -

RAFER RNREBEZHNBENMCEN M
AR EES

MEAT SEEK SEAR
K EiE N T)

MR2022F3A318  ARRIZE BB AR
ARER - SENARBE NG ZEBD R

P R KM 5E50 51 52853 °

Al

DMNEEERIERAERADT 2021/22F 8

115



Directors’ Report

ESR®S

RESERVES

The Company's reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at
31 March 2022 were as follows:

R
M2022F3A318  AAR A5 IR FRRE
ZREENT

HK$°000
FET

Contributed surplus AR 52,552
Retained earnings R & A 115,132
Total et 167,684

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 56 to the financial statements and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 139 and 140
respectively.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick sp
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley 88s Jp
(re-designated from INED to NED on 15 September 2021)

Ir Dr. Wong Nai Keung, Philco (resigned on 17 July 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Dr. Yen Gordon (appointed on 15 September 2021)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with Bye-laws 86(2) and 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Pang
Yat Ting, Dominic, Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant, Madam Li Wai Hang,
Christina and Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang will retire from office by rotation
at the AGM and Dr. Yen Gordon, who was appointed as an INED by the
Board as an addition to the Board, will retire from office at the AGM. All
the retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Ir Dr. Wong Nai Keung, Philco resigned as a NED on 17 July 2021 in order
to pursue his own professional interests. Ir Dr. Wong Nai Keung, Philco has
confirmed to the Board that he has no disagreement with the Board and
there is no matter in relation to his resignation that needs to be brought to
the attention of the Shareholders and the Stock Exchange.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of the INEDs are independent under the Listing
Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or in existence during the Year.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid individuals
in the Group are set out in Notes 10 and 11 to the financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in
force throughout the Year.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover to protect the
Directors from possible legal actions against them.
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ESR®S

EERFETHRAERRKRG
MHERORESZ2EERAR

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

R2022F3A31H A RRBEFEHFLHPE
BB EIS2HEMEMEF 2Bz i tr:
EERARBEBTHRABRARRHEMS
AR EE (T& REBEHREEEMNEXVED)
2R - HRERD REHF e R BIE
ESFAVERAA R RERATHE 2R T

As at 31 March 2022, the interests of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as

follows:
Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company's issued
Name of Directors Capacity shares held shares held share capital
2] a8 EEDF
EEps EL) ZEREAR HERGEE BETREAEL T
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Beneficial owner - 3,000,000 (L) 0.16% (L)
Y—RERE ERBEBA
Interests of controlled corporation 1,064,604,705 (L) 406,000,000 (L) 81.58% (L)
REEE g
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry Beneficial owner - 3,000,000 (L) 0.16% (L)
REERE ExBEBA
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Beneficial owner 7,326,000 (L) 3,000,000 (L) 0.57% (L)
Y-AELIREA EREBA
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant  Beneficial owner - 3,000,000 (L) 0.16% (L)
RELIELE ExBEBA
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina  Beneficial owner 11,294,875 (L) 2,000,000 (L) 0.73% (L)
ZERTL ExEBA
Interests of controlled corporation 1,064,604,705 (L) 406,000,000 (L) 81.58% (L)

RELEE RS

Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
EEta A ERBAA
Beneficiary of a trust 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (S) 9.21% (L)
ERERHEA 9.21% (5)
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ESRES

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF EERTETHAERRS
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, HEBERORESXEZRAE
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (&)
(continued)
Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company's issued
Name of Directors Capacity shares held shares held share capital
2] a8 EARAT
EEps £t ZEREAR HERGEE BRETREAELT
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley Beneficial owner 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
BEBEL ERBEBEA
Interests of controlled corporation 4 80,000,000 (L) 80,000,000 (S) 4.44% (L)
XEEEER 4.44% (S)
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung Beneficial owner 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
HEREE EREBEA
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt Beneficial owner 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
WhERE ExEBA
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang Beneficial owner 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
AEELE ERBBEA
Dr. Yen Gordon Beneficial owner 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
BE#EL EREBA
Interests of controlled corporation 5 1,200,000 (L) - 0.07% (L)

RELEE R

(L): Long Position L: e

(S): Short Position () KA

Notes: MsE

1. Details of the underlying shares of the Company held by the Directors are set out 1. EERBEZARABEBERGOZFBERN EX

in the above section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME". [BERRHERH &) — &

2. GT Winners was owned as to 45% by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and 45% by 2. TELERTERLZTZEHESBGT Winners

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina. By virtue of the SFO, each of them was deemed to 45% IR RE - IRIBEF KRB ERM - HEF B HAR
be interested in the ordinary shares/underlying shares of the Company in which GT BIEAGT Winners BB AR BIEEB R 2
Winners had interest or was deemed to have interest. The details of such interests ARRAEBRSKAEERD Z 2 GT Winners
of GT Winners are set out in the following section headed “INTERESTS AND EHARRHBRENTXEFZRFRRMN RE
SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING BRI 2 S ROKA | —Hfi-

SHARES”.
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ESREE

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

3. The shares were beneficially owned by Best Manage Holdings Limited (“Best
Manage”). Best Manage is wholly owned by Brite-Tech Research Company Limited
which is in turn wholly owned by Surplus Assets Limited. Surplus Assets Limited
is wholly owned by Credit Suisse Trust Limited as the trustee of The Allan Wong
2011 Trust, a discretionary trust of which Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee is one of the
beneficiaries. She also is one of the directors of Best Manage. By virtue of the SFO,
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee was deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares/
underlying shares of the Company in which Best Manage had interest or was
deemed to have interest.

4. The shares were beneficially owned by S.A.S. Investment Company Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 01184), in which Dr. Yim Yuk
Lun, Stanley is a director and controlled by him. By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Yim Yuk
Lun, Stanley was deemed to be interested in such shares.

5. The shares were held by Oakland Capital Limited, a company controlled by Dr. Yen
Gordon. By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Yen Gordon was deemed to be interested in such
shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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Directors’ Report

ESRES

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF FERRRBRORBEER®D 2
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND ®#zH= KX &
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the following Shareholders (other than Directors or #2022 3A31H AR AR EZEALHE
chief executive of the Company) were recorded in the register kept by the &I 33615 R EMEF 2 &M 2ok
Company under Section 336 of the SFO as being interested or deemed to A TIXER (EFH A A A EBTHABKRIN
have interest in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company: RARRDBEITRAREE SR BEES%

A bR
Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company's issued
Name of Shareholders Capacity shares held shares held share capital
B¥E ¥E - N
BRREE 2B L) I EERHA HERAHE BRTREAESR
GT Winners Beneficial owner 1 1,064,604,705 (L) 406,000,000 (L) 81.58% (L)
EREBEA
Best Manage Beneficial owner 2 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (S) 9.21% (L)
ERBAA 9.21% (5)
Brite-Tech Research Company Interests of controlled corporation 2 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (S) 9.21% (L)
Limited REEE g 9.21% (5)
Surplus Assets Limited Interests of controlled corporation 2 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (S) 9.21% (L)
XEEEER 9.21% (5)
Credit Suisse Trust Limited Trustee 2 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (S) 9.21% (L)
A 9.21% (5)
(): Long position L) :#F%&
(S): Short position (S) kA
Notes: B 5E -

1. These represent (i) a beneficial interest in 1,064,604,705 ordinary shares of the ZERSEIEABAGT Winners EER A () R

Company, representing approximately 59.06% of the issued share capital of 1,064,604, 705 A A Bl E @R 2 EmEm - H
the Company; (i) a beneficial interest in 406,000,000 underlying shares of the ERAAREHEITRALS59.06% : R(i)IRIEE
Company pursuant to certain call and/or option deeds, representing approximately FRE &SR 8 #E R 4 7406,000,0008% 78
22.52% of the issued share capital of the Company, directly held by GT Winners. NAMEERD c EmEn HERARAD BT

A& A #922.52% °
2. The details of such interests of Best Manage are set out in the above section 2. Best Manage A& v HBHNR EX[EER

headed “INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE FETHABRRM HERDREF 2R
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES". KR —Hie
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EFRES

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF FERRRBRORBEER®D 2
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND ®E#z= KX E (&)
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company had not been Bk EXFr#i & 4N - R20224F3 83180 - AR
notified of any other person or corporation (other than Directors or chief — &7 EERF M E b A T 80EE (EH A
executive of the Company) as being interested or deemed to have interests A& BT A BN R AR BIRLD 48
or short positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company which RO FHEEASERAEERBEEF KBS
would fall to be disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under — {& {5 55 XV S8 78 8] 7K 2 &) s Bt <2 P48 58 2 4

Part XV of the SFO. IR E ©
PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE BE HEfIBEEAATZ L
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES e &

During the Year, the Company repurchased 17,450,000 Shares at an RAFE R AN RQ & LAE R E10,271,36078
aggregate consideration of HK$10,271,360 (before expenses) on the Stock 7T (AR&F KBS ) i B 32 A% [2117,450,0008%

Exchange. All repurchased shares were cancelled during the Year. B&fn - FRBRER 2 Rt B R ARFRE A
Particulars of the repurchase during the Year are as follows: MAFERERNETEE 2 ERAT :
Aggregate
Number Highest Lowest consideration
of shares price paid price paid paid (before
Months of share repurchase repurchased per share per share expenses)
i B A% 47 B8R B8R EfAERE
M E R 65z A 4 =] E&E BIKE (RETREAX)
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
2021 20214
April 4 H 610,000 0.60 0.59 360,400
July 7R 4,496,000 0.60 0.55 2,611,140
August 8H 420,000 0.59 0.59 247,800
September 9H 3,914,000 0.60 0.58 2,297,720
October 104 1,206,000 0.60 0.59 721,200
December 12 A 2,110,000 0.60 0.59 1,250,900
2022 20224
January 1A 460,000 0.60 0.59 273,900
February 2R 974,000 0.60 0.60 584,400
March 3R 3,260,000 0.60 0.59 1,923,900
Total T 17,450,000 10,271,360
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EZRBE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES (continued)

The Directors considered that the repurchases were made with a view to
enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company
has maintained sufficient public float throughout the Year as required
under the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions set out in Note 46 to the
financial statements. Save as disclosed above, no related party transaction
constitutes any connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules during the Year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions disclosed in Note 46 to the financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group's business in which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, its holding company, or any subsidiaries of its holding
company was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2022 or at any time
during the Year.
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ESREE

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung, the INED, is an independent non-executive
director of JY Grandmark, which had certain subsidiaries engaged in the
property development business. The Board is of the view that Mr. Wu as
an independent non-executive director of JY Grandmark, is not involved in
its daily operation and therefore it does not compete with the business of
the Group.

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang, the INED, is an executive director of NWS and
a non-executive director of Wai Kee Holdings Limited, both of which had
certain subsidiaries engaged in the construction business. The Board is of
the view that the construction business of both companies is similar to but
in different scale and nature with that of the Group and therefore it does
not compete with the business of the Group.

Each of the Directors is aware of his/her fiduciary duties as Director and
will act in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole
and avoids any conflict of interests between his/her duties as a Director
and his/her personal interests.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors were interested in any
business which competes or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the Group'’s business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 81% of the
Group's total turnover and the turnover attributable to the Group’s largest
customer accounted for approximately 59% of the Group’s total turnover.
The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

The Group’s five largest customers include governmental authorities
and statutory organisations, infrastructure and property developers and
property owners. The credit terms granted to these customers are in line
with those granted to other customers as well as industry practices. The
Group’s management has considered the credit quality of these major
customers and is of the view that none of the relevant trade receivables
is considered doubtful. In determining the credit terms, the Group takes
into account various factors, including the background, financial strength
and track records of credit settlement of the counterparties, in order to
mitigate credit risks. In view of the financial strength and high credit rating
the major customers, the Directors consider that the Group’s exposure to
concentration of credit risk is limited.
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EZRBE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (continued)

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders (which to the
knowledge the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations totalling
approximately HK$1.6 million.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting period are
set out in Note 54 to the financial statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
EY, the auditor of the Company, which will retire at the conclusion of
the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution will be proposed to the Shareholders at the AGM to re-appoint
EY as the auditor of the Company and to authorise the Board to fix their
remuneration.

There has been no other change in the auditor of the Company in the
preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

BB EERS

e
EY:

To the shareholders of Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asia Allied
Infrastructure Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “"Group”) set out on pages 134 to 297, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code"), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB EmRS

e
EY:

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition of construction contracts

The Group’s revenue from the provision of construction work amounted to
HK$6.65 billion for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Contract revenue is recognised over time using the output method, based
on direct measurements of the value of services delivered or surveys of
work performed by the Group.

The recognition of revenue relies on management’s estimate of the final
outcome of each contract, which involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, particularly in forecasting the value of contract
variations, claims and liquidated damages, in estimating the amount of
expected losses and assessing the ability of the Group to deliver services
according to the agreed timetable.
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BB EmRS

e
EY:

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Revenue recognition of construction contracts (continued)

In addition, the Group regularly assesses the possible outcome of
construction contracts based on the latest facts and circumstances relating
to the construction work, and past experience in conducting similar
construction work. When there is a change in the expectation as to when
the outcome of construction contracts can be estimated reliably, the Group
will adjust the amounts of contract revenue accordingly. Such change
constitutes a change in an accounting estimate and involves significant
management estimation and judgement regarding the outcome of a
contract. The effect of any change in an accounting estimate is recognised
prospectively by including it in profit or loss in the current year and future
periods, if appropriate.

Given that the estimation of construction revenue involves significant
management judgement and estimation, we considered this a key audit
matter.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3, 4 and 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we understood, evaluated and tested the
key controls of the Group in respect of revenue recognition of construction
work. We examined the external or internal surveys of work for amounts
of contract revenue recognised and revenue cutoff. We selected material
construction contracts, read their financial budgets and interviewed
the Group's quantity surveyors regarding the preparation and approval
processes of financial budgets of construction contracts and the progress
of work certification by independent surveyors. In addition, we read the
correspondence between the Group and independent surveyors and,
if necessary, obtained professional advice from the dispute resolution
advisors engaged by the contract customers and the Group in respect
of construction work performed. We also assessed the adequacy of the
related disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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e
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Net realisable value of land held for property
development

At 31 March 2022, land held for property development of the Group
amounted to HK$206 million.

The carrying amounts of the land held for property development are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Significant management
judgement is involved in determining the estimated net realisable values of
the land held for property development, including the estimation of selling
prices, costs to be incurred until completion.

Given the sensitivity of the assumptions and the level of judgement
involved, management engaged independent professional valuers to
prepare a feasibility report for the land held for property development of
the Group.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3, 4 and 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained the feasibility report
and assessed the objectivity, competence and independence of the
independent professional valuers. We engaged our internal valuation
specialists to assist us in assessing the bases and assumptions adopted
in the impairment assessments. In addition, our procedures included
discussions with management and the independent professional valuers
about the assumptions and parameters used in estimating the latest selling
prices, costs to be incurred until completion, variable selling expenses and,
as applicable, the feasibility of the Group's property development plan.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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EY:

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is TSANG, Chiu Hang.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2022

BB EBERGEESMBHRRA
AENEE 2

tREZZEBBNERT RMAEEY
AHEEFEMERRNETERERNER
AmEKEREZER  ROIEXBERSE
FHAZEFER RIDEEIERTAHA
MEBEZEEER EBRFLNBERT
i &R FRRERFIRE BB FHEKD
EHARBHEENARN G BIHFRE
TERAERSHEEZER

oy o

LB R BRENETEEARAR
=l

e
J

o

KB BB
BT

&5
2022F6H27H

T A EZIERBR DA 2021/22F 8

133



134

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SFaRmREMZEEmR

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE2022F3A31HIEFE

REVENUE X 6 7,722,064 7,534,258
Cost of sales 85 & KA (7,271,813)  (7,223,267)
Gross profit E7 450,251 310,991
Other income and gains, net H AU A KU %55 58 7 173,698 327,547
Selling expenses HERX (3,463) (4,748)
Administrative expenses TR (494,823) (467,254)
Reversal of provision/(provision) for litigations &F7A 2 B¢ [@ B, (B ) 35(b) 173,760 (272,010)
Other expenses, net H b F5E (99,352) (20,696)
Finance costs & A 8 (72,830) (79,051)
Share of profits of joint ventures B & 2R a)%E 20(b) 562 3,532
Share of profits and losses of associates FE{L B S N B m ) B 1R 21(c) 9,161 14,978
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX MREBLAEF (B518) 9 136,964 (186,711)
Income tax P15t 12 (29,028) (2,374)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR TEERA (BR) 107,936 (189,085)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) HtZ2 @ik, (E#E)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss ZAZHIE]A] SEE #7 77 $B 2 18 25
in subsequent periods: ZIHE -
Exchange differences: PEH =58
Translation of foreign operations BMERINETS 15,781 42,431
Reclassification adjustments for (gains)/ (lz) /BERZENHE
losses included in profit or loss upon: AR (GTAER) -
Sale of property interests through FEiB S —EHE
disposal of a subsidiary NEIHEEEDR 43(a) (38,356) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHWBAT 43(b) - 106
Deregistration of subsidiaries BEE TR E A A - (3,003)
Share of movement in the exchange JE(h—E& & A RIIMNE
fluctuation reserve of a joint venture HEEE 2 20(b) (639) 511
Share of movements in the exchange JFE {5 Bt 4 N B SINEEE O &
fluctuation reserves of associates it 2 & 21(c) 1,716 1,582
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME ASEHM2HE (HIE)
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX ENBREBTZMER
OF NIL (21,498) 41,627
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) AFEE2HEUWzE  (Fi8) A%
FOR THE YEAR 86,438 (147,458)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

SFERmRHMEEER

Year ended 31 March 2022
HZE2022F3A31HLEFE

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR EBEEREERRN (BA) :
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Shareholders of the Company IN/NET 3-8 121,999 (184,506)
Non-controlling interests FEVERR B 2 (14,063) (4,579)
107,936 (189,085)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FE{EAEE2EWE  (FiE)
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: M.
Shareholders of the Company AAE PR 100,501 (142,879)
Non-controlling interests FE7E A 2 (14,063) (4,579)
86,438 (147,458)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ADERREMER HK cents HK cents
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS B, (F#8) B JEANL
OF THE COMPANY 14
Basic and diluted HARE S 6.78 (10.16)

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
n‘7|' = Ejﬁﬂk;ﬂﬁ

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Vs - e R 15 323,874 383,544
Investment properties B 16 11,176 11,256
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17(a) 178,052 181,015
Goodwill EES 18 106,790 122,377
Intangible assets mLAE 19 2,284 =
Investments in joint ventures RELRBZIKE 20 12,272 12,349
Investments in associates REtE R R ZEZE 21 543,900 375,945
Land held for property development FEMERR 2 T 22 163,638 236,149
Debt investments at fair value through BATEGABREERE
profit or loss 28(a) - 3,642
Deferred tax assets RIETHIEE E 36 2,592 1,648
Total non-current assets EMBNE ERRE 1,344,578 1,327,925
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Land held for property development FEMERR 2 T 22 42,676 37,887
Inventories FE 23 3,675 7,503
Contract assets EHNEE 24(a) 3,745,415 3,328,765
Trade receivables 2 5 W IE 25 718,937 783,119
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables T8 1 X1 - &%&ﬁ’r@ﬂgﬂﬂl XIH 26 1,048,986 1,077,936
Income tax recoverable AR FTE 27,803 38,710
Equity investments at fair value through BATEGTABRE CRAKE
profit or loss 28(b) 5,623 1,868
Restricted cash and pledged deposits XRHHE e REERER 29 16,009 14,294
Cash and cash equivalents HeRHRLEEIEER 30 1,440,057 1,556,582
7,049,181 6,846,664
Assets of disposal groups classified as SEARBEHEZLERE
held for sale ZEE 31 70,321 399,947
Total current assets MEBEELR 7,119,502 7,246,611
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SREMBIRRER

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$000
F#ET FET
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables B 5 S 5 IE 32 1,676,559 1,505,112
Contract liabilities AHaE 24(b) 110,494 64,085
Other payables and accruals H b B A5 FRIE K BT FRIE 33 852,850 863,997
Bank borrowings RITIE 34 2,287,112 3,179,019
Lease liabilities HEaE 17(b) 26,729 30,722
Provision for construction works BRETIEZBE 35(a) 115,920 103,695
Provision for litigations FEn 2 B 35(b) 5,000 272,010
Income tax payables FEBFTIS TR 81,444 68,678
5,156,108 6,087,318
Liabilities directly associated with the assets BN E A EINE 2 HELE
of disposal groups classified as held ZEEAEEHEBNAE
for sale 31 63,625 77,068
Total current liabilities mE)BEEE 5,219,733 6,164,386
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 1,899,769 1,082,225
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EE&ERABAE 3,244,347 2,410,150
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Bank borrowings RITEN 34 806,216 36,079
Lease liabilities HEBRE 17(b) 22,391 25,083
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIEAE 36 2,043 3,703
Total non-current liabilities IEREBEREE 830,650 64,865
Net assets BEFE 2,413,697 2,345,285

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SREMBHIRRER

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

2022

HK$'000
FET

EQUITY s
Equity attributable to shareholders of AAFRREMER
the Company

2021
HK$'000
FAET

Issued capital BEITIRA 37(a) 180,268 182,013
Reserves G 40(a) 2,197,195 2,105,993
2,377,463 2,288,006
Non-controlling interests P 36,234 57,279
Total equity R 45 2,413,697 2,345,285
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
Z—E w—H
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

R R

m S E R

Year ended 31 March 2022
HZE2022F3A31HLEFE

Notes

Issued
capital

HKS 000

T2

Share
premium
account

&
HKS 000

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Shares
held under
the share
award
scheme
account

HKS000

Share-based
compensation
reserve

e
HK$ 000

Capital
reseve

HKS 000

Exchange

fluctuation  Retained Non-controling Total

Teserve profits Total interests equity

Hl ag FERER  EagE
HKS000  HKS 00 HKS000  HKS

-
AT

HKS000

At 1 April 2020 R2020F4A17 183,833 760,071 (10,643) 1,242 19,868 (25149) 1523016 2462238 36504 2,498,742
Loss for the year REEER - - - - - - (184506)  (184506) (4579 (189,085)
Other comprehensive incomel(oss) for the year: A £ 2EhE/ (FE):
Exchange differences: ERZR:
Translation of foreign operations BERNER - - - = = 0831 - 0831 = 0431
Redlassifcation adjustments for losses/igains) 18/ (%) 2 E# D8
included in profit or loss pon: BE(GARR):
Disposal of a subsiciary LE-EHEAA 40) - - - - - 106 = 106 = 106
Deregistration of subsidiaries HEERMBAR - - - - - (3,003) - (3,003) = (3,003
Share of movement in the exchange Eh-BagRaNERD
fluctuation reserve of a joint venture BE2EY - - - - - 511 - 511 - 511
Share of movements in the exchange EEBELTNERDEE
fluctuation reserves of associates i L] - = = = = 1,582 = 1,582 = 1,582
Total comprehensive incomel(oss) for the year A E 2 TN/ (BiR) 4% - - - - - MET (1845060 (142,879) (6579 (147458)
Contribution from non-controling equity holders  REMBAAEERRESEA
of subsidiaries LR - - - - - - - - N n
Acquisiion of subsidiaries WEHBAR 426) - - - - - - - - 9750 9750
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon resumption of ~ B A RN EHBEE5/iER
control RANE 2 = = = = = = = = 15,657 15,657
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FHBAR 3) = = = = = = S S (74) (7
Deregisration of a subsidiary bt Ralaaliol PN - - - - (10.40) - 10,240 = = =
Cancelation of repurchased shares HECERRG 37 (1,820) 9.171) - - - - - (10991 - (1091
Equity-ettled share option expense IRAEE BRERR 396) - - - 1,048 - - - 1,048 - 1,048
Other equity-settled share-based payment At RREE 2RO BER
expense DB 9 - - - 1,804 - - - 1,804 - 1,804
Transfer of share-based compensation reserve IR RERERBER () BH
upon forfeiture of share options GiiE - - - (1,004) - = 1,004 = = =
Final 2020 dividend declared BERN0FE XGRS - - - - - - (733) (7,33) - (7.334)
Interim 2021 dividend declred BEREEPERS 3 - - - - - - (15880 (158%0) - (15880
AL31 Match 2001 RUDIE3A31R O3 00 (0BEF B0t 968 TG4 13660 208806 09 23585

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FalRRESEHR

Year ended 31 March 2022

HE2022F3A831HIEEE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

EARRRELR
Shares
held under
the share
Share award  Share-based Exchange
Issued  premium scheme  compensation Capital fluctuation  Retained Non-controlling Total
capital  account  account reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
RERH
LR
BETHA PR AERE
BRARA ROREE  MRR R EARE e REEN 48 FBEREE  RosE
Notes HKS000  HKSO00  HKS D00 HKSU00  HKSUO0  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSU0O HKS000  HKS 000
f&r  FEr  TEn fér  Fér  TEr  TEr TR 777774
At 1 April 201 R021F4A1R 182,013 750,900 (10,643) 13,000 9,628 16478 1,326,630 2,288,006 571219 2,345,285
Proft o the year REERA - - - - - - 121999 121999 (14063) 107,936
Other comprehensive incomel(oss) for the year: A £ {2 EhE/ (BiE) :
Exchange differences: ERZR:
Translation of foreign operations BERNER - - - - - 15781 - 158 - 15781
Redlassifcation adjustments for gain W2 ERDE
included in profit or loss pon: BE(GARR):
Sale of property interests through FBLE-HHEAR
disposal of a subsidiary HENEES 430) - - - - - (383%) - (383%) - (38356)
Share of movement in the exchange EE-HAERANERD
fluctuation reserve of a joint venture BE2EY - - - - - (639) - (639) - (639)
Share of movements in the exchange EEBELTNERDEE
fluctuation reserves of associates b &) - - - - - 1716 - 1,16 - 1716
Total comprehensive (loss)income for the year —~ AFE2E (E18) /HEEE - - - - - (1498) 121999 100,501 (14063) 86,438
Acquisition of non-controling interest Wigs s - - - - 4,993 - - 4,993 (8367) (3374)
Disposal of partialinterest of a subsiciary tE-EHBAANS B 400 - - - - 4615 - - 4615 1,385 6,000
Cancellaton of repurchased shares HHEEORS 370 (1,745) (8,526) - - - - - (102m) - (102m)
Equity-settled share option expense NRAEE  BRERR 396) - - - 7 - - - 7 - 7
Other equity-sttled share-based payment HARALE 2R RER
expense DESIS 9 - - - 553 - - - 5533 - 5533
Transfer of share-based compensation reserve R IEEI SR EER (B
upon the expiry of share options i - - - (11,19) - - 11,196 - - -
Transfer of share-based compensation resene —— WIZMUAR A BERZ HE
upon the forfeiture of share-based arrangement B AR M G - - - (863) - - 863 - - -
Interim 2022 dividend declared BEROFET HRE 3 - - - - - - (s (159 - (15921
131 March 2022 RODE3ANIA 180288 T (068) GBIt 1936 (GO0 LMATER 2377483 B3 2413697
e These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,197,195,000 (2021: = M202253A318  ZERHEBEERIEGSHBMN

HK$2,105,993,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March

2022.
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘7|-\ Eﬁﬁl)llii

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE2022F3A31HIEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RELETB2EESRE
ACTIVITIES

Profit/(loss) before tax MBBRDEFR, (Fi8) 136,964 (186,711)

Adjustments for: THE
Share of profit of a joint venture E{iE—E& 2R aaF (562) (3,532)
Share of profits and losses of associates FE(REEE A ala M KR EE (9,161) (14,978)
Interest income B U A 7 (19,483) (26,170)
Dividend income A% B A 7 (162) =
Gains on deregistration of subsidiaries, S EIEEE Rl =N o

net Wz 58 7 (643) (5,689)
Gains on sales of property interests BRHEWNBARLEME

through disposal of subsidiaries Rz W 7 (117,681) (11,515)
Losses on disposal of other subsidiaries S EAB B AR 2 B8 9 - 349
Gain on deregistration of a joint operation B —Eae EE KR 2 W= 7 - (2,863)
Gain on remeasurement of a pre-existing EHFTER —HEE QT

interest in an associate B A #Em W= 7 - (3,493)
Fair value loss of investment properties, net & WME QA FEEBEFHE 9 - 600
Fair value gain of debt investments at fair RATFES AEE 2 B

value through profit or loss o8- AN R G 7 - (97)
Finance costs R E A A 8 74,199 80,962
Depreciation of property, plant and M IS MBI ITE

equipment 9 53,963 55,178
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 9 32,424 31,948
Amortisation of intangible assets mEE 2B 9 216 =
Fair value (gain)/loss of equity investments }§@$155+AT§§ZH§$TQE

at fair value through profit or loss RNHE (Wa) EE 9 (668) 210
Loss on disposal of property, plant and ﬁ’%%¥ HeEE R BE 2

equipment, net B8 55 9 190 3,777
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFHEEE 2 W 7 (871) =
Write-off of property, plant and equipment — #72 « # 22 & 3% 8 Z U BR 9 6 357
Write-off of investment in an associate R—EEE R BRI E 2 MR 9 59 3,556
Write-off of debt investments at fair value BAFEFABREZ

through profit or loss BERERE 2 MR 9 3,642 =
Write-off of inventories FE Mk 9 2,795 =
Write-off of prepayment, deposits and ERRE - Ee Rk

other receivables H A R IR ERIR 2 R 9 609 =
Impairment of goodwill R 2 RE 9 15,593 -
Written down of land held for property WRISIEMEZRR 2 T HHE

development to net realisable value AR EE 9 73,769 =
Written down of inventories to net TPIE&MT“’“E IR 5E

realisable value 9 - 380
Impairment of contract assets ENEEZRE 9 2,420 2,396
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of B EWGIE Y

trade receivables (BERE) RE 9 (158) 432
Impairment of other receivables H fth fE R IE 2 R E 9 - 5,116
Equity-settled share option expense AR AEE 2 BE R 2 9 7 1,048
Other equity-settled share-based payment Huh AR EE 2 AR S

expense BEBNRNAR 9 5,533 1,804
(Reversal of provision)/provision for Fanz (BOEE) BiE

litigations 35(b) (173,760) 272,010

79,240 205,075

NS R ERA R AR A

2021/224F %,



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EFARERER

Year ended 31 March 2022
HZE2022F3A31HLEFE

2021
HK$'000
FET
Increase in land held for property BIEMEER 2 T RERF
development and properties under LZE 3Dl
development (40,521) (54,726)
(Increase)/decrease in properties held for sale #{ESE W (38M) R (23) 388
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,206) (311)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets BHEE (M) R (426,054) 61,204
Decrease in trade receivables B 5 WGRIE R 52,082 209,199
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits B 15X I8 - #& & H 4th fE Ug R
and other receivables B, (&) 13,641 (44,451)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables Z SR FIEE I, GR) 186,755 (325,267)
Increase in contract liabilities AHaEE N 46,409 29,593
(Decrease)/increase in other payables H b B FRTE X FEET KB
and accruals (A) /30 (51,829) 205,797
Increase/(decrease) in provision BETRZEBEE N CRd)
for construction works 12,225 (26,628)
Cash (used in)/from operations KRR (TA) /EEX2RE (129,281) 259,873
Interest paid B F B (1,369) (1,911)
Income taxes paid B TS (8,878) (30,056)

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating wEEE (FTA) EXZES
activities mEERE (139,528) 227,906
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERERER

Year ended 31 March 2022
HZE202263A31HIEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREZBHZHERE

ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 W F & 19,483 26,170
Dividend received from listed equity B L IRAIRE WE 2 IR B

investments 162 -
Dividend received from associates BE 2 QR WER Z f% B 61,523 2,971
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B E ¥ % - #22 K R (15,532) (95,624)
Prepayments for right-of-use assets ERAEAE ZERNKIE (154) (4,705)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEREE (2,500) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEYE - R REE

and equipment Fr8 A 4,516 5,219
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets & {# Fi 1 & E FT{S FUB 2,206 =
Acquisition of subsidiaries ANy NG| 42(3) - (63,197)
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon B /B 2 B8 B T ERAS 12 il #E B

resumption of control e AR 42(b) - 16,006
Proceeds from sale of property interests BRHENBARILEYME

through disposal of subsidiaries WE 5 P15 518 43(a) 126,534 105,030
Proceeds from disposal of other subsidiaries & E th B B A 5] P15 7B 43(b) - 1,455
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest of & — M B A & A ZB D e

a subsidiary FTi5 78 40(b)(v) 6,000 =
Purchase of equity investments at fair value  BEE R A FEFAEBRZ

through profit or loss AT E (39.649) (3,112)
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments H&E A FEF AR Z

at fair value through profit or loss IR B AT 1S 518 36,562 1,093
Redemption of promissory notes BEANZE® 27 - 180,000
Subscription of convertible bond and RS AR IR B 2 T L R R

promissory note - (3,545)
Contribution to an associate m—EBE R A EE (16,000) (12,000)
Increase in an amount due from ER—HEEER A2

a joint venture FRIEIE AN (2,885) (3,834)
Increase in amounts due from associates JE Wt & A |) 2 FRIAIE AN (18,614) (124,603)
Decrease in loan receivables JFEWE TR 86,434 85,881
Net cash flows from investing activities WEEHELE RS REFHE 248,086 113,205

DMNBEEZZERARAF 2021/22F )
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Year ended 31 March 2022
HZE202263A31HIEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMETB2ESRE

ACTIVITIES
Repurchase of shares % o] f% 15 37(a) (10,271) (10,991)
Acquisition of a non-controlling interest WHEME & 5] 2 JEERR i o

of subsidiaries (3,374) -
New bank loans TESRITER 1,717,746 3,415,073
New trust receipt loans T REER 436,969 351,255
Repayment of bank loans E%ifﬁﬁ‘a K (1,900,364)  (3,122,411)
Repayment of trust receipt loans EEETBIBEER (356,985) (397,399)
Principal portion of lease payments MENRZ AT ED (38,702) (36,576)
Interest element of lease payments MENFZFEEH D (376) (143)
Other interest paid Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂu (55,596) (84,561)
Dividends paid ERARE (15,921) (23,214)
Increase in restricted cash and 2R %Uiﬁi&ﬂﬁﬁﬁf K8 AN

pledged deposits (4,935) (13,531)
Net cash flows (used in)/from MEES (FTA) EXZ

financing activities BEREFRE (231,809) 77,502
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND iﬁ%&;ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ B

CASH EQUIVALENTS mA) S EINEEE (123,251) 418,613
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of i%ﬂﬁ Re kEBSZEIEHR

year 1,556,582 1,134,824
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  YMNES[E SR & B 52 2% 58 13,639 8,332
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND FRERSNHEBESEEER

OF YEAR 1,446,970 1,561,769
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHAND B&RHERSEEEAELH

CASH EQUIVALENTS Bakiis
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTTHER 30 1,440,057 1,556,582
Cash and short term deposits attributable to D E AR {EE 2 HE

disposal groups classified as held for sale ﬁ%fﬁfﬁi&%,ﬁﬂfm 37 6,913 5,187
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the fﬁium%%ﬁﬁﬂ #IR & K £

statement of cash flows +EEEAE 1,446,970 1,561,769
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A4 35 R P EE

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited is incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda,
and the principal place of business of the Company is located at C1,
5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1, 601-603
Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), joint operations, joint ventures and associates were
involved in the following principal activities:

o provision of construction and consultancy services in areas
of civil engineering, electrical and mechanical engineering,
foundation and building construction mainly in Hong Kong;

o development and sale of properties and leasing of assets in
Hong Kong, mainland (“Mainland China”) of the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC"”) and the United Arab Emirates
(the “UAE");

o provision of security, tunnel and other facility management
services in Hong Kong;

] provision of non-franchised bus services in Hong Kong; and

o production and sale of positron emission tomography (“PET")
radiopharmaceuticals for medical use in Hong Kong.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint operations,
a joint venture and associates are set out in notes 50, 51, 52 and 53
to the financial statements, respectively.

At 31 March 2022, in the opinion of the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”), the immediate holding company and the ultimate
holding company of the Company is GT Winners Limited (“GT
Winners"”), which is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI") with limited liability.

1.

AAIREEEHR
TNBHEEEERERAANRBERE
AR A—HXBRE2BERAR
ERNEEEHERIFMABRA A
(B2 Fr)) ER B e AQF Z s it
9 = B2 A2 72 Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda - M
KRB 2 EEEEMIBMUNEBNE
B EKXEEA601-6035% B84 M T
FERE1HECIE

RAEER - AT REHEAR (4
BIAKED) AE%H A¥RAR
BEATSRTIIEBRT:

e IEEFERMMLIAIRE #
EIR WMEARBTREEIAZ
T2 M vk AR 7% -

s EFE FEARKME([+
B 1) A (T B A ) K
PHMAeERE ([MEE])ET
BREEEVEUREERS:

s HEFERHERZ BEREMK
1o & 32 AR

s GEBFBRMIFLEELERH K

s HEFRBLENHEELETHIH
ERm ((EEFRE]) RS T
BEYAFBERR -

ARRZEEMBAR ABEY —
RIA B AR RS A RS ABR

B 3R R Mf5¥50 ~ 51 ~ 52 %53 °

2022938318 AR AES([£
F)RBARFBZEEEZERA G E&
472 A% N &) A GT Winners Limited ([GT
Winners]) * E AR EBELZES ([H
BRLZES])FMHEIZBRAR -

DM E EEIERARAR 202122F
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention except
for (i) investment properties and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair value; and (ii) assets
of disposal groups classified as held for sale which are stated at the
lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell,
as further explained in note 3.3 to the financial statements. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000") except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group losses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of
any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in
profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, — Phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous amendments
which affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR"). The
amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the effective
interest rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying amount
of financial assets and liabilities when accounting for changes in
the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial
assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the
interest rate benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the
previous basis immediately preceding the change. In addition, the
amendments permit changes required by the interest rate benchmark
reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains
or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with through the
normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge
ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a temporary relief to
entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement
when an RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief allows an
entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume that the separately
identifiable requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably
expects the RFR risk component to become separately identifiable
within the next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require an
entity to disclose additional information to enable users of financial
statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark
reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management
strategy.

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars based on the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR"”) as at 31 March 2022. The Group
expects that HIBOR will continue to exist and the interest rate
benchmark reform has not had an impact on the Group’s HIBOR-
based borrowings.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17
Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

Insurance Contacts?

Insurance Contacts? >

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current**

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a
Single Transactions?

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41"

f Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
2 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation 5

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020
to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

B As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17, issued in October 2020,
HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers
to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before

1 January 2023

8 The HKICPA amends HKFRS 17 in February 2022 to permit a classification overlay
for financial assets presents in comparative periods on initial application of

HKFRS 17
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

(@  Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual
Framework”) issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that
would be within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies
if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a
business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer
to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, respectively, instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the
acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 April 2022. Since the amendments
apply prospectively to business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the date of first application, the
Group will not be affected by these amendments on the date
of transition.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements and in HKAS 28 (2011)
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its joint venture or associate. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its joint venture or associate constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor's interest in that joint venture or
associate. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
joint venture or associate. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current. The amendments specify that if
an entity's right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to
the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has
a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the
reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that
date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments
to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is
non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not
necessary. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments on the Group's accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that
period. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(f)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related
to leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases and
decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is permitted.

The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(9)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any
such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only
to items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented
in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well
as contract management and supervision costs). General
and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract
and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
and shall be applied to contracts for which an entity has not
yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22

3.2 EEMERAERZE R
R EZER (w)

(9)

BRI ENEIFIEIELTE
SR K REREEB K
AEBREEZIEEEETH
AR E AL B R RIERE
EREEHERSHRE-ER -
ERBEZEEENLEMSRIEA
ZEEEMRAG AB %
ERTR2022F 1 B1A 2 & F
MEEHR AR WIERBYE
ERRNBNEAZEEING
S|MEAMES W& T BB )
R HERNE KSR
BREHEE - AFTIRFEA A
ZEBI T GE AL BT B W
RENKTHERTE-

4

%
&

I
—]

[

S OH A

BB e ERFEITHRIER]BE
FIBRIE BB G 5T 2RI E375% 7
AHREBEREMS BITE
PR A BIEEANEZEEN
A -BEHNEZEEBOXAE
ERITZEHMIBE KA (Fn
BEELSTEMHE) MEBEITEL
B AR E AR A DB (520
PEBITENFTANE #ak
BREEEOTERIUAREGHE
BREENAN) - — M EITHK
REGHWEEEZRE BRIER
BAARmEREFHKEER -
GRITEEERN -ZEEBTR
202F 1AV ZERBNEE
A TERREEREY
RERIEFTNEE RSB E R
BITEMEETNEY - RFFIR
PEA -AXRERZSEINET
MEBEYEEERASEXERAAR
HMEBEENARE mMBAE
&R -FEHZEET TS
HAEBMYEHRFTEXTAE

S 40
AFE-



Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

(i)  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group
are as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which
the entity first applies the amendment. The amendment
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Investments in joint ventures and associates

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

The Group's investments in joint ventures and associates are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of joint ventures and associates is included in
the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the joint ventures or associates,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its joint ventures or associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the joint ventures or associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of joint ventures
or associates is included as part of the Group's investments in joint
ventures or associates.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of joint control over the
joint venture or significant influence over the associate, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the joint ventures or
associates upon loss of joint control or significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FEGEHHEME 2

POLICIES (continued)

Investments in joint ventures and associates
(continued)

When an investment in a joint venture or associate is classified as
held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control. The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint
operation:
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e ts assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; e HEE BREHEHEGMHRAREZ
ERIEE

. its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; . HeE BEEELEREELZ
FRaE:

e its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from e HRBHEBEHEGLEEFEBEL

the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint
operation; and

° its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the Group's
interest in a joint operation are accounted for in accordance with the
HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a holding company, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the
entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to a holding company of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group and liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

AV EHE ()
FEMEEZ AFEFELT R 2
ME2EEFBASARENAEE
MEBREREABTEERE THMN
RAREMNBEEAERREREZ
A—HMHE2EEMELLERG L
ES -

AEERTBEREREEAAEBRE
BEAHAEAFEZEERM A
EERNERAABIBEEEABLRE
ERVERTABRBAE-

PIEERAFESHTEXNTHHREK
BREZEENABINREBH A TE
AEBER RERBAERBETEA
FEERADE:

level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active F—H - REREEFAEGER
markets for identical assets or liabilities EET S 2 WmE (R

)
level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the FR - BREQATEFEBE
lowest level input that is significant to the fair ZoRERBABER
value measurement is observable, either directly or THESBEER

indirectly HE
Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the FE= - BREQTEFEEE=E
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value ZRERBAER
measurement is unobservable TR 2 E

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation of buildings are calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off their costs over the shorter of the lease terms and their
useful lives of 25 years.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is calculated on
the reducing balance basis to write off the cost of each item of other
property, plant and equipment to its estimated residual value over its
estimated useful life. The estimated depreciation rates per annum of
different categories of other property, plant and equipment are as
follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated
Plant and machinery 15% to 25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%
Motor vehicles 10% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the period the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use-asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including the direct costs of
construction, capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction and transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the period of the
retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting
is its fair value at the date of change in use.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets and a disposal group held for
sale

Non-current assets and a disposal group are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a
sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be
the case, the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for the sale of such asset or disposal group and its sale
must be highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary
classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale
regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in
its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and a disposal group (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less
costs to sell.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue or other income in profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in
the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying
assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets in respect of leasehold land are depreciated
on the straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and their useful lives of 50 years. Other right-of-use assets are
depreciated on the reducing balance basis over the following
deprecation periods, which are the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets:

Leased properties 1 to 5 years
Plant and machinery 5 to 6 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold
land held as inventories, they are subsequently measured at
the lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with
the Group's policy for “Land held for property development,
properties under development and properties held for sale”.

33 XEGHBRME

HE (&)

AEBEEEEBA
AEBEMARE (EERHEE RE
EEEEHEMRIN) EAE RN
ERF - AEEBRIEEEEMNRZ
HEABELRRRERAEREERENZ

EREEE-
@) RAEEE

EREEETNEERKG BB (B
HEEEATHERB M) ER-
EREEERKARIM R
EREFARFIREBRE XL
SREREHAEREREELS
E-FRAREEZKABEDHE
REERBESB NPEELZ
BEERARNFASR B %2 AE
HEEENFORER 2 WEEE
B

ERHETH  FEREEE 1
7H 5 3 H AT A F 3506 (JARR
RERE)HERNE - HbfE
AEEENHEBREE 2 E5H
ERFHR T EMRE (AR
RERE) B RREEERE

HEH 1Z=54
W22 I R A 5ZE64F
RE 4Z54F

MR EBERAAEEEZHS
BEERTARESIRARRE
BEBRZTE FENREER
EZATrERAFEHFE-

HEREEELEFAEFEZH
ErEsERE MERREAR
SEZIHENEERZ M-
BRTOXRFBIEHENR]IK

ERE)TE

DM E EEIERARAR 202122F

165



166

Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property, it is included in investment properties. The
corresponding right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
and subsequently measured at fair value, in accordance with
the Group’s policy for “Investment properties”.

The Group's right-of-use assets are separately presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the interest rate implicit in the lease or, where that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a
change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are separately presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESHHRME »)

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued) HE (&)

Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERERBRA (B)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets () MEHHEREE @ﬁlzfﬁ
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption REBEREMERBEURBR
to its short-term leases of plant and machinery and office H““ﬁZhﬁJﬁﬂ (BN R %A B
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 B AT A A 12 A AT BR

months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment that are considered to be of low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite
is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Patent

Purchased patent is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives of
7 years.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Land held for property development, properties
under development and properties held for sale

Land held for property development and properties under
development are intended to be held for sale after completion of the
property development. They are classified as current assets unless
the construction period of the relevant property development project
is expected to complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to properties held for sale.

Land held for property development, properties under development
and properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost includes prepaid land lease payments, cost of
land/land use rights together with any other direct costs attributable
to the development of the properties, and borrowing costs capitalised
during the development period. Net realisable value is determined
by reference to estimated selling price based on prevailing market
conditions less (i) anticipated cost to completion of the development
in respect of properties under development; and (ii) estimated costs
to be incurred in marketing and selling the properties.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than investment
properties, land held for property development, properties under
development, properties held for sale, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, contract assets and non-current assets/a disposal group
classified as held for sale), the asset's recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 XEETHERBE )

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of a non-financial asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, or fair value through profit or loss, as
appropriate.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset (debt instrument) to be classified and
measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets (debt instruments) with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets (debt
instruments) refers to how it manages its financial assets (debt
instruments) in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets (debt instruments), or both.
Financial assets (debt instruments) classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to
hold financial assets (debt instruments) in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets (debt instruments) classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are held
within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets (debt instruments)
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in
its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

All reqular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

(@)  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

(b)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes debt instruments with cash flows that
are not SPPI and equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are also recognised as other income in profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22

33 FESFTHEME )

RERHMEBEE (&)
B
$’EIAEE§ZJ¥T]‘£§FE“$TE§U\T§
BsHMABEKIARMEERE ([|
HEEBRD BB HFHEEER
E%EWETJ?Q?’J AMMANRERE
EAKEBERUBNMERERELZ
MR EZREMETE  XARERF R
MUERB - BHRRERESEEL
EMFEMANRSTREIAKRS DK
REOEMEERER-

Vi
EHREEBEE MERRER - E
IR FE SR A SR A= B R B I 48 K 1@ 12 hn &9
FERKRME  €AKKI2MEA A8
BEREBENEHEMEENEEERE (12
& AR EEEE) (EE B EEEEE
BE-REERAREERR KR
EINMEERRME ’/ATMEHHEAH
SHBRTFHEENEEEBEEELES
TE%M% MARELNERE (2HATER
ZEEE) -

RERSAH AEESFEEEX
BANKEBMITANGEERRESD
RIEE - EETR AR AEE 2
REEAHeMTIAZANENRAR
ERERAERAHEMITARLENE
WERETHLER UZEEEBELEBR
LA BN Al S H) A IR M Al X
FONER (BHEBEENRAENLSR
) o

& KT FB BI90K B+ AN & B 2
%mﬂéﬁéz_%’ﬂ R EE Iﬁ/RT
2RSS BERKRANEBERT R
AEBEMFANERERERERZ
AR ARABEE 2R EIRER A HFRIA
B RNREETAIGERREREEEN -
W ESEER A RE SRS RE -



Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Impairment (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.
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allowance is measured at an amount equal to TERER 2 BEE
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Simplified approach B1ET 2%

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
assets to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities cRAaE
Initial recognition and measurement BRERREE

Financial liabilities are all classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at amortised cost, which are recognised initially at fair value
and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised cost are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
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included as finance costs in profit or loss. w2 BE AR o
Derecognition BUH R

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher
of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy
as set out in “Investments and other financial assets — Impairment”;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Shares held under a share award scheme

Own equity instruments which are reacquired from the market and
held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) under the share
award scheme of the Company are recognised directly in equity at
cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Upon exercise of share awards, the related costs of the vested
awarded shares repurchased from the market and shares acquired
from reinvesting dividends received on the awarded shares are
credited to the shares held under the share award scheme account,
with a corresponding decrease in the share-based compensation
reserve for the awarded shares.

For vesting of forfeited or unallocated shares regranted, the related
costs of the forfeited or unallocated shares regranted are credited
to the shares held under the share award scheme account, and the
related fair value of the shares regranted are debited to the share-
based compensation reserve. The difference between the cost
and the fair value of the shares regranted is credited to the share
premium account if the fair value is higher than the cost or debited
against retained profits if the fair value is less than the cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included as finance costs in profit
or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher
of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with
the general policy for provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the amount of income recognised
in accordance with the policy for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint operations, joint ventures and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint operations, joint ventures and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEFEHZWE

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(@)  Construction work

Revenue from construction work is recognised over time, using
an output method to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the work, because the Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation of construction
contracts is measured with reference to the certificates issued
by the internal or external surveyors on the performance of
work completed to date.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the most likely amount method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

®)

(c)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer.

Rendering of services

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised over
the scheduled period on the straight-line basis because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

(a)

®)

(c)

(@

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Guarantee income

Guarantee income is recognised on the straight-line basis over
the guarantee period.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. Contract
assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.
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202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Contract costs
Costs to fulfil a contract

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@ The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(©)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit or
loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other
contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Costs to obtain a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. Incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the
costs relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. The incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are charged to profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer
of the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other costs of
obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22

33 FESFTHEME )

SHEEd

R A 6% [ 98 5 4 B =k AR 755 A Wk 2
BEPNRENKEE (AREERE)
FRAERGWAB - aNABERAE
BETAN (AREFEBHABES
S AR TS 2 45 ) 4 ) By e AR A A i

_H

% 1)

BHEA

BT ERZRA
BRIERTFE WX HERREBRER
BEBFTERNZKAIN WA AT
Bigft AETREFIIL ZANME
EZRAGER—REERTEAN:

@ MAEANREEAABETZ
BEHA N EZAR-

(b) AASELSEMGEARET (K
FEBT)BHOEEZERBER-

(0 TEHEREATFAKD-

BARCEHRARTIR R GELERE R
BRSEHR - ENERAEFPFEREER
ERBZEmARE - EME QKA
AIREERIIER -

EBEHNHNRA

EEE MBI IS 22N K B &
BEPRINAKPMELRMAA - KB
BEEH) BITEEEZFTRA ik
7N B W w5 48 B (I OR 2R e o5 B AR
BFEFAREIKA - RIAERA DR
PRAIE R FED M%E%%M%%§$
EEAHONKAE MM ZRREE
AABRAN EHNAREFPBEBHEE
ERNEzZERERE - BEEHNE
AR ARELRAER-



Notes to Financial Statements
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202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments UG RERNSR
Share award scheme IR 43 S B =t &

The Group operates a share award scheme for the purposes of
providing incentives for employees to achieve performance goals
and aligning the interests of employees directly with those of the
shareholders of the Company through ownership of shares of the
Company.

The amount to be expensed as share-based compensation expenses
is determined by reference to the fair value of the share awards
granted, taking into account all non-vesting conditions associated
with the grants. The total expense is recognised over the relevant
vesting periods (or on the grant date if the shares vest immediately),
with a corresponding credit to the share-based compensation reserve
under equity.

For those share awards which are amortised over the vesting periods,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of awarded shares
that are expected to ultimately vest based on the vesting conditions
at the end of each reporting period. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is recognised in profit
or loss in the current year, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share-based compensation reserve.

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors of the Company) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services as consideration for equity instruments
("equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
option pricing model, further details of which are given in note 39 to
the financial statements.
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202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
Share option scheme (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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202293 A31H

LHJE»

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESHEEME

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
Share option scheme (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

Upon exercise of share options, the resulting shares issued are
recorded by the Company as additional share capital at the nominal
value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares is recorded by the Company in
the share premium account. In addition, at the time when the share
options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the share-
based compensation reserve will be transferred to the share premium
account.

Share options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or lapse
are deleted from the register of outstanding options. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the share-
based compensation reserve will be transferred to retained profits as
a movement in reserves.

The dilutive effect of outstanding share options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other share-based payment transactions

Certain employees of the Group received remuneration in the form
of a share-based payment provided by the Group, whereby the
employees agreed to render services for a three-year period to the
Group in exchange for acquiring a certain percentage of equity
interest in a subsidiary of the Group at a below-market price (the
"equity-settled transaction”).
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)
Other share-based payment transactions (continued)

The cost of the equity-settled transaction is measured at the fair
value of the equity interest of the subsidiary acquired less the
consideration paid and payable by the employee. The cost of the
equity-settled transaction is recognised as an employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity of the
subsidiary, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for the
equity-settled transaction at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired. The charge to profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Other employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in the PRC,
Singapore and Malaysia are required to participate in central pension
schemes operated by the PRC, Singapore and Malaysia governments,
the assets of which are held separately from those of the Group.
Contributions are made by the subsidiaries based on a percentage of
the participating employees’ salaries and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the relevant
central pension schemes. The employer contributions vest fully once
made.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 33 FESTHERE »)

POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the activity of a construction
contract are included as part of the contract costs.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have been
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final
dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception
of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the
Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised
in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

& TR A
ERRABREEBIEABEEEZ
B R EARAAN ©

W BRIt EREREE (BIF2
—BRERIHEBEEREETERENK
HEZEBE) BEREIG ZERKA T
ABRAERERZFEEKAZ — 87
EREEEABAEERER BRI
S ERRARE EFFARARRA -
RUAXNEEREENTERBKBE
mERE EREMSRESSRET
B Z B FRAAN R HRR

BESNEDEREBEHERKNAGTR
BRIRA—EB -

FrEEMERKAERELEZHIER
X3He

iR

AR BN ERREBIRAS Lt
ERERSBE ZRRBRENY
MR R -

HRARBIASERAMANRERAA
RTEFRMNFPHRENEN it
R 23R EIRT RS - Eitt - 5
REREZELRERKASERSARG -

Pl

It EMBEHRRIIARRANINEEES
BB - AEBAEBEERSEBT
REEDEEE MEBEERNMB
BRAEEMNABHRAZIESTE
FE-AKEETEBMACERAING
RIRNARHEBNRINEEKE
REHF-DINEAENEBEERA
BERGEHRNNEEEEXRKRE-
EXRBERERBREELNEZENE

T NHERR

REYIBREERRANZENERR

REREEAREBINEFRE
FBE MM ERIEB BRI bt
FHEREMEEKVARERAR:
EEHERBEFBER/L WK Ris
BEENM I BRERaR -A%EEH
H B R E S ZRBFNHER RIE
IR EMEERARAR-

DM E EEIERARAR 202122F

187



188

Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on a change in fair
value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries, joint venture and
associates established in the PRC and overseas are currencies other
than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their profits or losses are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation is
treated as an assets of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of certain subsidiaries established in the PRC and
overseas are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of these subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements and have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are set out below:

Construction contracts

With respect to construction contracts, the Group recognises
contract revenue on a construction contract over time, using an
output method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction
of the construction work, because the Group’s performance creates
or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. The output method recognises revenue based
on the certificates issued by the internal or external surveyors on the
performance or work completed to date, latest available financial
budgets of the construction contract with reference to the overall
performance of the construction contract, and management’s best
estimates and judgements. In developing the financial budget
of a construction contract, construction revenue is estimated in
accordance with the terms set out in the relevant contract. Because
of the nature of the construction industry, management will make
adjustments, where appropriate, to the amounts of construction
revenue based on regular review of contract work progress, costs to
complete the contracts, the financial impact of contract variations,
claims, potential liquidated damages, and estimated construction
revenue.

The Group regularly assesses the possible outcome of construction
contracts based on latest facts and circumstances occurred in the
construction contracts, and past experience in conducting similar
construction work. When there is a change in the expected outcome
of construction contracts, the Group will adjust the amounts of
contract revenue to be recognised in profit or loss prospectively.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for
construction work

The Group seeks to collect claims from customers as reimbursement
of costs and margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract, which give rise to variable consideration. The
Group has determined that the most likely amount method is the
appropriate method to use in estimating the variable consideration
for claims in construction work, given there is a wide range of
possible outcomes which are subject to negotiations with third
parties.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Group considers whether the amount of
variable consideration is constrained by considering its historical
experience, current negotiations with customers and the current
economic conditions.

Determination of net realisable value of land held
for property development

Land held for property development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The net realisable value is the estimated
selling price (based on the direct comparison method) less estimated
selling expenses and estimated cost of completion (if any), which
are determined based on best available information and valuation
performed by independent professional valuers. Where there are any
unfavourable changes in the estimated selling price, estimated selling
expenses and/or estimated cost of completion arising from any
changes to the property market conditions in Hong Kong and the
UAE, loss may be recognised in profit or loss of the Group.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the recoverable amount
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount
of goodwill carried as an asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2022 was HK$106,790,000 (2021:
HK$122,377,000), details of which are set out in note 18 to the
financial statements.

Income tax

At 31 March 2022, deferred tax assets of HK$22,201,000 (2021:
HK$20,334,000) in relation to unused tax losses have been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
whereas a deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of
tax losses of HK$1,117,643,000 (2021: HK$1,048,788,000) as at
31 March 2022 due to the unpredictability of future profit streams
(note 36(a)). The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the actual
future profits generated are less or more than expected, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a
reversal or recognition takes place.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group’s operating businesses are
structured and managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide. Each of the
Group's operating segments represents a strategic business unit that
offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of the other operating segments.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group has been identified
as the executive directors of the Company and certain senior
management (collectively referred to as the “CODM"). For the
purpose of performance assessment and resource allocation by the
CODM, the Group's business activities are categorised under the
following five reportable operating segments:

e Construction services

provision of construction and
consultancy services in areas of civil
engineering, electrical and mechanical
engineering, foundation and building
construction mainly in Hong Kong

e Property development
and assets leasing

development and sale of properties,
and leasing of assets in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and the UAE

Medical technology
and healthcare

e Professional services — provision of security, tunnel and other
facility management services in Hong
Kong
e Non-franchised bus - provision of non-franchised bus
services services in Hong Kong

production and sale of PET
radiopharmaceuticals for medical use
in Hong Kong

Segment revenue and results

Segment results represent the profit generated from each segment,
net of selling expenses and administrative expenses directly
attributable to each segment without allocation of corporate
expenses, interest income, gain on disposal of a self-occupied office
premise, non-lease-related finance costs and interest on unallocated
lease liabilities. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

reportable operating segment:

Year ended 31 March 2022

Segment revenue (note 6): A8z (MzTe) -
Sales to external customers ASNRE P E
Intersegment sales HHEHEE
Reconciliation: Hik:

Elimination of intersegment sales HMEHE 2 EH
Segment results PHEE

Interest income FBHA

Corporate and other unallocated expenses PEREMKA R
Finance costs (other than interest on BERA (B2 HE

REFSHD

segment lease liabilities)

Profit before tax BRBEATE R
Income tax Fright

Profit for the year KEE R
Other segment information: HipHER:
Share of profits of joint ventures EfERZRARF
Share of profits of associates FEMRE SN AR R

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

EREREZRE

Amortisation of intangible assets - unallocated assets &/ EE#E - A HEEE
HEWE WRRRRELZ

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment, net

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets

Written down of land held for property development HUE 3 {EE%E 2

BRFE

10 net realisable value THETERFE
Impairment of goodwil BEZRE
Impairment of contract assets BHEEZRE
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables B RN HIE B ERE

Write-off of property, plant and equipment
Write-off of investment in an associate

Construction

services

BERH
HKS 000
FET

5, BEQHER (2

DE SN KA ()

AEBRAI2ZR
SE S

RS

DI

BZ2022F3A831B LEE

Property

development
and assets  Professional

leasing services

NEBRR
RERR
HK$ 000

TEx FE7

EXRH
HK$ 000

Non-
franchised
bus services
FEE
BERH%
HK$ 000
FET

Medical
technology
and healthcare
BRNR
iR

HKS$ 000
FET

D Z W

Total

aE
HKS 000
FHET

Ik

nE BEEREZNE

HEEBEAE M

ME - W RRE MR
R-RBERRRE MR

Write-off of inventories FEZME
Write-off of prepayment, deposits and ANHE RER
other receivables Hth MR 2 MR

Write-off of debt investments at fair value
through profit or loss - unallocated assets

BRAFEG ARG AR

REZME - ROREE

6,721,178 - 963,824 - 37,062 7,722,064
- - 11,353 - - 11,353
6,721,178 - 975,177 - 37,062 1,733,417
(11,353)

7,722,064

41,232 185,813 53,713 2,122 12,917 296,397
19,483
(107,429)
(71,487)

136,964
(29,028)

107,936

562 - - - - 562
2,604 3,835 - 2,722 - 9,161
(43,027) (1,542) (8,316) - (1,078) (53,963)
(19,112) (5,172) (6,448) - (1,692) (32,424)
(216)

(60) - (130) - - (190)

871 - - - - 87

- (73,769) - - - (73,769)
(15,593) - - - - (15,593)
(2,420) - - - - (2,420)
158 - - - - 158

(6) - - - - (6)

- (59) - - - (59)
(2,795) - - - - (2,795)
(609) - - - - (609)
(3,642)

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. REFTHER =2
(continued)
Segment revenue and results (continued) PR EREE ()
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE2021F3A3MHLEE

Property

development Non-
and assets  Professional franchised
leasing services  bus services
NEERR FEe
BERE  AENER BLR%
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FAL FET

Medical
technology and
healthcare Total
BERHR
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FAT

Construction
services

SXRH
HK$000
THETL

194

Segment revenue (note 6): AW (Kizke) :
Sales to external customers msNPE P HE 6,566,473 1,676 952,194 - 13915 7,534,258
Intersegment sales PEBHEE = = 15,912 = = 15,912
6,566,473 1,676 968,106 - 13,915 7,550,170
Recondiliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment sales AEEHE 2K (15,912)
7,534,258
Segment results PHEE 58,646 (271,978) 156,983 6,044 3273 (47,032)
Interest income FEKA 26,170
Corporate and other unallocated expenses PEREMRAIERR (88,348)
Finance costs (other than interest on BERA (DY HEAE
segment lease liabilities) FBKRSN (701
Loss before tax BRHAIEE (186,711)
Income tax s (2,374)
Loss for the year rEEER (189,085)
Other segment information: Hit A HEH:
Share of profits of joint ventures EEAERRRA 3,532 = = = = 3,532
Share of (losses)/profits of associates EEHEAR (BE) /EF (6,253) 15,187 - 6,044 = 14,978
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% BERRE T E (44,367) (1,542) (8,875) = (394) (55,178)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZNE (21,204) (5,165) (5,211) = (368) (31,948)
Fair value loss of investment properties, net RENELNTEBRERE (600) = = = = (600)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEMSE BBREEL
equipment, net BRFE 3,711) = (66) = = 3.777)
Written down of inventories to net realisable value #3775 % A% 5 % (& (380) = - - - (380)
Impairment of contract assets AMEEZRE (2,39) = = = = (2,396)
Impairment of trade receivables B RMFIEHE (432) = = = = (432)
Impairment of other receivables EiEFIE 2R E (5,116) = = = = (5,116)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment ME- BERSEHE (357) - - - - (357)
Write-off of investment in an associate R-FBERARRE 2 Mk - (3,556) - - - (3,556)
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5.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

Information about segment assets and liabilities is not disclosed as it
is not regularly reviewed by the CODM.

Geographical information
(@) Revenue from external customers

No geographical information of revenue from external
customers is presented as more than 90% of revenue during
each of the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 was derived
from Hong Kong.

(b) Non-current assets

5.

KREFWERE 2

THEEREE
HREBEERRELFEHEMN
BROHBEERBENER BAIE
WE-

ith B & H

() REMBEFZWZE
R E20224F K%2021F3H31H
IEZ2 & FERN  HBiBI0% 2 Wi
REBE WREIINGEP 2K
mZHEERTIERS]

(b) HFRBEE

2021

HK$'000

FE T

Hong Kong EE 769,822 804,012
Mainland China R A bt 170,926 =
The UAE o] B 2§ 163,638 236,149
Other jurisdictions Hth LA R 130,810 160,097
1,235,196 1,200,258

The non-current asset information disclosed above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes goodwill, financial
assets and deferred tax assets.

Information about a major customer

A summary of revenue earned from an external customer, which
contributed more than 10% of the Group's revenue for each of the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, is set out below:

ERBEZIFRBEEERTIR
BEE(TEERE eREE
NOEFE IR A B ) PR 4E b 4
D

FHR—RXEFFZER

RELE20224E 2021438318 IF&E
ERAAAEBETBIKZEEI0% A L
W —ZIMEE R PSR EEH T

2021
HK$'000
FET

Customer A: EPA:
Contribution to construction services segment BREERE D 4,178,159 3,979,233
Contribution to professional services segment BREXRE D 392,482 391,432
4,570,641 4,370,665

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%

195



Notes to Financial Statements

PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

6. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

6.

ERE
AEEZ EEEANMT -

Revenue from contracts with customers REAEFEHZWE 7,722,064 7,533,324
Revenue from another source — REE M RR 2 WS —
Gross rental income from assets leasing BEHE MR - 934
7,722,064 7,534,258
Notes: fyeE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) HEEHEZIFEH
Year ended 31 March 2022 B £2022F3A31HLFE

Segments
23
Medical
Construction Professional technology and
services services healthcare Total
BRENK
EER% HERE HiEE it
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FHT FHT FHT FET
Type of goods or services EmBREER
Construction work BETR 6,651,894 - - 6,651,894
Rendering of construction-related RERFIEBEARS
consultancy services 69,284 - - 69,284
Sale of goods HEEM - - 37,062 37,062
Rendering of security, tunnel and RERE BER
other facility management services Hfth R e B IR R T - 963,824 - 963,824
Total revenue from contracts with customers KB & F A #) 2 Wz 58 6,721,178 963,824 37,062 7,722,064
Geographical market B
Hong Kong BE 6,490,020 963,824 37,062 7,490,906
Other jurisdictions Hpth A% 231,158 - - 231,158
Total revenue from contracts with customers  RE RS A4 2 WS B5E 6,721,178 963,824 37,062 7,722,064
Timing of revenue recognition W 25 B 2 I
Goods transferred at a point in time RERZELER - - 37,062 37,062
Services transferred over time R RS AR 75 6,721,178 963,824 - 7,685,002
Total revenue from contracts with customers ~ REEFA 42 Wi 85 6,721,178 963,824 37,062 7,722,064
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6. REVENUE (continuea)

Notes: (continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

6. EXHE(#)

BeE: (%)

(a) EEBEZORER(H)

Year ended 31 March 2021 BZE2021F3A31BLFE
Segments
okl
Property
development Medical
Construction and assets Professional  technology and
services leasing services healthcare
MEEER BERE
RER BERE R alieds Feks)
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FAET FHET FHET FHET FET
Type of goods or services ERABRHER
Construction work BEIR 6,528,665 - - - 6,528,665
Rendering of construction-related REUEEEBEAARE
consultancy services 37,808 - - - 37,808
Sale of goods HEED - 742 - 13,915 14,657
Rendering of security, tunnel and REREZ BER
other facility management services Hth e E R RE - - 952,194 - 952,194
Total revenue from contracts REZPANZNREHE
with customers 6,566,473 742 952,194 13,915 7,533,324
Revenue from another source REEMRIR 2 Wi
- Gross rental income i ELON - 934 - - 934
Total revenue hentita 6,566,473 1,676 952,194 13,915 7,534,258
Geographical market BEHH
Hong Kong BB 6,480,496 - 952,194 13,915 7,446,605
Other jurisdictions Hib iR 85,977 742 - - 86,719
Total revenue from contracts REFPANZMREHE
with customers 6,566,473 742 952,194 13,915 7,533,324
Revenue from another source REEMRIR 2 W
— Gross rental income L ON L - 934 - - 934
Total revenue hentita 6,566,473 1,676 952,194 13,915 7,534,258
Timing of revenue recognition 63
Goods transferred at a point in time REHHELER - 742 - 13,915 14,657
Services transferred over time RERREB R 6,566,473 - 952,194 - 7,518,667
Total revenue from contracts with customers  REBEF ANz fizaE 6,566,473 742 952,194 13,915 7,533,324
Revenue from another source REE 0 RR 2 Wz
— Gross rental income -HekABE - 934 - - 934
Total revenue et 6,566,473 1,676 952,194 13,915 7,534,258

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

6. REVENUE (continveq)

Notes: (continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the current
reporting period that were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods:

B (7

BeE: ()

(a)

ERBZORER (&)

TRITARARERAER 2 BB EH
ZECROAARERNZANABERK
SERTHEEERZ BOREHHER

2022 pAAl
HK$'000

F#T

HK$'000
FET

Revenue recognised that was included in contract FFAREHNENAEZ

liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: B R

Construction work BEIR 64,085 33,105
Revenue recognised from performance obligations | 55 AT A R s B S AR 5 K

satisfied or partially satisfied in previous periods: BAIE TR 2 Was

Revenue from construction work services not previously P 39 A 2 X 18 9 PR ) 7 2 Al

recognised due to constraints on variable consideration RIER 2 REBEETIRRS
Z Wz 396,621 416,146

(b) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations in contracts with
customers is summarised below:

Construction work

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered and
payment is generally due within one month from the date of billing. A certain
percentage of payment is retained by customers until the end of the retention
period as the Group’s entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the
satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a certain period as
stipulated in the contracts.

Construction-related consultancy services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time when the services are rendered
and payment is generally due within 30 days from the date of billing.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22

(b)

BHEE

ERAREZESAHENEEER L
T

BEIR

J& #) B AERE SR S AR 75 65 ) i & K B 3ROR
—RRERARERHEF —EARIH
Xft-BEPERE-—FELMAZMAKREER
B 345 3R - B A AR R B MR B R AN R
FEAREFERNREZ —BRERAE
BYHRBEBRIHE -

ZEERBARE
B #9 B B AR %5 42 4 A B ) 0 S P - 70

R—REFAKRER L3308 N3 H
X



Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

6. REVENUE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Performance obligations (continued)

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time upon transfer of the
control of goods sold and payment in advance is normally required.

Rendering of security, tunnel and other facility management services and
provision of non-franchised bus services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time when the services are rendered

and payment is generally due within 30 days from the date of billing.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March are as follows:

6.

EER ()

MyaE: (%)
(b) BEREEE)
HEEM

BHOBEDNEBEEER I ENE 2R
MEER  BREFERANRK

RERZ BERAGREEERE AR
RUEFELE TR

TR 0 24 B RS 42 4 0 RS R T A - T £+
#%— 18 5 B A5 B B #9451 308 MBI
fite

M3A31A [ TEHEE CREK A
DARER) DRI X HERSENT :

Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue: TEER R KR S E
Within one year —FR 6,343,534 6,525,504
After one year —F1& 12,217,362 8,923,530
Total (note) #agE (Fisk) 18,560,896 15,449,034

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations which are expected to be recognised after one year relate to
construction work, of which the performance obligations are to be satisfied
in two to five years. All the other amounts of transaction prices allocated
to the remaining performance obligations are expected to be recognised as
revenue within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.

Note: The Group has applied the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 to its revenue
from the provision of security, tunnel and other facility management
services for not disclosing the remaining performance obligations under
the Group's existing contracts as the Group recognises revenue from the
satisfaction of the performance obligation in the amount to which the
Group has a right to consideration from a customer that corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the entity's performance
completed to date. In addition, for all other contracts in which the
performance obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue with
an original expected duration of one year or less, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed as permitted
under HKFRS 15.

SEREBRPN—FRERBZIHTROAE
MRZSEREBSRERBERLFRNERK
ZEETR - RYUIKEHRTEHEEH
FAEREMRZEREEHR —FRNERR
Wake LR TE s B TBEITRS
2R BB

Mzt AEEEREEMERERERES
SRR TR RE AR AR KR
HRZ BEREMREERRS
P e - fem I & R A S ER
BANETZHTENERE RA
AASEREEEATFKRER
HEZSETKERBENZEFE
ENRESHEERERRNAEE
Ez BN RERRR A
—FRURZ AR ERERREEZ
BHREHMEBEREMEHMNS R
BEBWBREERNFEISH DEC

EZERTRADNZZERAT
e -

S E

225

AR AT 2021/224F %R
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Notes to Financial Statements

PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 7. HibW AR W= FHE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other income Hi Wt A
Interest income B U A 19,483 26,170
Dividend income AR B A 162 =
Other rental income HEmES KA 1,116 319
Other service income H b RIS YA 3,696 873
Profit guarantee income i MR 78 A - 14,044
Management fee income ERBIA 2,709 2,699
Government subsidies* BT A B 2,899 247,525
Sundry income ESEI N 23,770 12,260
53,835 303,890
Gains, net Wi F
Gains on sales of property interests BRANEWNBARHE
through disposal of subsidiaries Y ERE S 2 W 43(3) 117,681 11,515
Gains on deregistration of subsidiaries, net & 5 5 i i /8B A &) 2 U 2575 58 643 5,689
Gain on deregistration of a joint operation HHzF — & & 5% 2 W - 2,863
Gain on remeasurement of a EFFTER —HEBE QT
pre-existing interest in an associate BEAED W 42(b) - 3,493
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets & {5 Fi # & &= 2 W e 871 =
Fair value gain of equity investments BRATES ARG BRAKRE
at fair value through profit or loss 2N FERE 668 =
Fair value gain of debt investments BRAFEABR EERE
at fair value through profit or loss RN EW - 97
119,863 23,657
Other income and gains, net Hab g A R W R 58 173,698 327,547
* The amount represented subsidies received under the Anti-epidemic Fund and 3 ZAEERBEBENEES REME
other support scheme in Hong Kong. All conditions relating to these grants have Ei BB R - B EEDNA
been fulfilled. R EEK -
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PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

8.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows:

8. ®MEKA

AEBEZBEXRADHFIT

Interest on: UTEIBEZHE

Bank borrowings RITIE 55,596 59,651

Lease liabilities (note 17(b)) HEaE (ME17(0) 2,050 2,300
Total interest expenses FERA SN 57,646 61,951
Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in ERARTERTHEEZ

connection with the arrangement of bank loans BB 1%k AR 2 # 44 16,553 19,011
Total finance costs 4 Bh B A AN 74,199 80,962
Less: Amount included in cost of construction work ¥ - 5+ A EE T2 A AN 2 &% (1,369) (1,911)

72,830 79,051

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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Notes to Financial Statements

PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

9. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 9. BRBIAIER(FE)
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBZBRBEAEFN, (BE)EN
(crediting): B (5t A) T &IE:
2021
HK$°000
FATT
Cost of construction work BETREKA 6,334,643 6,336,764
Cost of construction-related BRI ERRE AN
consultancy services provided PR 7 P, AR 53,486 31,153
Cost of goods sold EEEmMKAR 13,088 5,764
Direct operating expenses (including WHRHES v BEFMEE 2
repairs and maintenance) arising on HEELERE (81
rental-earning assets HIERIRE) - 1,307
Cost of security, tunnel and other facility ~— Di{tR % BFE R EHAM
management services provided R E BB AR 2 AR 870,596 848,279
Depreciation of property, plant and M B RREBEIITE
equipment 15 53,963 55,178
Less: Amount included in cost of sales B BT ASHE A 2 8 EE (43,510) (46,737)
10,453 8,441
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 17(a) 32,424 31,948
Less: Amount included in cost of sales W ET A E AN 2 BFE (5.414) (7,802)
27,010 24,146
Amortisation of intangible assets | EE 216 =
Lease payments not included in the EFFAHEREAED
measurement of lease liabilities MERR 17(c) 68,521 80,764
Less: Amount included in cost of sales W ET A E AN 2 BEE (67,772) (80,233)
749 531
Auditor's remuneration ZEENEN & 5,280 5,120
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MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

9. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (continued) 9. BRBIADER (BHB) (@)
Employee benefit expense (including BERMNAX (B
directors’ remuneration — note 10): BEHM—KIE10) :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REWET 1,864,166 1,896,179
Equity-settled share option expense A ARGEE BB ERY  390) 7 1,048
Other equity-settled share-based EM AR EE 2 AR
payment expense (note) BERSFHRE (M) 5,533 1,804
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & /K48 F 5+ &) £ 5% 58,170 65,845
Total employee benefit expense EEBAMAZERE 1,927,876 1,964,876
Less: Amount included in cost of sales W E A E AN 2 B (1,632,552) (1,668,960)
295,324 295,916
Foreign exchange loss, net b X B985/ - 245
Fair value loss of investment WEYENTFEEIBFHE
properties, net 16 - 600
Fair value (gain)/loss of equity investments 32 A FExt A2 2 A
at fair value through profit or loss &2 NFE
(W) EE (668) 210
Losses on disposal of other subsidiaries HEHEMHERRZEIE 43(b) - 349
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEME - HWERREZ
equipment, net 518558 190 3,777
Impairment of goodwill B8 2R E 18 15,593 =
Written down of land held for property WORISE R 2 T
development to net realisable value ERBIRFE 22 73,769 =
Written down of inventories to MORF & 2= ] B3R FE
net realisable value - 380

Impairment of/(reversal of impairment) TREERGHNEEZ

financial assets and contract assets: BUE (BERIRE) :

Contract assets BHEE 24(3) 2,420 2,396

Trade receivables g 5 W sRIE 25(3) (158) 432

Other receivables H th iE Y FR T8 26(e) - 5,116

2,262 7,944

Write-off of property, plant and equipment 47 % - # 83 % 3% 5 < #8R 6 357
Write-off of investment in an associate R Z R aRE Z MR 59 3,556
Write-off of debt investments at fair BAFEGTABRELZ

value through profit or loss BT E 2 MR 3,642 =
Write-off of inventories a2 MR 2,795 —
Write-off of prepayment, deposits and FENHRIE EE R

other receivables L JE U 2k T8 2 R 609 =

TNEA ERmRARAT 20212246% 203
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31 March 2022
202293 A31H

0. PROF'T/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (continued)

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has entered into agreements
with two directors (one of which is an executive director of the Company)
and six employees of a subsidiary (the “Relevant Subsidiary”). Pursuant to
the agreements, subject to the fulfillment of certain performance conditions,
the directors and employees shall acquire a total of 16.25% equity interest
(the “Relevant Interest”) in the Relevant Subsidiary from the Group at a total
consideration of HK$7,865,000 in 5 equal tranches over vesting periods of 4 to 8
years.

The fair value of the Relevant Interest of the Relevant Subsidiary as at the grant
date was assessed to be HK$30,623,000, and therefore the difference between
its fair value and the consideration received/receivable, which amounted to
HK$22,758,000, shall be amortised as equity-settled share-based payment
expense in profit or loss over the vesting period of 4 to 8 years.

During the year, equity-settled share-based payment of 2% equity interest of the
Relevant Subsidiary lapsed, the amount of the Relevant Interest recognised in
profit or loss during the year amounted to HK$5,533,000 (2021: HK$1,804,000).

Fair value measurement disclosure

The fair value of the aforementioned equity interest of the subsidiary (an unlisted
equity investment) was determined with reference to a valuation performed by
Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, an independent
professionally qualified valuer registered in Hong Kong, using a market-based
valuation technique, based on assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates.

The fair value of the aforementioned equity interest of the subsidiary as at the
grant date has been determined with reference to a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections, which were based on a financial forecast approved
by senior management covering a five-year period. A growth rate of 2% is used
for the perpetual period and the discount rate of 14.6% applied to the cash
flow projections is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the construction
material e-procurement business. A marketability discount of 25% is applied to
the corresponding equity value of the unlisted equity investment to measure the
fair value.
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9. BRBAER, (BE) »)

f e

REZE202143A831ALLFER  NEEE
—MMEB AR ([EREMEAR]) ZME
EE (HPh—ZARRRNRITES) RN
ZREBFI M H#E -BEHE EKE T
KRB ZGH NEBSHEIESE N HEE
A A48 87,865,000/ TTHZEE KL ES
DEREREHERBHERRE H£16.25%
#RRIE ([1ERANRAE]) -

HEMBRREAERERRLASHNA
& {4 5 530,623,000/ T B It 0 H
AFERFK TERREZANEZEAL
22,758,000/ 7T - FE MAZE 8 ) 57 & H A
IRA G 5 2 LARR 19 A BT R M B X A 18
= MRS -

RAFEER - HREKE R F)2% K AR A4
B2 AR BEMMNRZBRERB RA
F[Z 1B AR 2 A8 B AR 4 £ 585,533,000
7T (20214 : 1,804,000/ 7T ) °

DAFEFERE

Lt B R e B (—TRE EWARAIR
B)ZRTFEDSEFERITEENER
MAARARE (REEEMNBILEES
A& E RN ) AR & 30 3F i 7] B AR (B 3 A
RXFNRERANGEERMET G
EMEE °

LB AR ERE L BN AFET
L2EPRSRESBATENERERE (A
= AVE IR B FT bR 2 R B R B A TR R
BEE)BE FEHANMEANEREA
2% M ARE R E R fREIRE14.6%
BREBA W IRME A ERBEEMR
ISR E AR - 25% HI KR BRI B AR
SELETRABEHENREBEUFGER
F1E -



Notes to Financial Statements

PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

10. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

10. EE N

REBEBIAEFS ETARR ([ LEHR
A1) - BB R EMEGIZE383(1)(@) (b)~ ()
RO GERAR (RBEEZEFDmER)R
BIEE28R NERZEEHMBENT

2021

HK$'000

FET

Fees e 1,342 1,228

Other emoluments: Ee

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EREWET 23,240 32,313

Equity-settled share option expense ARG AR5 5 2 BE AR A B =2 4 460
Other equity-settled share-based HEMUARAREE 2 ARG &

payment expense ERAFHAZ 1,202 389

Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFIFF B R 198 200

24,644 33,362

Total directors’ remuneration ERHMEE 25,986 34,590

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 10. ESHM )
An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named basis, is as REZBAFRER 2 ESHMATAT
follows:
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE2022F3A31BLFE
Salaries, Other equity-
allowancesand  Equity-settled  settled share- Retirement
benefits ~ share option based payment  benefit scheme
in kind expense expense  contributions
Hip AR A
BEZNURH
Fe RER  URAEEZ  RERARM BHBER
ik BENEA BRERX X e -
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FEx FET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors: BTES:
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic [ - 5,591 1 - 18 5610
Xu Jianhua, Jerry RRE - 4,744 1 - 60 4,805
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick [k - 6,887 1 1,202 60 8,150
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant SEE - 4,156 1 - 60 4217
Li Wai Hang, Christina ZER - 1,862 - - - 1,862
- 23,240 4 1,202 198 24,644
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Wong Wendy Dick Yee s 230 - - - - 230
Wang Nai Keung, Philco’ Bl 67 - - - - 67
Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley? BER 230 - - - - 230
527 - - - - 527
Independent non-executive directors: B FEHITESR:
Wu William Wai Leung ez 230 - - - - 230
Lam Yau Fung, Curt WhE 230 - - - - 230
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang CEEL 230 - - - - 230
Yen Gordon® BEH 125 - - - - 125
815 - - - - 815
Total BE 1342 23,240 4 1,202 198 25,986
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31 March 2022
202293 A31H

10. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021

10. EEHFM =)

BZ2021F3A31B LLEE

Salaries, Other equity-
allowances and Equity-settled settled share- Retirement
benefits share option  based payment  benefit scheme
in kind expense expense contributions
HiARA
EE 2R
e WRAGEE,  RERFRN RINER
we ENER R IER Fx HE:S ekl
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FAET FAT FET FET FET FAT
Executive directors: HiTES:
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic YK = 17,807 115 = 18 17,940
Xu Jianhua, Jerry hiEZ - 2,672 15 - 60 2,847
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick v - 1871 - 389 60 8,326
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant PNCES - 2,059 115 - 60 2,234
Li Wai Hang, Christina TEM - 1,862 46 - = 1,908
Han Li¢ G - 36 - - 2 38
- 32,313 391 389 200 33,293
Non-executive directors: kHiTES:
Wong Wendy Dick Yee’ e 202 - - - - 202
Wang Nai Keung, Philco’ B 134 - - - - 134
336 - - - - 336
Independent non-executive directors: BN FHITES:
Wu William Wai Leung fiil=2s 230 - bE] - = 253
Lam Yau Fung, Curt WhEE 230 = 3 = = 253
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang mEE 230 - 23 - - 253
Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley? BREB 202 = = = = 202
892 - 69 - - %1
Total ag 1,228 32,313 460 389 200 34,590
1 appointed as a non-executive director on 1 September 2020 and resigned as a 1 20209 A1 B EERFERNITEZT RN
non-executive director on 17 July 2021 20217 A7 BHEFRITES
2 appointed as an independent non-executive director on 15 May 2020 and 2 20205 RSB R ERBUFNTES
re-designated from an independent non-executive director to a non-executive RR2021F9R15H AB FFATTE RN
director on 15 September 2021 ERIFNITES
3 appointed as an independent non-executive director on 15 September 2021 3 MR2021F9R 1SR EERB U IENITES
4 resigned as an executive director on 20 July 2020 4 202067 A20 B BHIHITES
5 appointed as a non-executive director on 15 May 2020 5 M2020F5 A5 BEEAIERNITES
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31 March 2022
202293 A31H

10. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued) 10. EEFHMN =)

Notes:

(a) Certain directors had share-based payment transactions with the Group in the
current and prior years, in respect of their services to the Group, under the share
option scheme of the Company and another arrangement, further details of
which are set out in notes 39 and 9 to the financial statements, respectively.
The fair values of these share-based payment transactions, which have been
recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the
respective dates of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for
the current year is included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

(b) There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the year (2021: Nil).

11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 11.

The five highest paid employees during the year included four (2021:
two) directors of the Company, details of whose emoluments are set
out in note 10 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
one (2021: three) non-director highest paid employees is as follows:

GBS

(@ REACFRABEREAER-BERGZE
ETEFERNAFERBEFERBER
755 B P AR A A AR 75 R A B A SR B DA R AR
REVNHKRZ S HE-TFBEIHER
BB MRM AR - RERFEHER
AR ARD BERNRRHZAF
EEREBRE A REE  MRAFER
AMBBRROSECHA LR EEH MR
BEA-

b) AFER IEREMZHEETBERE
KRB REEAHM (20214 : &) -

hEmReEFNES

AFERN AERaFMNEERER
ARG Q021F WB)ES  HEH
FHIBEN EXXHIEE10 c FR—% (2021
F ZR)EEEERFTOHES 2 F
HBET

2021

HK$000

FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYRET 4,144 16,629
Equity-settled share option expense AR A4 H 2 IR R X - 134
Retirement benefit scheme contributions ROKEFET B 60 180
4,204 16,943

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

MENFTINBERNZIFEERESH
MiES 2 ABINT

Number of employees

BEAR
2022 2021
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T 23,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001/ 7L 4,500,00078 7T 1 1
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 9,000,0017% 7T %9,500,000/% 7T - 1
1 3
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202293 A31H

12. INCOME TAX 12. FrI8%H

An analysis of the Group'’s income tax is as follows:

AEBEZHRBROMAT :

Current — Hong Kong BER — &%
Charge for the year REFRZ 16,718 15,705
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BEFERETIR
CBEREE) 1,472 (15,804)
18,190 (99)
Current — Mainland China BVER — A B i
Charge for the year NEERXZ 12,658 43
Current — Elsewhere BVER - Efibith 5
Charge for the year REERZ 784 1,009
Under-provision in prior years BEFEEETE - 1,032
784 2,041
Deferred (note 36) RIE (PH5E36) (2,604) 389
Total tax expense for the year REERIERZ A5 29,028 2,374
Notes: Bt 5

(@) Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except
for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2021: HK$2,000,000)
of the assessable profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates.

(@) BEMNBBDNEAEFENERBEEZME
FHIERRBE FIA16.5% (20214 :16.5% )
TR A E — MK E R RBRI
ZATATAEMBEFNEREHENE
B2 o 2% [T B /A 71 E2,000,0007 7T (20214 :
2,000,000/ 7T ) B9 & & Bt i F1428.25% K
0 88T FE AR B 0% F BI4216.5% B 1F o i E
fth, 3th, [ AR B v A KA 2 BRI ThARBR AR
SELEZAEER ZIBITHERTHE -
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12. INCOME TAX (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at
the statutory tax rates to the tax expense at the Group's effective tax rate is as
follows:

A s
12. FR8% (&)
M : (48)
(b) BEEMRAE 2B ANEF, (E18) &

ABERY (ER) BRAEEER =
FHEZHBERS ZHRNT

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$000
FAET FHT
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBATET] (B18) 136,964 (186,711)
Tax expense/(credit) at the statutory tax rates BEATHERZRERS/ (H5) 15,720 115 (25,524) 13.7
Effect of withholding tax on gain on sale of BIRE BB E —FHEAR
property interest through disposal of a subsidiary &M ¥ % 2 WY 12,157 8.9 = =
Profits and losses attributable to joint AEDAREERNEEGZ
ventures and associates B REE (1,842) (1.3) (5,747) 3.1
Income not subject to tax PERBZ WA (46,594) (34.0) (55,645) 298
Expenses not deductible for tax Ok b b 27,024 19.7 71,544 (38.3)
Under/(over)-provision in prior years, net BAFERETR/ (BEEE)
FE 1,472 1.1 (14,772) 79
Tax losses not recognised RERZFEER 28,692 20.9 41,355 (22.2)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods A K AIERE 2 HEBRE (7,558) (5.5) (9,549) 5.1
Others Hitp (43) (0.1) 712 (0.4)
Tax expense at the Group’s effective tax rate BRASEERB XA E 2 HERX 29,028 212 2,374 (13)
13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE

Interim — HKO0.88 cent (2021: HK0.87 cent)

2021

HK$'000
FET

R A — 5 A% X 3B 120,887 (1L

per ordinary share (202148 : 0.87/81l1) 15,921 15,880

Proposed final — HK1.10 cents (2021: Nil) BEAH-SREERKR
per ordinary share 1.10781l (20214 : &) 19,821 =
35,742 15,880

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 14. A DATIRREEERER

ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amount is based
on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to shareholders of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares used
in the calculation is (i) the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year; less (ii) the weighted average number
of ordinary shares held under the share award scheme of the
Company during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per share
amount presented as the share options of the Company outstanding
during each of the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 had
no diluting effect on the basic earnings/(loss) per share amount
presented.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
amounts is based on the following data:

Earnings/(Loss)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company, used in the basic
and diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation

(E])

BREXRARN, (BE)2BHRER
REBREEAFE R, (BB
8o mErE AT BRI H
BOARNFEREAD BETZEBBRNEF
B8R () AN FEARIBA QB R '
BRI AR T BB NE -

AR RIRE E20224 K%202143 A
BHESEFERRTEZERESDS
2 BREARAF, (FHE) &L
EEBEYE RYERZIZ2ER
BEAXAEAN(EE)SBIERFE-

BREARBERT, (BR)SED
RIFAT IR E

&R (BE)

2022 2021
HK$'000

FET

HK$000
FET

AR RIPRR EAEF R F,
(E18) - ANGTESK
BEARREERT, (ER)

121,999 (184,506)

Number of shares

R EE

2022 2021

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year less weighted average
number of ordinary shares held under the
share award scheme during the year, used in
the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
calculation

FABRTEBRINEFS
SR A R AR B A {0 £
B Rt AR T B ntE
FHE ARFTEESRER
R#sERN, (BE)

1,800,188,943 1,816,611,009

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y13 - B R R E

Furniture,
Land and Plantand fixtures and Motor
buildings machinery  equipment vehicles
B REBR
THREF HBERRE B RE Ag

HKS'000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
TET TET TET TET TET

(Note)
(Krit)
At 31 March 2022 #202253A318
At 1 April 2021: 202154818 :
Cost KA 95,146 536,960 173,760 69,563 875,429
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ R&TH & LA (7.616) (306,410) (131,157) (46,702) (491,885)
Net carrying amount EmFE 87,530 230,550 42,603 22,861 383,544
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 1 April 2021 202154710 87,530 230,550 42,603 22,861 383,544
Additions AE 86 10,353 2,809 2,284 15,532
Transfer to assets of a disposal BYEHERRIERE
group classified as held for sale CALESBMEE ¥ - (13,196) (2,985) (25) (16,206)
Depreciation provided during the year FREHRZITE (2.467) (34,349) (9.964) (7.183) (53,963)
Disposals and write-off HE RME - (2732 (773) (1,207) (4,712)
Exchange realignment EHBE (287) 3) 31) - (321)
At 31 March 2022 MW202253A318 84,862 190,623 31,659 16,730 323,874
At 31 March 2022: 12022434318
Cost A 94,936 524,095 167,237 63,049 849,317
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ 2&HTE KsE (10,074) (333,472) (135,578) (46,319) (525,443)
Net carrying amount FHFE 84,862 190,623 31,659 16,730 323,874
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PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continved) 15. Y13 - #EBE R 81E (2)

Furniture,
Land and Plantand fixtures and Motor
buildings machinery  equipment vehicles
B -RER
THREF BERRE B3] RE am
Notes HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
it FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
(Note)
(Hiiz)
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3A318
At 1 April 2020: "2020F4 7818 :
Cost A 50,369 419,941 149,487 68,412 688,209
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ R&T# & R E (4,284) (241,780) (108,027) (43,021) (397,112)
Net carrying amount EEFE 46,085 178,161 41,460 25,391 291,097
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 1 April 2020 202054710 46,085 178,161 41,460 25,391 291,097
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERB AR 420) - 4,748 3,159 735 8,642
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon MEARRENRE
resumption of control EHERGE AR a2b) 42,79 436 4,097 123 47,452
Additions AE 60 83,505 7,214 4,845 95,624
Transfer from right-of-use assets REREEEEA 17(a) - 4,533 - - 4533
Depreciation provided during the year FRFRZNE (2,058) (36,697) (9,068) (7,355) (55,178)
Disposals and write-off HE RME - (4,139) (4,316) (898) (9,353)
Exchange realignment EHAE 647 3 57 20 727
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3A318 87,530 230,550 42,603 22,861 383,544
At 31 March 2021: 2021437318
Cost A 95,146 536,960 173,760 69,563 875,429
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ 2&H 7€ K sE (7,616) (306,410) (131,157) (46,702) (491,885)
Net carrying amount FEFE 87,530 230,550 42,603 22,861 383,544
Note: At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group's land and buildings with a then total Bk : 202263 A310 AEEEEAE T L
net carrying amount of HK$81,170,000 (2021: HK$83,453,000) were pledged to RigF HABRHEFE 481,170,000/ T
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 34(d)). (20214 : 83,453,000 7t ) ' fE A A £

R —RRITRE 2R (HFE34d)) -
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PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

16. REWE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

214

2022
HK$'000
FET
Carrying amount as at beginning of year ~ F#IEFHIBREE 11,256 =
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon BB A Rl R EFES
resumption of control PR AR A ABR 42(b) - 11,790
Net loss from fair value adjustments NP EFABZEEFE - (600)
Exchange realignment ME H 38 B (80) 66
Carrying amount as at end of year FARIERREE 11,176 11,256
Notes: B 5
(a) At 31 March 2022, investment properties of the Group with a then total carrying (a) 2022938311 + #ERME(E/6,010,0005
amount of Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) 6,010,000 (equivalent to HK$11,176,000) KEGLE ([2&F]) (FHER11,176,000
(2021: RM6,010,000, equivalent to HK$11,256,000) were pledged to secure #JC) (20214 :6,010,0006 5 @ HE B
certain general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 34(d)). 11,256,00078 7T) K AN = 18 B 1) 3£ B 1K 47
EAREBERE T —RRTREZ ER
(FF3E34(d)) °
(b) At 31 March 2022, the Group's investment properties were remeasured based (b) R2022F3A318  BREBEBIHERERKM

on valuations performed by PPC International SDN BHD (2021: PPC International
SDN BHD), independent professional qualified valuer. Each year, the Group's
senior management decides which external valuers to be appointed for the
external valuations of the Group'’s investment properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s senior management has on-going discussions with the
valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation results during the course of
the valuation.
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Notes to Financial Statements

MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. REWE )

Notes: (continued) MeE: (4&)

(b) (continued) (b) (%)
Fair value hierarchy disclosure ANTFEEREE
At 31 March 2022 and 2021, fair value measurements of the Group's investment 72022F 2021463 A31H  AEEERE
properties were using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 as defined in MEZ A TEFEFERAERTITEREA
HKFRS 13). During the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there were no R (F=R ERRABMBHREER
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 (quoted prices in active F135%) « RE 220224 K202143A31H
markets) and Level 2 (significant observable inputs) and no transfers into or out HFE AFEAZEF R CERTHR
of Level 3. BIHRFE R (EATBEREALZIR) 2H

WEER  NEEAREHE =R

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key inputs to UNTAEATFEFEE=RT2EREME
the valuation of the investment properties which are within Level 3 fair value HEMAAEERTREZRAABIEIHE

measurement category:

Direct comparison approach  Selling property unit rate (per square foot) RM438 to RM927 (equivalent RM438 to RM927 (equivalent

to HK$814 to HK$1,724) to HK$820 to HK$1,736)
HELBA HEMEBNEB(FTEHR) 4385 EFE275E (HER 4385FEN7SE (AER
8148 T E1,724 T) 820/ L E1,736/87T)
The valuations were arrived at by making reference to comparable sales HEDE2ERFAMSETHAIELRD
transactions as available in the relevant markets. In the valuation under the direct ERFMEB - BEEELE ZHNMHE"
comparison approach, the comparables are made by reference to those of similar AL EME TR Z /TR EIED -
properties in the neighbourhood.
The investment properties of the Group were valued using the direct comparison AEENREMFEREELBUEGE 5
approach, under which market price is one of the key inputs, taking into account - mSEERAFERABZ — Witk
the time, location, and individual factors, such as frontage and size, between the ALY ERZYE R B R ES
comparables and the property. E=mERRE
A significant increase in the market price used would result in a significant increase in FiE RS ERARENEEBIREME
the fair value measurement of the investment properties, and vice versa. AFEFERELA R2ZIA-

TMEE S EZERER AR

2021/224F %,
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MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

17. LEASES
The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 16) consisting
of residential properties in Malaysia under operating lease
arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the tenants
to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised by the Group
during the year was HK$1,116,000 (2021: HK$319,000), details of
which are included in note 7 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2022, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by
the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases
with its tenants are as follows:

17. &

AEBESHBEA
AEERBELEHERHEBERKRE
W (HiE16)  BRFRATHEE
ME-HEGRBTEZREAL X MF
Fe ARBRAFEARIAZERK
A %1,116,0007% 7T (20214F : 319,000
BIT) EFBER M RARM T o

R2022F3A31H AEERIKEEM
Fal M 2 Al s & E 1 & ok 81
FER z AR HEEMNKOT

Within one year —F R 1,419 222
After one year but within two years —FREMFAN 431 99

1,850 321
The Group as a lessee TEBEREEA

The Group has lease arrangements as a lessee for land, properties,
plant and machinery and motor vehicles for use in its operations.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased
land from the owners with a lease period of 75 years each, and
no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land
leases.

Leases of properties have lease terms ranging from 1 to 5 years,
while leases of plant and machinery and motor vehicles have
remaining lease terms of 1 year and 3 to 6 years, respectively.
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22

AEE (EAEABAAN)BEEREEES
EAZ i Y% BB REHEARA
BHrHERHE-BEH—IXEMTMN
MEFESTHE i FAHE A75F

MBEZETHWHEEZER H1-e
BEELEMAMARK

MEBRE BN F1E5F  #=R

REBEARAEZHERTHBD 5
NF1FERIE6F-—RM =5 AEH
AR AAREEAMATEZ RS ER
EEE-



Notes to Financial Statements

PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

17. LEASES (continued) 17. 58 #)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KEBEREEA ()
(a) Right-of-use assets () EAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and rEEFEAREECREBERR
the movements during the year are as follows: REBNEBINT

Leasehold Leased Plant and Motor
land properties machinery vehicles Total

BEtH BENE BERRH nE R
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000

TET Tz Tz Tz Tz

(Note)

(Hit)
At 1 April 2020 M202064A1R 139,233 37,275 4711 965 182,184
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBAR 2() - 4,131 - 1,719 5,850
Consolidation of subsidiaries WEARRENREG

upon resumption of control BHERGS AR 42(b) 6,431 3,692 256 1,897 12,276
Additions NE 4,685 12,002 - 447 17,134
Depreciation provided during FRFRZNE

the year (5,219) (25,406) (219) (1,104) (31,948)
Transfer to property, plant and BHENE BERR

equipment 15 - - (4,533) - (4,533)
Early termination of a lease RAK RS = (215) = - (215)
Exchange realignment X AR 251 - 2 14 267
As at 31 March 2021 and R20211453A318 &

1 April 2021 20214818 145,381 31,479 217 3,938 181,015
Additions RE - 34,099 - 458 34,557
Depreciation provided during FRERNE

the year (5,434) (25,310) (25) (1,655) (32,424)
Transfer to assets of a disposal BRENEAREEEL

group classified as held for sale  —EHEEENEE 31 - (3,165) - (734) (3,899)
Disposals HE - - (189) (1,146) (1,335)
Exchange realignment B X 3% 150 - ) (9) 138
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3A31R 140,097 37,103 - 852 178,052
Note: At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group’s leasehold land with a then Mizr: M202293A31H - AEEBEHE

total net carrying amount of HK$119,308,000 (2021: HK$123,963,000) WEFTHE L HLAKREFE

were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group £119,308,0007% 7T (20214 :

(note 34(d)). 123,963,000 7T) " fF B AKE
BEE-RRTBREZER (M
34(d)) °

TSNE A EEIERARAT 2021/22%% 217
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PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

17. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

17. HE »)

AEBEEREBA (#)

(b) HEKME
AEEHEREZREERNA
FERZEEHMT

2022
Notes HK$'000
k23 FETT
At beginning of year REA] 55,805 65,264
Acquisition of subsidiaries s BE B BB 2 ) 42(a) - 6,112
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon  Bff /& A AR E #EUS
resumption of control PR AR A ABR 42(b) - 6,611
New leases MEE 34,403 12,429
Early termination of a lease RAMKZIE—IEHE - (215)
Accretion of interest recognised FABRHEER
during the year 8 2,050 2,300
Payments (BN (39,078) (36,719)
Transfer to liabilities directly EREHSHEAREHEEL
associated with the assets of —FHrEEBR Y
a disposal group classified as BEEEEAEBNERE
held for sale 37 (4,043) -
Exchange realignment PE 3% 17) 23
At end of year RER 49,120 55,805
Portion classified as current liabilities 548 &R &) & & 2 5 (26,729) (30,722)
Non-current portion SEMENER 22,391 25,083

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 49
to the financial statements.
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PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

17. LEASES (continued) 17.

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(o)

Other lease information

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
are as follows:

HE 2
rEBEREBA (&)
(0 EHipAEEs

RiBRER AR 55
-

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZFE 2,050 2,300
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZNE 32,424 31,948
Expense relating to short-term leases HERHHEEFE A

(included in cost of sales and (GFASEER AR

administrative expenses) TEAY) 68,521 80,764
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBE AR B%E 102,995 115,012

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 41(c) to
the financial statements.

HERSRE BRI EREN
AR

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

18. GOODWILL 18. BE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
At beginning of the year: REA:
Cost DN 122,377 43,211
Accumulated impairment 2EHRE - =
Net carrying amount IREFE 122,377 43,211
Net carrying amount: AREEE
At 1 April R4F1H 122,377 43,211
Acquisition of subsidiaries I BE B B A &) 42(a) - 64,916
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon B A Rl R EFTERAS
resumption of control TH R AR S AR 42(b) - 14,044
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—fHEK B AR 43(b) - (2,476)
Impairment recognised during the year FAERRE (15,593) =
Exchange realignment RS 6 2,682
At 31 March M3H31H 106,790 122,377
At end of the year: RER:
Cost DN 122,383 122,377
Accumulated impairment 2EHRE (15,593) =
Net carrying amount REEE 106,790 122,377
Impairment testing of goodwill BB R E AR

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
following cash-generating units (or group of cash-generating units)

for impairment testing:

BBREGAHAABEOEERD KR A
THREELSEN (SIRSEEEMER)

TR AR

o Building construction and architectural consultancy business in o
Singapore of HK$45.9 million (2021: HK$45.8 million);

o Interior design and fit-out business in Malaysia of HK$14.0 o

million (2021: HK$14.1 million);

o Provision of electrical and mechanical engineering services o
business in Hong Kong of HK$15.6 million (2021: HK$15.6
million); and

o PET radiopharmaceuticals business in Hong Kong of HK$46.8 o

million (2021: HK$46.8 million).
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MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

18. GOODWILL (continued) 18. ﬁ% (&)

Impairment testing of goodwiill (continued)

The recoverable amount of each of the relevant business units has
been determined with reference to a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections, which were based on a financial forecast
approved by senior management covering a five-year period.

Based on the results of the impairment testing of goodwill, in the
opinion of the Directors, except for the cash-generating unit of the
provision of electrical and mechanical engineering services business,
no impairment provision is considered necessary for the Group’s
goodwill as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The following describes each key assumption on which management
has based for the preparation of the cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Building construction and architectural consultancy business
() Budgeted gross margin

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the
budgeted gross margin is the average gross margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased
for expected efficiency improvements and expected market
development.

(i) Business environment

There have been no major changes in the existing political,
legal and economic conditions in Singapore.

(i) Growth rate
The growth rate of 1.4% (2021: 1.4%) applied to the cash
flow projections is based on the average annual inflation rate
in Singapore.

(iv)  Discount rate

The discount rate of 11.9% (2021: 11.7%) applied to the cash
flow projections is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating
to the building construction and architectural consultancy
business.

EERERNR (#)

SRR ENNTRESBEISE
ERRSRERANENEAEES
EEAEDERRRERBIEL
AFRRBRAFENR S RERA
i o

BEMEREIRER EFERE RN
20224 K2021F3A31H ' BRIzt E
TERBEH o BRSEEEMIN I
EBULERASE BT IRBERE-

BIEE R ERERNANRER
EBFRAFMRENSEARRERLIAT :

BTIERRELBHRER

() EEEFE
RAABEREENREBEMNESE
RERBEFEA —FMERN
FHEME AREAREEF R
BRI SFEMIE

(i) EBERE
N IR A BOA AR RN
M EEXEE) -

(i) HEZEK
RERERBMERZ1.4%
(2021F : 1.4% )IERETHERF
I FEBIRE -

(v) BYHE
BenEe@AMERZ11.9%
(2021F 1 11.7% ) B IR K BB
AR RBEBEFERLEE
AAESRNETER -

DM E EEIERARAR 202122F
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MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwiill (continued)

Interior design and fit-out business

(i) Budgeted gross margin
The basis used to determine the value assigned to the
budgeted gross margin is the average gross margin achieved
in the prior years before the year with Covid-19 pandemic,
increased for expected efficiency improvements and expected
market development.

(i) Business environment

There have been no major changes in the existing political and
legal environment in Malaysia.

(i) Growth rate

The growth rate of 2.5% (2021: 2.5%) applied to the cash
flow projections is based on the average annual inflation rate
in Malaysia.

(iv)  Discount rate

The discount rate of 19.3% (2021: 16.5%) applied to the cash
flow projections is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to
the interior design and fit-out business.

Provision of electrical and mechanical engineering services

business

(i) Budgeted gross margin
The basis used to determine the value assigned to the
budgeted gross margin is the average gross margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased
for expected efficiency improvements and expected market
development.

(i) Business environment

There have been no major changes in the existing political,
legal and economic conditions in Hong Kong.

(i) Growth rate

The growth rate of 2.5% (2021: 2.5%) applied to the cash
flow projections is based on the average annual inflation rate
in Hong Kong.
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(1)
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ANEEEEERNREEMNIE
AFERARBEEREEFE 2NN
BEFEMERNFEHENE
EIEFT AR IEF R T B
g A0 o

(i) HERE
BRI IR A BUAR RAEREL
HEAEE-

(i) HWRE
BenEBAMERZ2.5%
(2021F : 25% )RR HERE
RAGFHFEBIRE -

() ALHE
ReREBAMERZ219.3%
(20214 : 16.5% ) BH IR R AR
M RMEEERNRTREE
B ERE -

BHEETIRRBER

() FAEEFE
RNEEEEEFREEMNEE
AEEBEFER —FMERN
FHERME  BABEARERREFA R
FE R T 5 R A A0

(i) HEERE
EBEBBBOR AR REBARR
WiEEKEE -

(i) HRE

RERERAMERZ2.5%
(20214 : 2.5% ) IER R HENE
BEHFEBIRE -
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31 March 2022
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwiill (continued)

Provision of electrical and mechanical engineering services
business (continued)

(iv)

Discount rate

The discount rate of 10.0% (2021: 16.3%) applied to the cash
flow projections is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to
the electrical and mechanical engineering services business.

Based on the results of the impairment testing of goodwill, in the
opinion of the Directors, an impairment provision of HK$15,593,000
against the goodwill attributable to the provision of electrical and
mechanical engineering services business was considered necessary
in response to the under-performance of the business, and was
charged to profit or loss during the year.

PET radiopharmaceuticals business

(1)

(ir)

(iir)

(iv)

Budgeted gross margin

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the
budgeted gross margin is the average gross margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased
for expected efficiency improvements, and expected market
development.

Business environment

There have been no major changes in the existing political,
legal and economic conditions in Hong Kong.

Growth rate

The growth rate of 2.5% (2021: 2.5%) applied to the cash
flow projections is based on the average annual inflation rate
in Hong Kong.

Discount rate

The discount rate of 14.9% (2021: 16.9%) applied to the cash
flow projections is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to
the PET radiopharmaceuticals business.

18. B & (»)
BERENR (&)
RURETREREER (£)

(v) BLHEE
ReR=EEAMERZ210.0%
(20214 :16.3% ) B IR R BB
AR RBMEBAEE TRREE
TERE E R o

BEFERENANER EFERA
HREBRBETE BV EFRIREE
EIRREESNEEFIRRERE
15,593,000/ 7t * W AN F E NET A

s
ZS o
I

ESFRHERFERYER

() BEEFEF
ANEBEREENREEBMNELE
REEBEFERN —FMERDN
FHEMNE REFRERES R
BRI S FEE MBI

() #HBE
ERRAHOR AR REERR
W mEART) -

(i) ERE
BenEBAMERZ2.5%
(20214 1 2.5% ) IER R HENE
BEHEEBIREK -

() GEHE
ReREBANMERZ214.9%
(20215 :16.9% ) Bh IR R A% i
BIR) K e ML B IE B 137 18 BT
1 B ) SE TS Y T R ©

DM E EEIERARAR 202122F

223



Notes to Financial Statements

PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. B EE
Patent
=R
HK$ 000
FET
At 31 March 2022 7A202263H31H
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 1R2020F4 81H 202163 H31H &
1 April 2021: 2021F4 /18 -
Cost B 7R =
Accumulated amortisation ZET A -
Net carrying amount BREFEE =
Net carrying amount: BRI HEE -
At 1 April 2021 20214 H1H8 -
Additions NE 2,500
Amortisation provided during the year FNETE Y (216)
At 31 March 2022 7202243 A31H 2,284
At 31 March 2022: 202243 A318 -
Cost PR 7R 2,500
Accumulated amortisation 2T (216)
Net carrying amount BRIEHER 2,284
Note: On 9 September 2021, the Group entered into a confirmatory agreement and : M202149A9H AEEH|-Smart
patent assignment agreement (collectively the “Agreements”) with I-Smart Technology International Limited ( £ 778 8l
Technology International Limited (a connected person as defined under Listing AEOBEALTREAT —Eh4E FTEH
Rules and owned as to 45% by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, Li Wai Hang, T REZ—OELHEAIS% ) 5] HER
Christina and Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita). Pursuant to the Agreements, the Group WE LB EE R (58 (%S5 HE]) °
agreed to purchase patent for the invention of a control system and a wireless REZZEHE AEBREEEZFHRR
control method at a total cash consideration of HK$2,500,000. The transaction REGEGTENEAFEN BRERE
was completed on 5 October 2021. 7%2,500,000/% JT ° 32 5 12021410 A5H

FERK °

224 Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2021/22



Notes to Financial Statements

PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. REELRRIZRE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FHET
Share of net assets R EEFE 12,272 12,349
Notes: B 5 -
(a) Particulars of a joint venture as at 31 March 2022 are set out in note 52 to the (a) —A %A AIR202243A31H 2B
financial statements. B IR M 552 ©
(b)  Summarised financial information of joint ventures (b) AEARZHBEREE
The following table illustrates the financial information of joint ventures of the TREFIAEEERNEREERANZY
Group that are not individually material: AR
2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Share of the joint venture’s profit for the year BIEGERARIZEEREF 562 3,532
Share of the joint venture’s other BhEERRIZEREHM
comprehensive (lossyincome for the year 2m (1) K (639) 511
Share of the joint venture’s total EHEEARIZEEE2E
comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (B518) /Wa4ess (77) 4,043
Aggregate carrying amount of the AEBREERRIZERE
Group's investment in the joint venture Z BRI {E 12,272 12,349
21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. REFE R RE
2021
HK$000
FAET
Share of net assets EihEEFE 320,534 152,595
Due from associates JRE W Bgk i 1} B) 2 FRIR (b) 223,366 223,350
Total investments in associates REEE RNR 2B HREE 543,900 375,945
Notes: B 3
(a) Particulars of the principal associates as at 31 March 2022 are set out in note 53 (a) BT EBMANTN2022638318 2415
to the financial statements. N IR D3 o
(b) These balances, in substance, form part of the net investments in associates and (b) ZERBEE LBERARBE AR EFHE
are not expected to be repaid within one year and hence they are classified as BW—F5 REHIER —FANEE"
non-current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. There were b EREGEMBRARFT DB RIERS
no recent history of default and past due amounts for the amounts due from B o FENE R R 2 FRIA N AT BRE R
associates. At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the loss allowance was assessed to be S0 8% K 380 HA 5K 78 - 102022F K 2021434
minimal. 310 FIEBERTEREN

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

() Summarised financial information of associates

The following entities are considered as material associates of the Group and are
accounted for using the equity method during the year:

(0}

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

Top Spring Chun Wo Property Development Holdings Limited (“TSCWPD")
and its subsidiary (the “TSCWPD Group”), the major asset of which is
a quality residential development project located at Waterloo Road, Ho
Man Tin in Hong Kong;

Creative Profit Development Limited (“CPDL"), which owns a parcel of
land located at Cameron Road in Hong Kong for property development;

Clover Peak Limited (“CPL"), which is dormant during the year after
disposal of a 10% equity interest in a property development project
located at 38 Lai Ping Road, Sha Tin Town Lot No. 579, Sha Tin, N.T. in
2021;

Chun Wo Bus Services (BVI) Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Chun Wo
Bus Group”), which own 97 (2021: 92) motor buses and 92 (2021: 92)
passenger service licences for the provision of non-franchised bus services
in Hong Kong;

Rainbow Jasper Limited (“RJL") and its subsidiaries (the “RIL Group”),
which own a parcel of land located at Soy Street in Hong Kong for
property development;

Soyo Development Limited (“SDL") and its subsidiary (the “SDL Group”),
which own a parcel of land located at Castle Peak Road in Hong Kong
for property development; and

B Rt 5 B3 A P A A F (the “Shijiazhuang Junling”), which
became an associate of the Group on 18 November 2021 (note 43(a))
and own a comprehensive commercial development project, residential
properties and car parking spaces in Mainland China.

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information in respect
of the TSCWPD Group, CPDL, CPL, the Chun Wo Bus Group, the RIL Group,
Shijiazhuang Junling and the SDL Group adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial

statements:

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22

21. RBERNT2RE (#)

MieE: (&)

PN

(0

RIS E R BEE

UTEREEASARENEABEQR]
WAFERRBEREAR:

(0]

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

RREMDEERZRER A A
(TRREMNMEZR]) LEANE
AR ([RRENDEHEREER]) -
HBRBERNREEMNXAE]
TEN—EEEEEHERER

BIMERERAR ([BIMER]) -
HBEAMNEREHREIBRIE
MEER:

Clover Peak Limited ([CPL]) * A
2021 F HERL R F A Y AT 5
5795 BB ITHE38R  MHX HRIEA
B10% IRIEE - RFERNRRTE

Chun Wo Bus Services (BVI) Limited
REMBAR (EMBLEE]) -
#AH97 (20214 : 92) 8 £+ &92
(20215 : ) RBBEEEBUNES
BRUFFEE LIRS

HEEBRRA([FE])REWES
AR ([REEEH]) HBEAUNE
BEORE 2 BIEMEER

Soyo Development Limited
(IsDL]) R E P28 ([SDLE&
BRMERREEMLREESIL
B —H I Rk

EREEERHWEREERAR
(TBEREHS])N2021F11818
B AREBZBE QR (K&
43@))  TRPBERMEERAE
EFIIEE EEMERIBSBEA -

TREJRRENDEHREE  BIF 3
B-CPL-EMELEE PEXE  AX
HESKSDLEE (L@t BRNEME
REFHFR) W& R B A R S B
MR EERE IR -
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21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@] Summarised financial information of associates (continued)

Proportion of the
Group's ownership

Financial position

TSCWPD
Group
REHRA
NELREE

2022

EARERE

ENEDL 40%

HKS 000

Az

BERR

Motor buses and passenger 2+ R %8

2021

40%

HK$000

CPDL

E:

2022

20%

HKS 000
TR

2021

20%

40%

40%

21. RBE QR Z2RE (#)

Chun Wo
Bus Group

2022

60%

2021

MeE: (&)
(0 HERTUBEHNEE (&)

RIL SDL  Shijiazhuang
Junling®

Group Group

b2 ]
2022

SDLE®E
2022

REHES

2021 2022

40% 40% 49%
HK$ 000

-2

senvice licences BEE - - - - - - 326664 326227 - = - -
Other non-current assets 1 EREVAE 14,128 14128 14000 14700 - = 797 543 - = - -
Properties under BRAYE
development 1544786 1515847 1,199,992 1,149,868 - = - - 370887 352,944 339,072 427,465
Properties held for sale R {ESHEMHE - - - - - - - - - - - 43
Cash and cash equivalents B4 828 $

Z@ER 367 63933 19332 104730 289 279,165 5980 12282 26,883 7,408 5,064 14,772
Other current assets AR EE 6,197 14417 54 1 5 12 3260 2673% 200833 70 10 6,570
Current assets REEE 1,824,654 1,594,197 1219378 1254599 29 279177 38600 39018 598,603 360,422 344,146 449,550
Current liabilties HBEE (1,926,771) (1,686,343)  (704,606)  (711,100) (386) (279210) (334784) (338773) (473275  (226513) (2364200  (100,721)
Non-current liablities FRaE - - (531863) (568,010) - - - (75)  (148671) (141,000  (107,770) -
Net ((iabilties)/assets (BfE) /BE%E  (87,989)  (78018)  (3091)  (9811) (52) (33) 31277 26740 (23383) (7,091) (49) 348829
Group’s share of net assets A5 EFE(EES &
of the associates ARBEFE -+ - -+ - -+ - 18766 16044 -+ = - 170,926

Financial performance

Revenue

(Loss)profit before tax and
(loss)/profit for the
year/period

Other comprehensive
income for the
year/period

Group’s share of
(loss)/profit for the
year/period

Group’s share of other
comprehensive income
for the year/period

Dividend receivable

BBER

EXE -

B (5i) /
aHRER/
B (BR) /
il

E/HNER
2ENE

(3318)

AEEEEFR/

B (sR) /

il -+
AEEHEFR/

BRAMEE

Yoss -
MRS -

(29,578)

(6,718)

(567)

(17)

(66,904)

(26,762)

32,728

55,583

4,536

2,122

42,516

10,073

6,044

Period from
18 November
2021to

31 March
2022

Period from
13 August
2021to

31 March
2022

Period from
29 December
2020 (date of
acquisition) to

2022 31 March 2021

2000F
12A298
(KBRS E
1%
3A31R 1L

20215
8A13H
2ANE
38316 L5

0215
11A18H
ZANE

3A31H L5

(16,253) (709 @1 (838)
- - - 292

E £ - (435)

- - - 1446

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

©

Summarised financial information of associates (continued)

#

Shijiazhuang JunJing became an associate during the year and hence
comparative information in respect of the financial year ended 31 March
2021 was not presented in the table above. The financial performance
information of Shijiazhuang Junling presented above is the post-partial
disposal results for the period from the date of disposal of 18 November
2021 to 31 March 2022.

The Group has discontinued sharing further losses of the TSCWPD Group,
CPDL, CPL, the RIL Group and the SDL Group because the share of their
losses has exceeded the Group's investments in them and the Group
has no obligation to take up further of their losses. The amounts of the
Group's accumulated unrecognised share of the losses of the TSCWPD
Group, CPDL, CPL, the RIL Group and the SDL Group as at 31 March
2022 were HK$32,261,000 (2021: HK$30,934,000), HK$3,533,000
(2021: HK$2,189,000), HK$7,000 (2021: N/A), HK$9,338,000 (2021:
HK$2,836,000) and HK$12,000 (2021: N/A), respectively.

21. RBE QR Z2RE 2

BeE: (4

(@]

BENRNYBEANEE (&)

#

ERERERAFEERAHE R
Al At ER AP IR 25 Z=2021
FIANB I BFEN LA -
EREVNNAREESOUHEE
B AAHEAEH2021511A18H
E2022F3A31H AN B L HE
BELE-

AEEERIEDERFEMDE
BREH AIFER CPL-XE

ERSDLEEZE—DEER HE
EEBEEBBASEERERE
BAREEY EEFAELMERE-
MR20226F3A31H  NEBEL K
SEMYERRER - AIFIEHE-
CPL- ¥ EEBMRSDLEB R K
RN ERSED R 532,261,000

77T (20214F 30,934,000/ 7T )
3,533,0007% 7T (20214F : 2,189,000
A T) ~ 7,000 7T (20214 : i@
F) ~9,338,000/8 7t (20214 :
2,836,000/ 7t ) & 12,000% 7T
(20215 : NERA) °

TERBIIAEE ARFEABEATZ
AT E A

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group's
associates that are not individually material:

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Share of the associates’ comprehensive EhBEAR2EREREER:
income or loss:
Profit for the year F R 6,874 35,696
Other comprehensive income for the year FREAM 2 E R 270 1,582
Total comprehensive income for the year FRE2EBELE 7,144 37,278
Share of the associates’ assets and liabilities: EhBMEARNEERERE:
Non-current assets ERBNEE 76,358 99,618
Current assets MEEE 60,767 37,461
Current liabilities mEAE (6,208) (306)
Non-current liabilities FEmBAE (75) (222)
130,842 136,551
Dividend received from the associates ERBE QTR 28,795 2,971
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22. LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT 22. Y ERRE 21 ith

The Group’s land held for property development is leasehold
land or land use rights acquired by the Group for future property
development for sale. An analysis of the Group’s land held for
property development by geographical area as at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

REBFEMERR 2 THAAREER
RARMELREHEREMERZ
THE Tk TR A =R E
RAEERFEMERR 2 THIRERH
@O :

2021
HK$000
FET
Hong Kong BE 42,676 37,887
The UAE ] B 163,638 236,149
206,314 274,036
Portion classified as current assets DEEAREE 2D (42,676) (37,887)
Non-current portion IETEE 163,638 236,149

The directors expected that the development of the land in the UAE
would be completed beyond the operating cycle of the property
development business, and hence it is classified as a non-current
asset. During the year, the provision for write-down of land in the
UAE to net realisable value amounted to HK$73,769,000 (2021: Nil).

The development of the Group’s land held for property development
in Hong Kong is expected to be completed within the normal
operating cycle and hence they are classified as current assets. The
expected timing of recovery of these assets as at the end of the
reporting period is more than one year.

EEEHY RMBE 2 T ERER
MEBRRER 2 EEBRPLE TR
HAGHEESBEAIERDEE -NAF
FE A - BBt S - b OR = 1) IR R A
B 4% 573,769,000/ 7T (20214F : ) ©

AEERBAREVRERZ L HE
REMKGREELEBHARZNK
HHEESBRRBEE RME R

B E 2 TR B BB —F o

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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31 March 2022
202293 A31H

23. INVENTORIES 23. €&
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Raw materials R 354 5,253
Clinical supplies BEEmR 3,321 2,250
3,675 7,503

24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

2. EHNEEREGHNERE

LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets (a) EWNEE
31 March 31 March 1 April
2022 2021 2020
20225 20214 20204
3A31H 3H31H 4H1H
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
F#ET FET FEr
Unbilled revenue REEE 2 W (0 3,291,643 2,837,879 2,802,411
Retention receivables FEURE € (i) 458,571 493,282 531,333
3,750,214 3,331,161 3,333,744
Impairment A (iii) (4,799) (2,396) =
3,745,415 3,328,765 3,333,744
Notes: B aE
(i) Unbilled revenue is initially recognised for revenue earned from the (i) REER WSS iREEET

provision of construction work as the receipt of consideration is
conditional on successful completion of construction. Upon completion of
construction and acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as
unbilled revenue are reclassified to trade receivables.

(ii) Retention receivables arise from the Group's construction work business
and are held by contract customers in order to provide the customers
with assurance that the Group will complete its obligations satisfactorily
under the contracts, rather than to provide financing to the customers.
They are in general settled within a period ranging from one year to three
years after the completion of the construction work, as stipulated in the
construction contracts.
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202293 A31H

24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) Contract assets (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

The expected timing of recovery or settlement of contract assets as at the

end of the reporting period is as follows:

2. SNEEREGHNEE #

(a) ENEE (&)
W = (48)

(i) RBEHR AOEEZBHNE
ST

2022 2021

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year —FR 1,953,267 1,922,328
More than one year HBiE—F 1,792,148 1,406,437
3,745,415 3,328,765

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provisions, for all contract assets. The Group has assessed
the impairment of its contract assets on an individual basis based on the
internal credit rating and ageing of these balances which, in the opinion
of the Directors, had no significant increase in credit risk during the year.
ECL is estimated based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. For the debtors in Hong
Kong, there were no recent history of default and the loss allowance was
assessed to be minimal. For the debtors in Malaysia, ECL rates ranging
from 20% to 100% has been provided on several credit deteriorated
balances and ECL provision of HK$4,799,000 was made for contract
assets as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$2,396,000).

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of contract assets is

as follows:

AEBERABEMEHRE LR FE
SRETHRE MM ERBREEE
BIELHBEE BETAMAENE
EFAHENEREFE A5E
ERBAFEETIRRZSEHD
R ER G N EERBEEITT
HMESRALNEERNEERR
WEEZEE N - AREREBEE
REBAETFHRANBEBRT
RENERHE IREFTBEHAE
8% 1 BRI 15 /0 B BE 1 B RHETT
AR -RBBEHAMS  LEA
R B BERENTEAE
W-RERAEEFEAME BB
FEESLNEHKREEN T20%
F100% MBHEEEEX MR
202293A318 RANEEREL
T8 B {5 B A5 18 8 #54,799,000/% T
(20214 : 2,396,000/ 7T ) °

BREEREBEREZSHNT

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

At beginning of year REH] 2,396 =
Impairment loss recognised BRBEERE 2,420 2,396
Exchange realignment (ERTECE S (17) =
At end of year RER 4,799 2,396

TN A REERER AR 20212248 231
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31 March 2022
202293 A31H

24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Contract liabilities

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

2. EHNEEREHNERE »2)

(b)

31 March
2022
20224

3A31H
HK$'000

BHEE
BHAREFBOT:

31 March 1 April
2021 2020
20214F 20204
3A31H 4H1H
HK$000 HK$'000
FETT FET

Advances from customers for KRERFPHESR
construction work TRRZ8H

FET

110,494

64,085 33,105

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES

25. E S5 EIRFRIE

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$°000

FETT FAET

Trade receivables B 5 W KIA 719,207 783,551
Impairment (note (a)) BE (K@) (270) (432)

718,937 783,119

Notes: B 7 -

(@  The Group generally allows a credit period of not exceeding 60 days to its (a) AEE-—RAEZFIRHTBIBOR ZfF

customers. Interim applications for progress payments on construction contracts
are normally submitted on a monthly basis and are normally settled within one
month.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s
credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed periodically. The majority of the Group’'s trade
receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate to customers that have
good credit quality with reference to the respective settlement history.
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25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period,

based on the invoice date and net of impairment, is as follows:

25. ESEWRIE &

BeE: (%)
@ (&)

RBEHRR ERNBERAPZ2EHEUK
B (BNRRIRIE) BBRE D AT 58T -

Within 1 month —@AR 509,321 558,522
1 to 2 months —ZmEA 104,442 73,707
2 to 3 months ME=MEA 27,380 26,441
Over 3 months =@EAMNUE 77,794 124,449

718,937 783,119

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. The Group has assessed the impairment of its
trade receivables on an individual basis based on internal credit rating and ageing
of these balances which, in the opinion of the Directors, had no significant
increase in credit risk during the year. ECL is estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. For
the debtors in Hong Kong, there were no recent history of default and the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal. For the debtors in Malaysia, ECL rates
ranging from 20% to 100% has been provided on several credit deteriorated
balances and ECL provision of HK$270,000 was made for trade receivables as at
31 March 2022 (2021: HK$432,000).

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables is as
follows:

AEBERABBYEREERESTAAR
EREREREREEEEELBE

Bt BFTA B 5 RGBS A2 BT
BEREE - NEEBREBEALEETRR
ZEEBHIRREERE ZEEFERE
HITHE MEFRALAFEANEERR
WEREE - EREEERERER
AEFTFHRRBTBRMBENRGLE

W EF B K AR S BRI ES H ATE
MERETHE - REBBEHAME A
R MR HE R GO o B IR B ST AR -

RERAREEATE HETEERL
B &SRR E N T20% E100% WFEHEE
B8R MR20229F3A318 HE FEK
A L B H = & &5 18 % 1%270,0005%5 7T
(20214 : 432,000/ 7T ) °

B SRR EBREEEEMT

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

At beginning of year REA 432 =
Impairment loss recognised T RR EEE - 432
Reversal of impairment loss BEREEE (158) =
Exchange realignment ERTECE (4) =
At end of year RER 270 432

Included in the trade receivables of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are amounts
of HK$43,186,000 (2021: HK$60,110,000) in total due from other partners of
joint operations.

(b)

FFAREBKR2022F3A31BEME 5 E K
FEREREEEBEMBE 2 RELE
43,186,000/ 7T (20214 : 60,110,000/
TT) ©

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 26. ANFRE ZEeREME

234

RECEIVABLES WA
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT F&T
Prepayments T K08 26,763 49,161
Deposits and other debtors B e R H A FE YR IR 169,336 148,574
Investment deposit and partial —HEAHEHKERSH
consideration paid for a rescinded ENEEEe RHBARE
acquisition transaction (@) 74,000 74,000
Loan receivables JE W E K b) 112,635 199,069
Consideration receivable ERRE () 80,707 7,440
Profit guarantee income receivable JE M8 ) R 78 U A 14,044 14,044
Dividend receivable FEUAR B - 32,728
Due from joint ventures A ANE] = ] (@) 11,795 8,910
Due from associates fE UL B & N B 2 FROE (@) 575,940 541,436
Due from a fellow subsidiary of other FE—FE & & E B H R
partner of a joint operation ZERMBARZIEA (d) 8 14,523
Due from other partners of EWEEEBEMBHZ
joint operations FIE (@) 37,990 41,739
Due from non-controlling equity FE U B B A B FEIE AR AR 4
holders of subsidiaries BEANZHE (@) 14,320 14,864
1,117,538 1,146,488
Impairment allowance EEE (e) (68,552) (68,552)
1,048,986 1,077,936
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The amount was an investment deposit and partial consideration paid in
connection with the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of CCCC
Development Limited (the “Target Company”).

On 4 November 2015, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the "Original Agreement”) with China Chengjian Investment Limited (the
“Vendor"), pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to acquire and the
Vendor conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued share capital of the Target
Company at a cash consideration of HK$660 million (the "Acquisition”). At the
material time, the Target Company held 50% equity interest in each of the two
PRC construction companies, namely R ZE M TI2FHEBE AR AR (“CCCC
Fourth”) and FHEFE+ =T BHBMRAF] ("CCCC Thirteenth”). The Target
Company and the two construction companies were principally engaged in
municipal construction, building construction, and construction of build-transfer,
build-operate-transfer, public-private partnership projects, property development
and investment in the PRC. An investment deposit and partial consideration
(collectively, the “Deposit”) of HK$198 million in total was paid to the Vendor at
the original completion date of the Acquisition.

The Acquisition was subsequently rescinded on 31 March 2017 pursuant
to a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) which was
entered into between the Group and the Vendor on 25 August 2016, and was
approved at the Company’s special general meeting on 31 October 2016. In
accordance with the Supplemental Agreement, the Vendor shall refund the
Deposit to the Group and the Group was entitled to take steps to protect its
interest, including selling the shares of the Target Company in part or in whole
to a third party and claiming any shortfall, loss or damages directly against the
Vendor and its shareholder (as guarantor in the Acquisition) should the Vendor
fail to fulfil its obligations to repay the Deposit to the Group. Further details of
the Supplemental Agreement are set out in the Company’s announcement and
circular dated 25 August 2016 and 30 September 2016, respectively.

The Group was able to recoup HK$50 million as part of the refund of the
Deposit, but the larger portion of the Deposit, being HK$148 million (the
“Outstanding Amount”), remained unpaid as at 31 March 2019, despite the
Group's repeated efforts to pursue the Vendor for refund.

On 19 June 2019, for the purpose of recovering the Outstanding Amount, the
Group entered into two conditional sale and purchase agreements (the “Sale
Agreement(s)”) with an independent third party (the “Buyer”). In one of the Sale
Agreements, the Group agreed to sell to the Buyer the shares of a subsidiary
of the Company which holds the equity interest in CCCC Thirteenth for a
total consideration of HK$74 million. The transaction was completed and the
consideration was fully settled during the prior year.

In the second Sale Agreement, the Group agreed to sell the shares of the
Target Company to the Buyer for a maximum consideration of HK$74 million.
If the Group is not able to procure the equity interest in CCCC Fourth to be
placed under a subsidiary of the Target Company on or before 24 June 2023
(as extended pursuant to a supplemental agreement dated 24 June 2021), the
consideration will be reduced to HK$22.2 million.

26. ENFE -RERHME
WK IE ()

(@

ZEER/RBETRRTERBRAA
(TERAR]) 22 HE BITRAM Y
—ERERSRBANRE-

M2015F 11 A48  ANEBBEFBEIRERE
BRAR (BRI L—HEERZ ([R
WaEl) B AREBEGEREWE M
BEHFAEKHERELEBREARZEHER
1TRE A - 314 1K {8 £660,000,0007 7T (U
BEE|) 2R BEARFAREBFTER
BEAR DRATHEENIREER
BRAFA([FHESHIRERB]) RF K
EE+=TIERERAR ([FHESE+=
IERB])&EB250% B BIZRA R
MERERAREERPEAREMERESE
BFRE RNER-BR lE-—2E—
BR ALAEEBEEER MERRRE
B-BBERSRIFINRE(RBREE])
$£51198,000,0007% 7T B AU B F I8 2 R 2R
ERBHEINTFES -

BIEANEEEE HR2016F8H250 % a]
WEEARRAR2016F10A31B BT 2K
REFRIAE CEHE — iz ([F#
Fiaz]) W EIE A& RN2017F3A31
RERFE BREFTHE EHARERS
TAREER UREBEHFREBITERALSE
BERBReNEKE ~NEBBERIUE
HAREE#EZ REBEEZEARANTD
FEBROVEETE=F UEEAES
RERR (ERBIEEENERA) RFEE
=5 BANEE AT HENE—
FSHBED B EHR AR R HEA2016568A
25AH A4 K 201649 A30H K3 X

7N £ @ g W [B150,000,0008 T AR &
ZEBRR -BEAEBERLZELESH
MEHBRR EiRe 2R A5 (B
148,000,000 7t) ([KREELRE])R
20193 A31BNAR M AR T AZ o

201966 A19H ' K EIREE L EM
5 AKEE-ZBYE=H(TEH]E
MM ERGHEHEREERE ([HER
Z) - REF—HHEEHRZE AEERE
MEAEEARARR —HHBAR (EFE
FHEET=TREZKE) 2’G 2R
{8 A74,000,0008 L - X HERBAEFE
RN5ERK  BREEEERER -

RE-_NDHEEHZ AEBRERE
FHEBEZRARZKRG RaREA
74,000,000/ 7T © fi# 7~ 52 @ 7420236 5 24
B (1R B A20214F6 A248 9% & 15
BELER)KZATRERRPWESNT
BRZEEGEBZEAAz —HHMBAR
& EREAEER L 222,200,000 7T

DM E EEIERARAR 202122F
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

()

(continued)

In prior years, after taking into account the Sale Agreements and the possible
reduction in consideration in the second Sale Agreement as mentioned above
and the costs incurred to execute the actions and agreements, the Directors are
of the view that a total of HK$52.5 million was not expected to be recoverable
out of the Outstanding Amount and hence an impairment loss against this
amount was recognised in profit or loss in prior years.

The loan receivables, which are loans provided to some independent third parties,
bear interest at rates ranging from 8% to 15% per annum (2021: 8% to 24%
per annum) and are repayable within 1 year. The loan receivables are secured
by (i) certain trade payables owed by the Group to the business partners; or (ii)
shipping vessels and properties held by borrowers.

The Company has assessed the impairment of its loan receivables on an individual
basis based on internal credit rating and ageing of these balances. ECL is
estimated based on historical observed default rates of debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. An
impairment loss of HK$5,877,000 against the loan receivables was recognised in
profit or loss in prior years.

At 31 March 2022, the balances mainly represented the outstanding
consideration of HK$73,267,000 arising from the disposal of 51% equity interest
in Shijiazhuang JunJing, details of which are set out in note 43(a) to the financial
statements.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. At 31 March

2022 and 2021, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of other receivables is as
follows:

26. ENFE -RERHME
WY FKIE ()
Mk : (48)

(a)

(b)

(%&)

NBEFE KEBHE KSR LR E—
MHEHEEREZRERLD URA
HITRTORBEMEE KA EFR
738 #£52,500,000/8 7T 2 A (H & © FTRHA
AR E - F %2 RN BEFENRR
NHERRBERIR

BURERTERETBLE=HRHEOE
FBERN T8% E15% (20214F : &4
8% F24% )M FI R B RAN—FAE
BoERERN()AEEEREBBF
ZETESEMNFRE SG()EAEa M
D EZES 5w

ARRERBEABEETREZEERD
R e S LB B OB (B 1T {8 B AT A - TR
HEEBERLDEREBANBEEERS
BAORGE URBEFTBZRKAXEHE
ARSI ERETT AR - BRER
Z BB R5185,877,0008 TERNBEFER
BaNER -

MR202293A31H E£HETEAREE
ARFERSI% RIEMELNRGTRE
73,267,000 7T - B BB E AN M R K
Mf5E43(a) ©

ZEFEAEERR RERBRERMEE-
720224 [2021F3 318 © 18 B
FEBEM-

Hpth U R E B R R R B BT

At beginning of year REY) 68,552 63,436
Impairment loss recognised B RER R EEE - 5,116
At end of year RER 68,552 68,552

In addition to the impairments as detailed in notes (a) and (b) above, allowance
for impairment of RM2,732,000 (equivalent to HK$5,116,000) was made against
a profit guarantee income receivable during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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27. PROMISSORY NOTES

On 9 May 2019, the Group subscribed promissory notes issued by a
then shareholder of the Company with a total principal amount of
HK$180 million. The promissory notes were unsecured, bear interest
at an effective rate of 8% per annum (after taking into account the
entitlement to an arrangement fee) and had a term of 364 days. On
7 May 2020, the promissory notes were fully redeemed by the issuer.

28.

Further details of the promissory notes are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 9 May 2019.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

27. AR EE

R2019F5A9R  AEERBEAA R
AER —ERRBTZ2ACBEAR
180,000,000/ JT 2 7 5 = 4% - B g &
HEBERERE RZERFF E8% 5T
B (KA RAUZBEREBZERN) B
Hi364K - 702020F5 70 » 17 A&
HERIA S Eik-

BRAREREZHBRRARQA
HEIA2019F5 A9H 2 A e

28. RAFEHFABSZZTH
BE

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Debt investments at fair value BAFEFFABRLZ
through profit or loss ERRE (@ - 3,642
Equity investments at fair value RATEFABRZ
through profit or loss f& ARG E (b) 5,623 1,868
5,623 5,510

(a)

(b)

Debt investments at fair value through profit
or loss

Debt investments at fair value through profit or loss of the
Group as at 31 March 2021 were convertible bonds and
convertible promissory notes as their contractual cash flows are
not SPPI.

Equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss of the
Group as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 were equity investments
listed in Hong Kong and overseas (2021: Hong Kong and
overseas), which were classified as held for trading and stated
at fair value determined based on their quoted market prices
(Level 1 fair value measurement).

(a) BAFEFABZZERE
BrE
R202143 8318 LA F At
ANEBm 2 BREEE AR ES
RA B EEEE  DARES
HREREWIFARZFAE &
B e

(b) BAFEFTABRZZERAE

BrE

R20224 K%202143H318 * &
EEZEATFEFABZZBRAEK
BARBBRENQQ021F  HF
RBHIN ETBRAKRE HEokE
AREEETRENTISRES
EMAFE(BE —HAFER
2)58k.

DN A ERERERAT 2021/225F )
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29. RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS 29. ¥R4IREREEHFER

MBEHERZZRFIRS (@)
P RIBITERE 2 B HEM
73R (b)

Restricted cash for issuance of guarantees
Pledged deposits for general banking
facilities

2022 2021
HK$°000

FET

HK$'000
TET

16,009 14,294

Restricted cash and pledged deposits ZRHE e REERER

16,009 14,294

Notes:

(@) In respect of the sale of the properties held for sale in the PRC, the Group (a)

entered into agreements with certain banks in the PRC to arrange mortgage
loans to eligible purchasers of the Group’s properties held for sale and pursuant
to which, the Group is required to place at designated bank accounts certain
amounts as guarantee deposits for potential default in repayment of mortgage
loans advanced to property purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will be released
after the property ownership certificates of the relevant properties have been
passed to the banks. At 31 March 2021, such guarantee deposits amounted
to RMB8,071,000 (equivalent to HK$9,551,000) and were included in disposal
group classified as held for sale (note 31) as at 31 March 2021.

(b) The pledged deposits have been placed in designated banks as part of the (b)
security given to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
34(d)).
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30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

30 RENHEIREEEEH

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
F# T FET
Cash and bank balances other than e RIRTTH &
time deposits (TEEEHEFER 1,383,164 1,491,477
Time deposits E BATF K 72,902 79,399
Total cash and bank balances He RIRTTHBRRE 1,456,066 1,570,876
Less: Restricted cash and W ZREIIR e & BT
pledged deposits (note 29) TR (H5E29) (16,009) (14,294)
Cash and cash equivalents BeRHEBSEEIAR 1,440,057 1,556,582

Notes:

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB"”) amounted to HK$66,591,000 (2021:
HK$77,109,000), of which HK$64,948,000 (2021: HK$75,093,000) in total was
deposited at banks in Mainland China. The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Time deposits are made for 7 days depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

Bt -

(a)

(b)

RBEBRR AEBUAARE ([ARK])
T E 23R & KB 1T 4 £ 566,591,000 7T
(20214 : 77,109,000/ 70) " & B8 A
64,948,000/ 7T (20214 : 75,093,000/%
T) B RRA R E A R1T - ARBETEE
B RIEREMER AT RE (hEA
REAMBINEE R GH) Kk (BE - SE
ENEERERE) AEEAHRHERE
R INE R 2 SRITHIE AR KR H M
{0

RITR SR ARTHERNEGFE TS
FIRGREA S - R FARBAFRSF R

ERERZEFMATR  LRBEBREAE
HERMERDA B - RITEBDTFER
IEEAN M R R e 2 AEERTT

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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31. DISPOSAL GROUPS CLASSIFIED AS HELD 3. PHEABEHEZLES

FOR SALE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FAET
(Note (b)) (Note (a))
(FtzE (b)) (KizE@))
Assets of disposal groups PEARFEHEZ
classified as held for sales: HEEBZEE:
Property, plant and equipment Y IR R E 15 16,206 =
Right-of-use assets ERAREEE 17(a) 3,899 =
Properties under development BRBPYE - 372,104
Properties held for sale FEHE M - 714
Inventories TE 2,239 =
Contract assets EHEE 8,353 =
Trade receivables B 5 e RIE 12,100 =
Other receivables H fh FE UL SR IE 19,253 12,391
Income tax recoverable AR E TS H 918 =
Restricted cash and pledged deposits ZRHEE REERER 440 9,551
Cash and cash equivalents He hEBSEMEIER 6,913 5,187
70,321 399,947
Liabilities directly associated with HOBABEHEZ
the assets of disposal groups HEEBZEE
classified as held for sale: EEMEBNEE:
Trade payables B 5N RIE 15,307 =
Contract liabilities EXHaE - 54,092
Other payables H fth FE < 5K IE 9,367 14,216
Bank borrowings RITIE 34,908 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 17(b) 4,043 -
Income tax payable FESFT 1SR - 8,760
63,625 77,068
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31. DISPOSAL GROUPS CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE (continued)

Notes:

(@)

Shijiazhuang Junling, a then wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, was
accounted for as a disposal group classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2021
as the management had been in negotiation with interested parties for the sale
of the Group’s controlling interest in Shijiazhuang JunJing during the year ended
31 March 2021 and a memorandum of understanding was entered into between
the Group and an independent third party before 31 March 2021.

On 6 April 2021, the Group entered into a share transfer agreement with the
independent third party for the disposal of 51% equity interest in Shijiazhuang
Junling for a total cash consideration of RMB180 million (equivalent to
HK$219,780,000). Shijiazhuang Junling holds the Group’s properties under
development and properties held for sale in Mainland China. The transaction was
completed on 18 November 2021 (note 43(a)).

Due to the under-performance of JA & Associate Corporation (“JA”), a 50.99%
owned subsidiary of the Group, and its subsidiaries (the “JA Group”), the
management had been in negotiation with the non-controlling equity holder of
JA for the sale of the JA Group and therefore the JA Group was accounted for as
a disposal group classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2022.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 30 May 2022, the Group
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with the aforementioned
non-controlling equity holder for the disposal of the JA Group. The transaction
was completed on the same date.

1. 7ERBFHEZHESR

(4%)

B 5 -

Rt

(@

(b)

ERHER (RAERER—HE2EHE
MIEBAR))M202163A831AEAD B AR
EHEZ —MEEEEAK THRERE
BREE2021F3A318LEFEREHH
EREERERHESHERESEAER
MATHTER  MAEEER202143A
31ARE— BB = AR — DR

ANEBMP2021F4A6E R EARER
251 % RIEEZEBILE= I —
DRHEBERE EREREABRARE
180,000,0007T (#H & #219,780,000/%
T AREESHREAEERTEANM
WERMERBEHEENE -XHER
2021411 A18A 526k (KisE43()) °

A JA & Associate Corporation ([JA] -+ A&
NEBMBEH50.99% s M B AR) RE
MEAR (NAKE])RETE EEBE—
HEHEIANFERREZSEARLEIAS
B TR - B A £ E 0202243831
e BARBEREZ —HMEEEEA

REREH% - ANEER20229F5A30H &
IR ER A AR B EIARBR L —
NEEHH XFHEREBTMK -

DN A ERERERAT 2021/225F )
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32. TRADE PAYABLES 32. EZ B RUA
2022 2021
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
k23 FET FHET
Trade payables other than B 5 RIA
retention payables (FERESBRIN) (@) 988,458 885,774
Retention payables FERRE & ) 688,101 619,338
1,676,559 1,505,112
Notes: B 5 -
() The Group’s trade payables (other than retention payables) are non-interest (a) AEEZESREMNFTE (EARESBIN
bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. ReBIWBEIRI0KRABER -
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables (other than retention payables) RBEBMR ANEBZE S ENMNFIE (B
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HRESKRINAEZBRRELEFTEZ

BREC AT DB T

2021

HK$'000
FET

Within 1 month —fEAR 284,993 325,061
1 to 2 months —Z=mM@EA 198,600 154,365
2 to 3 months ME=MA 143,419 100,455
Over 3 months =@ANRE 361,446 305,893
988,458 885,774
(b)  Retention payables held by the Group arose from the Group's construction (b)) AEEMFEENRES NELEGASE
services business and are settled to subcontractors within a period ranging ZIEERBER WRESBEIRAELM
from one year to three years after the completion of the contract work by the RE ROBETKEAREEIRENT
subcontractors, as stipulated in the subcontracting contracts. —FE=FAMDBEER-
The due date for settlement of the Group’s retention payables as at the end of BEHREHR AEBREMRES S H
the reporting period was analysed as follows: BOMET:
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Due within one year —FREH 529,323 564,425
Due after one year —4F LA B H 158,778 54,913
688,101 619,338
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33. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 33. Hftt B RIBE R EFTRIA
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Accruals &t /IR 591,512 602,747
Deposits received BRI iES 10,131 8,171
Other liabilities Hih B & 68,088 90,429
Consideration payable for the acquisition WEEH B A e 2 EFRE
of subsidiaries 9,659 22,034
Consideration payables for the acquisition W& Nl 2 BT RE
of associates 1,516 1,516
Client money received incidental to the BLIR (B B B TR AR 5 AR
provision of tunnel management services ZBP IR - 3,267
Due to associates FETEE & A B 2 IR 44,594 28,688
Due to other partners of joint operations BN aEEKEMBENEZ
KIAE 117,715 90,843
Due to a fellow subsidiary of other partner B —MEEEEBEMBH
of a joint operation ZERMBARZHIEA 25 =
Due to non-controlling equity holders FE TR B8 & B A9 FE 58 AR A
of subsidiaries B AZRIE 9,610 16,302
852,850 863,997
Note: The amounts due to associates, other partners of joint operations, a fellow Mizk: BABMEAR AEXEBEMBE —H
subsidiary of other partner of a joint operation and non-controlling equity holders EEEBEMBHEZRRWE R B XM B
of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. N AR IR R B A 2 TR A EAE A
GERARERER-

TN A R ERAR AT 2021/2268 243
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34. BANK BORROWINGS

34. RITB R

Bank borrowings comprise: RITERBIE: (@), (b)
Trust receipt loans, secured ErEBUEE R - A 13,890 22,310
Trust receipt loans, unsecured ErEBUR E R - IR 199,084 110,841
Bank loans, secured IRITER A 319,142 402,663
Bank loans, unsecured RITER - EEA 2,584,908 2,719,533
3,117,024 3,255,347
Less: Unamortised ancillary costs W BRITERLHELEZ
incurred in connection with the AR S 8 B M AR AR
arrangement of bank loans (23,696) (40,249)
Total bank borrowings IRITIE BT 3,093,328 3,215,098
Analysed into: DHEAT
Repayable on demand RIREREERE (© 778,988 3,172,700
Within one year —FR 1,508,124 6,319
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_ERF (BEEEMS) 786,036 16,121
Beyond five years HEME 20,180 19,958
Total bank borrowings RITIE AR 3,093,328 3,215,098
Portion classified as current liabilities DEARSEE IS (2,287,112) (3,179,019)
Non-current portion ERBIEL D 806,216 36,079
Notes: FiteE -

(a) Except for certain bank loans of approximately HK$4,151,000 (2021:
HK$8,619,000) and HK$161,976,000 (2021:HK$112,070,000) which are
denominated in Singapore dollars (“SG$”) and RM, respectively, the Group’s

bank borrowings are denominated in HK$.

(b) The trust receipt loans of the Group denominated in HK$ and RM carry interest
at floating rates ranging from one-month HIBOR plus 1.4% to 1.7% (2021: one-
month HIBOR plus 1.4% to 1.7%) per annum and at rates ranging from 6.95%
10 7.14% (2021: 6.95% to 7.14%), respectively.

The bank loans of the Group denominated in HK$, SG$ and RM carry interest
at floating rates ranging from one-month HIBOR plus 1.25% to 2% (2021: one-
month HIBOR plus 1.25% to 2.5%) per annum, at fixed rates of 1.88% (2021:
fixed rates of 1.88% and floating rates of SIBOR plus 2%) per annum and at
rates ranging from 3.25% to 8.85% (2021: 3.25% to 8.85%), respectively.
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B #94,151,0005% 7T (20214F : 8,619,000
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REBUBTRLSETEZERRIEER
DRRFEFEN T —ER B BRITRER
B1.4% E1.7% (20214 : — A A EFH R
TRZEFRBINI.A% EN1.7% ) 2 2B F =
FEFENF6.95% £7.14% (20214 :

6.95% £7.14% ) Z FIR&T B

REBUAET FMBETRLENEZR
TERDBIREMENT—@A B HRT
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34. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(©

At 31 March 2021, the Group did not comply with certain financial covenants of
bank loans with an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,620 million and hence
these bank borrowings were classified as current liabilities and grouped into the
“Repayable on demand” category in the bank borrowings repayment analysis
disclosed above. Consent waivers of non-compliance with financial covenants
have been received by the Group on 28 June 2021 and, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, the Group has since then been able to comply with all financial
undertakings in connection with the Group’s bank borrowings. In addition,
certain of the Group’s bank borrowings contain a repayment on demand clause
that provides the banks with an unconditional right to demand repayment at
any time at their own discretion. Due to the repayment on demand clause, such
amount of bank borrowings were classified as current liabilities and grouped into
the “Repayable on demand” category as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The expected repayment dates of the Group’s bank borrowings that are grouped
under “Repayment on demand” category, with reference to schedules of
repayments set out in the term loan agreements, are as follows:

34. RITER (&)
MsE: (48)

()

M2021F3 8310 - "EBREETEAER
%8 52,620,000,0008 T Z SRITE M E T
BHEL MR ERITERESEARE
BEIR EXKEZRITEREESITH
BRI ERERER] - 7R2021F6H28
H ASEECEERGEETUBRZOZRA
ERRRBESHRA ALASEES
—HETRAEERITEREGHANF AN
BEE o WIN AEBE TRITEREE
BREREEGT B TFRITERBITAE
ERBROEGEER -BRIRERER
&3 % 5 RAT 8 320224 202143
A31BwSEARBAENRER AR
ER(EE] -

SEAMERGRFRERBHE A%
ESEAARERME] 2 BITHKZ
BEEKA BT

Within one year —FR 772,821 1,124,012
In the second year FF 633 1,260,332
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZERF (REEERSF) 1,974 784,581
Beyond five years AFENUE 3,560 3,775

778,988 3,172,700

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were pledged to secure
the banking facilities granted to the Group:

(d)

RBEHR BEMUTEE EREE
BERRITRIE ZfER

Property, plant and equipment W HBERZE 15 81,170 83,453
Investment properties "EYHE 16(a) 11,176 11,256
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17(a) 119,308 123,963
Bank deposits RITER 29(b) 16,009 14,294

227,663 232,966

In addition to the above, as at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group has pledged
the equity interest in a wholly-owned subsidiary to secure a banking facility
granted to an associate.

At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group's bank borrowings in the total
amount of HK$4,151,000 (2021: HK$8,619,000) and HK$194,809,000 (2021:
HK$138,448,000) were guaranteed by the non-controlling equity holders of a
subsidiary and shareholders of non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries,
respectively.

B £ 3CHN - 1820224 2021438318 » A<
SEEEF—HEERAENB AR ZRE
{ER—MEHE QR ERIRITRE 2 BR-

7202293 A31H « ANEE 45 54,151,000
I (20214 :8,619,0008 L) &
194,809,000 7T (20214F : 138,448,000/%
TIRETHRITERSBIA—HEHEAR
Z IR R A A R MY B A R FEIE AR AR
A AZBREER-

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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35. PROVISIONS

35. & &

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FAETT
Provision for construction works TR 7 B (@) 115,920 103,695
Provision for litigations SR EA 2 A b) 5,000 272,010
120,920 375,705

(a) Provision for construction works (a) BEIRZRE

2021
HK$'000
FET
At beginning of year REFA) 103,695 130,323
Additional provision BN 123,234 93,619
Amounts utilised during the year FREHREHE (69,053) (108,810)
Reversal of unutilised amounts BOAREALE (41,956) (11,437)
At end of year RER 115,920 103,695

The Group recognises provision for construction works when
the unavoidable costs of meeting the performance obligations
under the construction contracts exceed the economic benefits
expected to be received. The amount of provision is estimated
based on contract costs to completion and contract claims. The
estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised
where appropriate.

(b) Provision for litigations

(b)

BEBEESHWENEENTH
WMRRABBRERESHED
7% BR AT O 48 08 ) o g - AN 5% [
RERTRZBE-BRBETER
BERANKRAREGRRER
B-AKBERFERHTER
WHEEEBRTERERT -

Rz B

At beginning of year REA) 272,010 =
Additional provision REONEEAE - 272,010
Amount utilised during the year FRNEHAEE (93,250) =
Reversal of provision B O B s (173,760) =
At end of year RER 5,000 272,010
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35. PROVISIONS (continued) 35. #&1&E (2)

(b) Provision for litigations (continuead)

In or about December 2013 and March 2014, a plaintiff
commenced two separate legal proceedings against the Group
alleging that the Group's termination of a proposed transaction
in relation to the sale of a commercial development at No.
8 Clear Water Bay Road and 49% interest in the car park
development at No. 8 Clear Water Bay Road (collectively, the
“Properties”) was wrongful and in breach of a memorandum
entered into between the plaintiff and the Group in September
2013 (the "MOU"). The plaintiff claimed against the Group for
the loss of capital appreciation of the Properties.

On 16 June 2021, the Court of First Instance in Hong Kong
(the “Court”) handed down its judgments on the two legal
proceedings against the Group and decided that the Group’s
termination of the proposed transaction in relation to the sale
of the Properties was wrongful and in breach of terms and
conditions of the MOU (the “Judgments”). The Court therefore
ordered the Group to compensate the plaintiff's loss in the sum
of HK$164.0 million plus interest and the plaintiff’s legal costs
incurred, which was estimated to be approximately HK$272.0
million in aggregate as at 31 March 2021.

As advised by the legal advisers to the Group, having
considered the Judgments, the Group has a merit in
successfully appealing against the Judgments, and, therefore
lodged the Notice of Appeal for the two proceedings to
the Court of Appeal on 13 July 2021 and 14 July 2021
accordingly. In order to stay the execution of the enforcement
of the Judgments pending appeal, the Group also made the
applications for stay of execution of the Judgements on 2 July
2021 and 8 July 2021 accordingly. The stay of execution would
be determined on paper and all submissions were filed to the
Court in end December of 2021. The Notice of Appeal for the
two proceedings and all applications relating to the stay of
execution of the Judgements filed to the Court of Appeal are
collectively hereinafter referred to as the “Legal Actions”.

(b)

A 2B (&)

KAH2013F12 A 2014431 -
—ZREAAAEBRARNTE
BHRA BEASE 2KIEEH
SHEM P IBKEBESR 2 %
BRBEKEESHE ZIFHEIGER
249% Em (R [ZEmE])
JEERFIBHER WTHERIR
HANEREER2013F9A L
2= ([BE=e]) - RE AR
ZEMEERNAEmS|I R ZIEX
MASKERERE-

EBRMERE ([DERE]) 12021
FeAIBMZMTEAERRE
FAZEAEFARENSHH R I
HAAEEZRIEBEBHEEZ
EMETZRERIDBIEGR BE
RAE =8 A 2 G R A ([H)
R EERLBES ANE B EE
164,000,000/ 7T h1 & B 165
BEAZBARBREABNEZ
FABRH FTEEEEAER
202143 8318 A #9272,000,000
BT

BUOAKREEAEZBERCER &
EEHRE AEEBBEESU
BT BE FR TR B AR E R
202197138 &2021F7 8148
B M R E R SR FAE E b [A)_E R
EREERZ EFRBA - AR EFFER
MEENITHR REBEIEE
202197828 Kk202147 A8H
MEENTHIRIBL RE-E&
WITAEBMANET FTE XY
BR2021F12 AR IERARE < %
W TR OE R AR FARY _E BF &1 LA K [A)
FREERERMNE S &ENITH
RIEEEREBR TIXHRBA AR
78]

DN A ERERERAT 2021/225F )
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35. PROVISIONS (continued) 35. &2
(b) Provision for litigations (continued) (b) FAZEME (&)
On 24 March 2022, the Group and the plaintiff entered into 202263 A24R REEERS
an agreement in full and final settlement of the Legal Actions ABERERTBRMEMREBER
and all related matters with settlement amount of HK$93.3 FIVEEREENEHZ EE
million. Pursuant to the settlement agreement, the Group and % %8 493,300,000/ 7T ° 1R & F1
the plaintiff have been fully and absolutely discharged from i AEBEEREARERE
all or any liabilities and claims and/or counterclaims, remedies, T8 2 A sk 2 MR R P 3k
cause of action of whatever nature, interests, costs, rights and TREARRER SXREE-
entitlements arising out of or in connection with the Legal HWE - ERAMENFARS  F
Actions, all related applications and appeals as well as the WO ENREZOER AT
subject matter of the Legal Actions. BHEERFENLHFUARERTH
FisIBzMERAERNEEE RS
R 4B ST G Bk o
36. DEFERRED TAX 36. IEEM A
Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated RiFEMBRARERZBRLERIEE
statement of financial position are as follows: ERBEFEMAT
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets BT IBE E 2,592 1,648
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRBAE (2,043) (3,703)
549 (2,055)
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36. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) and their
movements during the year are as follows:

36. IEZEHIE (&)

AFEERN BERBEE/ (AE)Z

AR D R EBBINT

Attributable to
L
Depreciation
allowances Other
in excess taxable  Net deferred
of related Tax temporary tax assets/
depreciation losses differences (liabilities)
EELHE
RERHE HitERS &E/(8f)
BREENE HIEER ERHER R
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FAT FET
At 1 April 2020 1202054818 (20,685) 20,334 (2,227) (2,578)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEH B AR 42(3) = = 278 278
Consolidation of subsidiaries WBARNERNRSE
upon resumption of control EHRELA AR 42(b) = = 634 634
Deferred tax charged to FRBRINR 2 REERE
profit or loss during the year 12 (156) - (233) (389)
At 31 March 2021 and 12021434310
1 April 2021 R2021F4A1H (20,841) 20,334 (1,548) (2,055)
Deferred tax credited FRBRTAZELERE
to profit or loss during the year 12 716 1,867 21 2,604
At 31 March 2022 72022834318 (20,125) 22,201 (1,527) 549

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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36. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Notes:

(@) At 31 March 2022, deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
unused tax losses of HK$1,117,643,000 (2021: HK$1,048,788,000) as they
have been arisen in certain subsidiaries and joint operations that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not assured that taxable profits will be available
against which such tax losses can be utilised.

(b) Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in the PRC. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in the
PRC.

At 31 March 2022, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established in the PRC (2021: Nil).
In the opinion of the Directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.

(@] There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by
the Company to its shareholders.

37. SHARE CAPITAL

36. IEERIE (&)

Bt -

(a) M2022F3A31H - BMERKAHHBK
B E5181,117,643,00058 7T (20214 :
1,048,788,0007% 7T ) T SR IR {E 7 18 & £
AEHELAETHBARIRGEEY
HER—EREARBERE BEARTE
HEENHARBEEEHEGBEZERB

S

(b) REFBELGEMETE RPBIKLZIN
ArERIIEREET KRS ABEI0%
BB - P EEAEIRREEZ ADA
REIE R A BSR4 R AR BUR FE AN 3
BB - AEEMNE EARKR% K
10% ° FE it A& B AN A B Z %
S B A B IRk Z ISR FEN

72022963 A31H - HEE pL A SR B A A B
2 M A R 2 ARSEERF (EHNTEN
i) 2 A TE R R IEIE R I (20214F ¢

) - EERA AEWERARTRAER
AIRARRDIRE@ERF

(@  ARFREBRINREBEMREHTE-

37. R&

(a) Shares (a) B
2022 PAYA
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Authorised: JETE -
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,000 A%
HK$0.1 each SRAEENB T LB 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRETE:
1,802,677,847 (2021: 1,820,127,847) 1,802,677,8471%
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (20214 :1,820,127,847H% )
FREBEONAITLZ LB 180,268 182,013
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37. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
(a) Shares (continued)

A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued share
capital and share premium account during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

37. BRA& (&)
() B4 (#)

REL 20229 K2021F3A31H
EFEE - ARAEBITRARK
DHRERZENPBMT

Number of Share
ordinary Issued premium
shares in issue capital account
2RT
EERYE BRTRAE B4R E R e
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000
TFET FET FET
At 1 April 2020 #®202064A818 1,838,325,847 183,833 760,071 943,904
Cancellation of I B E R
repurchased shares (note) (B =) (18,198,000) (1,820) 9,171) (10,991)
At 31 March 2021 and R2021F3A318 &
1 April 2021 20214818 1,820,127,847 182,013 750,900 932,913
Cancellation of Ea IRl AE )
repurchased shares (note) e (17,450,000) (1,745) (8,526) (10,271)
At 31 March 2022 #®2022%3A31H 1,802,677,847 180,268 742,374 922,642

Note: During the year, the Company repurchased 17,450,000 (2021:
18,198,000) ordinary shares in total on the Stock Exchange at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$10,271,000 (2021:
HK$10,991,000) and all these shares were subsequently cancelled on or
before the year end date. The premium of approximately HK$8,526,000
(2021: HK$9,171,000) paid over the nominal value of the shares
repurchased was debited to the share premium account. The repurchases
were effected by the Directors with a view to benefiting the shareholders
of the Company as a whole by enhancing the Company’s net asset value
and earnings per share. Details of the repurchases are summarised as
follows:

Mad: AFERN A2 ABKRE
#910,271,0004 JT (20214 =
10,991,000 o) M B 2 F7 g
@4 #£17,450,0008% (20214 :
18,198,000/ ) H@MR - ETEZ %
D EBORFERLB KBTS
BROZEROEZNZBREERE
K54 {8 #98,526,00078 7T (20214 :
9,171,000% 7T ) B A B 17 )% & fRk R
MR-FEBOEESET B
BRIERAAREEFERTRR
ML AN RRERTE-HEE
BT

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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37. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 37. Hﬁ ZIK (&)
(a) Shares (continued) (a) B#p(#&)
Note: (continued) MizE: ()
Year ended 31 March 2022 B E2022F3A31H L FE
Number of Purchase price
ordinary paid per share Aggregate
shares SREABER consideration
Months of repurchases repurchased Highest Lowest paid
=] 1= 21t
BE A5 EEREE B& BIE #BRE
HKS HK$'000
BT j FET
April 2021 202144 7 610,000 0.60 0.59 360
July 2021 202157H 4,496,000 0.60 0.55 2,611
August 2021 202148H 420,000 0.59 0.59 248
September 2021 2021494 3,914,000 0.60 0.58 2,298
October 2021 20214104 1,206,000 0.60 0.59 21
December 2021 202112 2,110,000 0.60 0.59 1,251
January 2022 2022%1R 460,000 0.60 0.59 274
February 2022 202242 A 974,000 0.60 0.60 584
March 2022 202243H 3,260,000 0.60 0.59 1,924
17,450,000 10,271
Year ended 31 March 2021 B E2021F3A31BLFEE
Purchase price
Number of paid per share Aggregate
ordinary shares SRERBER consideration
Months of repurchases repurchased Highest Lowest paid
BEEE Ef
BE AL Epelie = 545 i BRE
HK$ HK$'000
BT TET
April 2020 202054H 3,798,000 0.66 0.64 2,437
August 2020 2020%8H 558,000 0.61 0.61 340
September 2020 202049 A 6,450,000 0.60 0.57 3,825
October 2020 2020104 1,862,000 0.60 0.60 1,117
December 2020 2020512 A 1,126,000 0.59 0.58 662
January 2021 2021514 3,256,000 0.60 0.59 1,927
February 2021 20214624 586,000 0.59 0.59 346
March 2021 202143A 562,000 0.60 0.60 337

18,198,000 10,991
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37.

38.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
(b) Shares held under a share award scheme

Details of the Company’s restricted share award scheme and
the shares held under the scheme are included in note 38 to
the financial statements.

(c) Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 39 to the
financial statements.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board approved the adoption of a restricted share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme”) with effect from 1 August 2017 (the
“Adoption Date”). The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are
to encourage and retain the selected participants (the “Selected
Participant(s)”), including directors of the Company, to work with the
Company and to provide incentives for them to achieve performance
goals with a view to achieving the objectives of increasing the
value of the Company and aligning the interests of the Selected
Participants directly with those of the shareholders of the Company
through ownership of shares of the Company. Unless otherwise early
terminated by the resolution of the Board, the Share Award Scheme
is valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the Adoption
Date.

The Share Award Scheme is operated through a trustee which is
independent of the Group. The shares to be awarded under the
Share Award Scheme will be acquired by the trustee from the open
market after the notification and instruction by the Company. The
trustee shall not hold more than 10% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company.

All share awards granted on 2 August 2017 were vested on 2 August
2018 and there were no share awards outstanding under the Share
Award Scheme as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

37.

38.

PR ()

(b) RERMGREBTEFEN
B% 2
RN B 2 PR HI B SR Eh AT B AR
BT e ENRMD ZEBER
BF FE SRR BT 5E38 o

(c) B
ARARERE B RBIRFT 88
S Pl AN R
BF3E39 °

R 17 88 B 5T &

E=RCHERMAZR GBI, RE)F
2 (Mhfn 2EEhat &l1) - 5201748 A1
B (8R40 B H ) e 4 - sz I fn 22 B
FENREREBEIREEES AL
(FEE28RE]) (BEARAESR)
EBRRARE XA EFREEED K
HEZEE AERENARFE
BRSEE2AENGEBEELR
B BEREARR A RE M —
BR-BRFEZERRARRENRLE B
ARt 2Bt 8 B 2R B IR S04
HARI A R S A

R EETEEBR —BBLNAEE
Xt AEE - RIBE R BB FT 8 &
BRI & B ARWE AR QR B
MEkFEREABAEME LBA X
AFIERNDETBBREEARAES
TRDBEZ210% °

MR2017F8A2A B L 2 R BB E &
2 R2018F8H2H 57 B © i M 20224F
N&2021F3R318 - Ik {H 2E) T8 T8
M ARITE 2 B (D 52

DM E EEIERARAR 202122F
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38.

39.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

The movements of the Company’s shares held under the Share
Award Scheme account (not yet granted) during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021,
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022

38. R BT El =)

H 3220224 202163431 EFE
NABIRIER (D EETEIRE TS

Number of
ordinary shares
held under
share award

scheme account Amount

REBRARB
SERE TRE
WEBREE £
HK$000
TET

20204 A18 +202143A318
202144 18 %20224F3 8318

12,452,000 10,643

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3 September 2012, the
Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing eligible personnel
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company,
which will encourage the grantees of such options to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The Board will
set out in the offer the terms on which the option is to be granted.
Such terms may include (i) minimum performance targets that must
be reached before the option can be exercised in whole or in part;
and/or (ii) such other terms (including the vesting period) as may be
imposed at the discretion of the Board either on a case-by-case basis
or generally.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes of
the Company (if any) must not exceed 30% of the ordinary shares
in issue from time to time (the “Share Option Scheme Limit”). No
options will be granted under the Share Option Scheme at any time
if such grant will result in the Share Option Scheme Limit being
exceeded.
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39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) %Hx*h"l'i (&)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and all other
share option schemes of the Company (if any) shall not exceed 10%
of the ordinary shares in issue as at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit”), subject
to the refreshment of the Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit.
Options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Share Option
Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to any eligible personnel (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue without prior approval from the
shareholders. An offer of the options shall be deemed to have been
accepted by way of consideration of HK$1 payable by the eligible
personnel within 30 days from the date of offer.

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of grant (i)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and (ii)
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
on the relevant date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further
grant of options must be approved by the shareholders.

The subscription price shall be such price determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion and will be notified to the eligible personnel in
the offer and shall be no less than the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of a share as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(i) the average of the closing prices of a share as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the 5
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iiiy ~ the nominal value of a share on the date of grant.

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on the adoption date of 3 September 2012.
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=
39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 39. R HERTE ()
Details of the movements in share options granted under the Share R HR BB AR 51 81 5% 1 A BB AR P 4 B et
Option Scheme are as follows: BT
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE2022F3A31BLFE
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise Outstanding Granted Lapsed Outstanding
Category of price as at during during as at
eligible participants Exercise period per option 1 April 2021 the year the year 31 March 2022
20215 120225
BHiERE 4A1A £ R 3A318
REKSEEZEH TkE R AT BRI B&H o R AT
HKS
AT
Executive directors 5122017 5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02 3,060,000 - (3,060,000 -
7E% 5/1212019-4112/2021 102 3,060,000 - (3,060,000) -
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02 4,080,000 - (4,080,000) -
31/32022  31/3/2023-30/3/2026 0.60 - 4,200,000 - 4,200,000
31/3/2024-30/3/2026 0.60 - 4,200,000 - 4,200,000
31/3/2025-30/3/2026 0.60 - 5,600,000 - 5,600,000
Non-executive directors 31132002 31/3/2023-30/3/2026 0.60 - 600,000 - 600,000
FHTES 31/3/2024-30/3/2026 0.60 - 600,000 - 600,000
31/3/2025-30/3/2026 0.60 - 800,000 - 800,000
Independent non-executive directors ~ 5/12/2017  5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02 540,000 - (540,000) -
BUFHTES 5/12/2019-4/12/2021 102 540,000 - (540,000) -
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02 720,000 - (720,000) -
31/3/2022  31/3/2023-30/3/2026 0.60 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
31/3/2024-30/3/2026 0.60 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
31/3/2025-30/3/2026 0.60 - 1,600,000 - 1,600,000
Employees 51212017 5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02 4,314,000 - (4,314,000) -
B8 5/12/2019-4/12/2021 1.02 4,314,000 - (4,314,000) -
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02 5,752,000 - (5,752,000 -
3132022 31/3/2023-30/3/2026 0.60 - 5,400,000 - 5,400,000
31/32024-30/3/2026 060 - 5,400,000 - 5,400,000
31/3/2025-30/3/2026 0.60 - 7,200,000 - 7,200,000

26,380,000 38,000,000 (26,380,000) 38,000,000

Number of options exercisable at ~ RIREHR A7 2 BREHE

the end of the reporting period 38,000,000
Weighted average exercise METHTRE (B (8K))
price (HK$ per share) 1.02 0.60 1.02 0.60
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39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2021

Category of
eligible participants

RERZEE RS

Executive directors

9778%

Independent non-executive directors

BUFNTES

Employees

E&

Number of options exercisable at
the end of the reporting period

Weighted average exercise
price (HK$ per share)

Notes:

Date of grant

HHAH

511212017

51212017

511212017

39. BRESE (2

Exercise price

Exercise period per option
BhERE

TEH TEE
HKS

A

5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2019-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2019-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2019-4/12/2021 1.02
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02

REERRATE 2 BREHE

MEFATEE (B (BR))

(a) The vesting period, which is the period from the date of grant to the first
exercisable date, of the share options granted is determined by directors of the
Company at each time when the options are granted. Holders of share options
granted under the Share Option Scheme may only exercise their options during
the exercisable periods as follows:

Date of grant

EHBH

5/12/2017

31/3/2022

Exercise period
fT6EHA

BZE2021F3831B L EE

Number of share options

EREHE

Qutstanding Lapsed

as at during

1 April 2020 the year
#2020

4R18 R

HATHR BXX

Qutstanding

as at

31 March 2021
#R2021%
3A31H
WARITE

Maximum percentage of
share options exercisable

3,060,000 - 3,060,000
3,060,000 - 3,060,000
4,080,000 - 4,080,000
540,000 - 540,000
540,000 - 540,000
720,000 - 720,000
5,142,000 (828,000) 4,314,000
5,142,000 (828,000) 4,314,000
6,856,000 (1,104,000) 5,752,000
29,140,000 (2,760,000) 26,380,000
26,380,000
1.02 1.02 1.02

B aE -

(@ ERBEREZFEHELASREFMET
TEAREM)IAARTNEERNRES
BREEET REBEREASRLZE
g2 B NERR AT RARTTERE

R AR HE -

5/12/2018-4/12/2019
5/12/2019-4/12/2020
5/12/2020-4/12/2021

31/3/2023-30/3/2024
31/3/2024-30/3/2025
31/3/2025-30/3/2026

up to 30% T Hi830%
up to 60% T H8i860%
up to 100% T #8i8100%
up to 30% NiEE#B30%
up to 60% T #8i860%
up to 100% B i8100%

Tl e ERERER AR

BRI 1T R B A

ZRE AN

2021/224F %,
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39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

()

During the year, the Group recognised a share option expense of HK$7,000
(2021: HK$1,048,000) in relation to the share options granted by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme in prior years.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year was
estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial option pricing model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield fig 2=

Volatility R R

Risk-free interest rate 42 3 B | 3
Effective life of options ik A F B
Weighted average share price EFERE

40. RESERVES

(a)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The capital reserve mainly includes:

()  a debit balance of HK$7,340,000 recognised in prior
years, which represented the aggregate amount of
the non-voting deferred share capital of Chun Wo
Construction and Engineering Company Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, and the difference
between the nominal amount of the share capital issued
by the Company and the aggregate nominal amount of
the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
a group reorganisation undertaken in 1993.
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40. RESERVES (continued)
(b)  (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

a deemed contribution of HK$10,240,000 recognised
upon the acquisition of the remaining 62% interest in
Mandarin Group Limited (“MGL") from a then director
and a then controlling shareholder of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2010. MGL was
deregistered during the year ended 31 March 2021, the
aforementioned capital reserve of HK$10,240,000 was
transferred to retained profits.

the amount of profit capitalisation upon allotment of
share capital of Chun Wo Foundations Limited (a wholly-
owned subsidiary) during the year ended 31 March 1997.

a deemed contribution of HK$6,961,000 recognised
upon the acquisition of a 40% interest in CPL from a
controlling shareholder of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2020, which represented the difference
between the consideration paid and the acquisition-date
fair value of the net assets of CPL attributable to the
Group.

a gain of HK$4,615,000 recognised upon the disposal
of a 5% interest in the Relevant Subsidiary to an
independent third party during the current year, which
represented the difference between the consideration
received of HK$6,000,000 and 5% net assets value of
the Relevant Subsidiary attributable to the Group of
HK$1,385,000 as at the disposal date.

40. f#1& (2)

(b)

(%)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

TMEE S EZERER AR

HRNE E£2010F3/831H
IEFERAARR—RER
EEREHIERBRERE
Mandarin Group Limited
(IMGLJ)®% T62% #
mMERZERIEIE
10,240,000/ 7T > MGL 2
REE2021F3A318 IEF
EAREEM WRIRB
i A B A LA E B ARG
10,240,000 7T ©

REZ=1997F3A318 L&
ERBEBEMBETEARR
AE(—BEE2EELAWB
NaE) 2 BAREARLZ &
F o

AR E E202063831H 1
FE AR R — B ERRR
HULRE CPL 2 40% 25 T FE
R 2 AR 1E)E E 6,961,000
BT HEREMREERK
A ASEEECPLEE
FEZAFEZESE-

RAFERBILE=FH
ERIEBEHE R F5% #
= 18 fE R M I 254,615,000
BT oHEEREBRE
6,000,0007% JT 81 78 £2 B 7
HERBELAERBRE A
A]5% K& EE)${E1,385,000
BT Z R ZERE-

2021/224F %,
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41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

4. GERETREBR W

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) EXFBEERS
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had non- REE2022F3A31BILEE
cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of N AEBERESEEEHER
HK$34,403,000 (2021: HK$12,429,000) and HK$34,403,000 et REEENMEEREZ
(2021: HK$12,429,000), respectively, in respect of lease FERERNE D A A34,403,000
arrangements for various assets. 77T (20214F £ 12,429,000/ 7T)
%34,403,000/% 7T (20214 :
12,429,000/ 7T ) °
Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other major BREXFHBEBREIN REBE
non-cash transactions of investing and financing activities 20225 K2021563A31H IEFE
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. N AEBTAREEMBERKRE
REERB HBEERH -
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEZBELEZERES
activities )
Bank Lease
borrowings [ELIIE
BITER HESE
Notes HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
i3 FE7T FET
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ202253831ALEE
At 1 April 2021 #2021F4A18 3,215,098 55,805
Transfer to liabilities directly associated with BRZENEAREREY
the assets of a disposal group classified —HHEREZ
as held for sale BEBEABENEE 31 (34,908) (4,043)
Changes from operating cash flows BeReREc8D - -
Changes from financing cash flows HEREREZED (158,230) (39,078)
New leases g - 34,403
Interest expense MERX 8 55,596 2,050
Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred BRARTERRHEE Y
in connection with the arrangement BN AR
of bank loans 8 16,553 -
Exchange realignment B % B (781) (17)
At 31 March 2022 $2022%3A31H 3,093,328 49,120
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41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities (continued)

M. GZERERERZHFE »)

(b) MEZBRELEZRES
B (&)

Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
AT HEBE
Notes HK$000 HK$ 000
Hizt FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE2021F3A31ALEE
At 1 April 2020 #®2020F4H1H 2,853,205 65,264
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEKHBAR 42(3) 23,312 6,112
Consolidation of subsidiaries upon B ARRENNE
resumption of control TR G AR 42(b) 96,886 6,611
Changes from operating cash flows BEReRE 2D - -
Changes from financing cash flows REREREZEE) 161,957 (36,719)
New leases FHE = 12,429
Early termination of a lease RAKE—BHE = (215)
Interest expense FISRAY 8 59,651 2,300
Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred BEBRTERRFEEEL
in connection with the arrangement BN AR 2 B 8
of bank loans 8 19,011 -
Exchange realignment R 1,076 23
At 31 March 2021 $2021%3A31H 3,215,098 55,805

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated

statement of cash flows is as follows:

() HERSRHMAE
SAGARS BRI EERS
TR T

2021
HK$000

FET

Within operating activities EFREEFEFR 2,050 2,300
Within financing activities Z2YRRLEEE 39,078 36,719
41,128 39,019

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL

(a) Business combinations

The Group had the following business combinations during the
years ended 31 March 2021:

(i)

(ii)

In July 2020, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company acquired a 84% equity interest in
Prosperouse Education Consultancy Limited (“PECL")
from an independent third party for a total consideration
of HK$2,500,000. PECL is principally engaged in the
provision of school management services.

On 8 October 2020, an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary owned as to 92.73% by the Company, as
a subscriber and a purchaser, entered into a share
subscription agreement and a sale and purchase
agreement with JA and a vendor, both being
independent third parties, respectively, for the acquisition
of not more than a 55% equity interest in JA for a total
cash consideration of HK$27,500,000.

Following the completion of the acquisition taken place
on 4 November 2020, the Company held 50.99% of the
entire issued and paid up share capital of JA.

In accordance with the aforesaid agreements,
HK$15,125,000 out of total cash consideration were
paid in October and November 2020 and the remaining
balance shall be paid upon fulfillment of the profit
guarantee provided by the vendor. The contingent
consideration was an embedded derivative instrument
which was measured at fair value through profit or loss.
In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of this
embedded derivative was not significant as at the date of
completion of the acquisition and 31 March 2021.
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL (continued)

(a) Business combinations (continued)

(iif)

On 20 October 2020, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group had conditionally agreed
to purchase, and the independent third party had
conditionally agreed to sell, the entire issued share capital
of Hong Kong Cyclotron Laboratories Limited (“HKCL")
for total cash consideration of HK$64,000,000. HKCL
is principally engaged in the production and sale of PET
radiopharmaceuticals for medical use.

Completion of the acquisition took place on
3 November 2020 and HK$60,000,000 of the total
cash consideration was paid to the independent third
party in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the sale and purchase agreement on the completion
date. The remaining balance of HK$4,000,000 shall
be paid upon the fulfillment of the profit guarantee
provided by the independent third party. The contingent
consideration was an embedded derivative instrument
which was measured at fair value through profit or loss.
In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of this
embedded derivative was not significant as at the date of
completion of the acquisition and 31 March 2021.

Further details of the acquisition were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 20 October 2020
and 3 November 2020.

2. KB EHEMBRATRNE

EUE

(#&)

EHERSRE AR

(@) EHEoF )

(iii)

TMEE S EZERER AR

20206 10A20H - —
RRRlzBEE2EHRE
MBARHE -—BBYE
= HEAMN—MEBEWmE -
Bl AKEERERE
BELZBIFEF=HF
&4 R & & Hong Kong
Cyclotron Laboratories
Limited ([HKCL]) 2 E
BOIREK BRERER
64,000,000 T ° HKCL &
ERFELEERBEEEET
AT M Y AER &
Ri&-

U i =18 B 70202011 8
3B 5/ © 60,000,000 7T
ZRESREENTHK B
HIZ B B 2 ERR& K
HRZBLE =S8
484,000,000/ 7T B B 7B
VE=ZAREZEMNRE
ER ST R ARE
BEAFEGFABEIE
ZBARPTET A -EER
B ZBmARITETERK
B E I\ 5Tk B 8 202143
A31BZ AFEITEK-

BREWESENE—DF
FEH R ARQ A B EA2020
F10H208 &2020F11 83
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND 2. B EHEMBRATARE
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON HNGEHERES AR
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL (continued) (#&)

(a) Business combinations (continued) (a) ¥%a6t(#)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the ERBEER BN EERAR
entities acquired as at the date of acquisition were as follows: P B B2 A ER T

PECL JA Group HKCL Total

= AEE HKCL k)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FiET FAET

Property, plant and equipment #7331 R {5 15 - 4,553 4,089 8,642
Right-of-use assets FREERE 17(a) - 3,197 2,653 5,850
Deferred tax assets EREBIREE 36 - = 278 278
Inventories FE - 4,606 2,468 7,074
Contract assets BHEE - 10,303 - 10,303
Trade receivables Z S EWHIR - 6,513 6,528 13,041

Prepayments, deposits and BRFRE Re REM

other receivables FE WA 12 22,646 1,902 24,560
Cash and cash equivalents RekBREEERA 35 8,686 5,477 14,198
Trade payables B SRl FE - (5,156) (226) (5,382)
Other payables and accruals Hoh e < A8 R FE AT UIE (19) (6,849) (385) (7,253)
Bank and other borrowings RATREAD AR - (23,312) = (23,312)
Lease liabilities HEAE 17(b) - @3, 534) (2,578) (6,112)
Income tax payable EHMET - (3,053) (3,053)

Total identifiable net assets at BATEFEZ

fair value AHAEEFEAR 28 21,653 17,153 38,834
Non-controlling interests FeE RS @) (9,746) = (9,750)
24 11,907 17,153 29,084

Goodwill on acquisition Woigrs 2 2 18 2,476 15,593 46,847 64,916
2,500 27,500 64,000 94,000

Satisfied by cash EXFRARELM 2,500 27,500 64,000 94,000
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL (continued)

(a) Business combinations (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
subsidiaries is as follows:

2. ¥BEHEMBARRE

MG EFEREZES AR

(%)
(a)

EBRest#)
WIEMB AR 2B REDTNA
T

PECL JA Group HKCL Total
Bs JAEH HKCL B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T FET T
Cash consideration HerE (2,500) (27,500) (64,000) (94,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BElEzRE RERS
ZEER 35 8,686 5,477 14,198
Add: Outstanding cash consideration as at M:RERHRERZ
the end of the year BeNE 230 12,375 4,000 16,605
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents WERBRRAIZEE R
in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries BB ¢ EEER
e (2,235) (6,439) (54,523) (63,197)

Since the acquisition, the acquired entities contributed
HK$58,903,000 to the Group's revenue and incurred a profit
of HK$8,029,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Had the above business combinations taken place at the
beginning of the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group's
loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 would have been
HK$181,001,000 and the Group's revenue would have been
HK$7,552,746,000.

BElESEAR BRERQ
ARASEB 2EXEAERT
58,903,000/ 7t ' W A 8 £2021
FIAMBLEFEE £ & A
8,029,000/ T °

fisi £l 75 & BFR20214F3 A31
BIEFEZFNEL AEER
2021F3A31B L FEEIEEA
181,001,000 7T » T AN £ B /) &
¥ 581 47,552,746,00078 TT ©

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s
construction and other professional services operation in
Malaysia had been negatively impacted by the outbreak of
Covid-19 pandemic. In order to provide the relevant operating
entities of these operations with flexibility, ECO Group Holdings
Sdn. Bhd. ("ECQO"), to make decisions and introduce measures
to improve their operating performance and efficiency, the
Group entered into supplementary agreements in the first
quarter of 2020 with the minority shareholder of ECO who
has expertise and experience in these operations in the local
markets such that the control of this entity was temporarily
passed to the minority shareholder of ECO for a period of
4.5 months, from the respective date of the supplementary
agreement. In the opinion of the Directors, this arrangement
was in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole amid Covid-19 outbreak.

As a result of the aforesaid arrangement during the second half
of the prior year, the Group lost control over ECO and hence it
had been accounted for as associates of the Group since then.
Accordingly, the ECO and its subsidiaries (the “ECO Group”)
were deconsolidated in March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group executed
its right to resume control over ECO, in accordance with the
terms of a supplementary agreement entered into between the
Group and the minority shareholder of ECO in March 2020.
Accordingly, the Group’s investment in ECO was reclassified
from an investment in an associate to an investment in a
subsidiary during the year ended 31 March 2021 and financial
statements of the ECO Group have been consolidated since
then.

In accordance with the share sale and purchase agreement
entered in November 2019, RM2,983,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,659,000) out of the total cash consideration shall be paid
upon fulfillment of the profit guarantee provided by the seller
of ECO from 2021 to 2023. The contingent consideration was
an embedded derivative instrument which was measured at fair
value through profit or loss. In the opinion of the Directors, the
fair value of this embedded derivative was not significant as
at the date of resumption of control over ECO and 31 March
2021.
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND 2. ¥ SHEMBATRE
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON TS EFIEESES AR
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL (continued) (&)

(b) Consolidation of subsidiaries upon resumption (b) MIEBATREFESES
of control EEBEZEEAR

RE E202063A8318 LFE

TEMARBEEHAEERE
RPETE 2 IR R H A B RA &
BERKAEYE - BRZSER
ZHBELEEE (AEeEEE
BRERAR ([ES]) ) REEE
MR E RSN ERLEERR
MR 2 FE i 7N & B 20204
F—FTEHERZVHBREITL
HWrahE MZERREERNE
TS EEZEER 2 BN
MES EZERBZEHEDS
B aE 2 fHE R R T e
BTERPEKRE  AHE4.5(E
B-BERAE HEMAREH
M ZLHFEARRABREZE
BEFZS o

AR LR E—FEZTEF
ZHE AEBREEE 2 EHRE
WE B ARIIERSEE 2B &
AEle AL B2020F3 8% &
SkENBRAR([EmEE])
WHUBSR G AR e

REE2021F3A8318 LFEE
BEAEESRES 2 PHEBER
2020F3 B ET ML 2 i T Wik 2 15
FOAEETEEENETIRE
HES2EMNE Bt RE=E
2021F3A31BEFEAR A&
ERfEmciRERR —HEBE A
AR EENHEAR — B
RAZEE BESEEZHH
WA T UGS AR

RIER2019F 11 A BRI 2B E
Bk IR R E 2,983,000
%3 (& 15,659,000/ 7T ) i
RERBZBEARBEZ2021FE
20234 %5 R IR 75 1% X+ - A RE =X
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL (continued)

(b) Consolidation of subsidiaries upon resumption
of control (continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
ECO Group as at the date of resumption of control were as

2. ¥BEHEHMBATRE
HIEBEHERESAE
(&

(b) MBATASHFEERS
ERESAR(®)
EEEETSRAEREBNE
RS EHIE B ZAFEN

follows: T
2021
ECO Group
EasE
HK$000
FET
Property, plant and equipment Y3t - 23S R 15 47,452
Investment properties wEME 6 11,790
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17(a) 12,276
Deferred tax assets RIEFIA & EE 36 634
Inventories EE 631
Contract assets EHEE 46,406
Trade receivables =Y e e 27,880
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR e R EA
& Wk IE 13,353
Income tax recoverable AR [O] FTiS R 1,346
Cash and cash equivalents HeRHIRSEEIER 16,006
Trade payables B SRR (15,329)
Contract liabilities EHEE (1,387)
Other payables and accruals H At &S R IE N FE 5T ARIR (25,608)
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBERK (96,886)
Lease liabilities HEBE 17(b) (6,611)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BATEFECAHAEE
FEARE 31,953
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR A (15,657)
16,296
Goodwill on acquisition W i B 2 2 18 14,044
30,340
Satisfied by: ERAN
Reclassification from interests in associates HEE R AERENSR
to interests in subsidiaries BB AR 26,847
Gain on remeasurement of a pre-existing B ERN —HBE AR
interest in an associate BA#E D WS 7 3,493
30,340

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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31 March 2022
202293 A31H

42. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES UPON
RESUMPTION OF CONTROL (continued)

(b) Consolidation of subsidiaries upon resumption
of control (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the resumption of
control of ECO is as follows:

2. ¥BEHEMBARRE
FESEFERES AR
(%)

(b) M RAREHEGESF
REREGRE AR (&)

FREFRERESEHEZRES
mATERSILNT -

2021

ECO Group

EasE

HK$°000

FET

Cash and cash equivalents consolidated HEARzZREREARSEMEIER 16,006
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in B B8 X R PR BB 3T HRAS R il e

respect of the consolidation of subsidiaries iR ARz IR e &R
upon resumption of control ReFEHEBERAFRE 16,006

Since the consolidation of the ECO Group upon resumption
of control, the ECO Group contributed HK$46,451,000 to the
Group's revenue and incurred a loss of HK$13,546,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

Had the above resumption of control over ECO taken place at
the beginning of the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s
loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 would have been
HK$196,705,000 and the Group's revenue would have been
HK$7,559,568,000.
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REFIMSIEH RS ARRE
BE2021F3A3IBLFEMEE
%A & 146,451,000/ 7T I E 4
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MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Sales of property interests (a)

43. HEKRE 2
HERERS

The Group completed the sale of the following property
developments through disposal of subsidiaries during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021:

Year ended 31 March 2022

On 6 April 2021, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with the independent third party for the
disposal of 51% equity interest in Shijiazhuang Junling for
a total cash consideration of RMB180 million (equivalent
to HK$219,780,000). Shijiazhuang Junling was classified
as a disposal group held for sale as at 31 March 2021, as
further detailed in note 31 to the financial statements. As a
result of the transaction, a gain on disposal of approximately
HK$117,681,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the
year upon completion of the transaction on 18 November
2021 and the consideration of RMB120 million (equivalent
to HK$146.5 million) was settled as at 31 March 2022.
The remaining consideration of RMB60 million (equivalent
to HK$73.3 million) will be settled in accordance with the
payment schedule as set out in the share transfer agreement.

Year ended 31 March 2021

On 13 March 2020, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with the joint venture partner of a
joint venture for the disposal of the Group’s entire 50%
equity interest in the Mega Champion Enterprises Limited
and its subsidiary (the “Mega Group”) through disposal
of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, for a
total cash consideration of HK$116,900,000. As a result
of the transaction, a gain on disposal of approximately
HK$11,515,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the
year upon completion of the transaction on 30 June 2020.

REBRE £20224F %202143
A31BEFEREEE B EH
BARSERHE TMFENME
BR:

B ZE202263A31HILEE

AEBR2021F4A6B M EER
TR S 251% IAERZ 2 IET
BEZHRIN— DR EERE
438 & R E A AR 180,000,000
7T (#8 & $2219,780,000/ 7T ) °
AREESMN2021E38318 %
SEABEHEL —RHALEES
E— T HBERPEREN
31 5% X 52021411 18R
RTEKE  AFEBZNER
& U 25 49117,681,0007 7T 1%
& & AR #%120,000,0007T (HHE
146,500,000 7T ) B 720224
3A3NEY BRTREABAR
60,000,0007T ( #8%& 773,300,000
B BB EE G ET B
B RS R S A o

BZE2021F3831HILEE

20203138 ANEE E—H
BERNAIZEERBHITL—HMHE
Bf® ERHEARA—HE
& W B A A H B A & B R Mega
Champion Enterprises Limited &
HEWMB AR ([Megate @) 2
2 EB50% ik #E- B EKER
116,900,000/ 7 HRN BRI 5
B R2020F6A30A %k HE
U #911,515,0008 TE R FE A
ZIEm PR

DM E EEIERARAR 202122F
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31 March 2022
202293 A31H

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. HENBE QT (2
(a) Sales of property interests (continued) () HEWMERER (&)
An analysis of the assets and liabilities derecognised as a result R bt EEEMEUEER
of the above disposals is as follows: BEHGEITEOT:

Net assets disposed of: HEEEZFE:
Land held for property development 5 {E¥ ¥ E 2 -3 408,174 -
Properties held for sale FEHEWSE 737 =
Investment in a joint venture R—EEERRIZIKE - 105,205
Prepayments, deposits and other AN RRIE - B E R EA
receivables JE W SR IE 14,000 =
Cash and bank balance e RIRTTA B 15,725 =
Other payables and accruals H th FE AT 50 IE & FEET R IE (106,242) =
Income tax payables FER PSR (26,279) =
306,115 105,205
Expenses incurred for the disposal HEMEE X 4,254 180
Gains on sales of property interests BRTEWNBEAT HEME
through disposal of subsidiaries WS 2 W 7 117,681 11,515
Exchange fluctuation reserve realised & %38 2 SME K B4 & (38,356) =
389,694 116,900
Satisfied by: ERARA:
Cash consideration HeRE 219,780 116,900
Reclassification of investment in AR —HENEARZ
a subsidiary to investment in REEMDER
an associate R—HEBEQARZIRE 169,914 =
389,694 116,900
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31 March 2022
202293 A31H

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) Sales of property interests (continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents as a

result of the above disposals is as follows:

43. HEWB AT (&)

(a) HEVXEER &)
MR E P EEEREL Y B
RERSSEEE 2 RAFES
T :

Cash consideration BE&RE 219,780 116,900
Outstanding cash consideration MAEEZEERE (73,267) -
Less: Sales deposits received for sale of B HE—EREHEEZ
a non-current asset held for sale EmMBEELZENR
HERE - (11,690)
Cash and bank balance disposed of BHE 2B e RIBITLERR (15,725) =
Expenses incurred for the disposal HEMEEZHRY (4,254) (180)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents BRLEMBRARLEEME
in respect of sale of property interests EmsHe REBESEE
through disposal of subsidiaries HB RN 126,534 105,030

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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31 March 2022
202293 A31H

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. HENBE QT (2
(b) Other disposals (b) HttHE
In addition to the above disposals of subsidiaries as set out in bR EXKT (@ FEMBEAR 2 H
note (a) above, the Group also completed the disposal of two EEE NEEITTRE 20214
immaterial subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2021. 3A31H IEFE A L& 3E
BAWBAR -
As analysis of the assets derecognised as a result of the R A 6 W B B8 /R B i BUH e
disposal of the two subsidiaries is as follows: RZBEDWWT
2021
Notes HK$000
st F&T
Net assets disposed of: HEEEZFE:
Goodwill e 18 2,476
Inventories BE 133
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — TB{ 3B ~ & & & H b B UL FRIE 533
Cash and cash equivalent RERHBSEFEIEE 425
Trade payables B ENRIE (56)
Other payables and accruals B &~ 5RIE K B ETRIE (1,084)
Non-controlling interest IR E R (74)
2,353
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries LB AR EE 9 (349)
Exchange fluctuation reserve realised B#35 2 INER B E 106
2,110
Satisfied by: ERAAA:
Cash consideration ReRE 1,880
Other payable assumed P HE 2 Bt JE A< RRIE 230
2,110
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202293 A31H

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. HEMBE D E ()
(b) Other disposals (continued) (b) HEttHE (&)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents as a ALt EmMEELE RS RER
result of the above disposals is as follows: CEBEEBZRAFEITAN
T

Cash consideration BeRE 1,880
Cash and bank balances disposed of BEHE R e RIRITEE (425)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HEMBARZE S KA
in respect of disposal of subsidiaries REFEHBRAFE 1,455
44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 44, HAREE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following RIEBR REEF AT @R
contingent liabilities, which have not been provided for in the BRI IRBBZIAREE:
financial statements:
(a) Corporate guarantees and performance bonds (a) EfFHZRARIERREN
given RE

2021

HK$'000
FAET

Indemnities issued to financial institutions TAEAEREETREREERS

for performance bonds in respect of ERHZEHRE MR F
construction and professional services HBIEL 2 R
contracts undertaken by:
— subsidiaries NG 963,631 1,022,183
— joint operations —BREEB 96,044 107,285
— a joint venture ——M&e&RH 41,173 40,445
1,100,848 1,169,913
Guarantees issued to financial institutions BBt E QB ESEERE
to secure credit facilities granted to i A& BEEIEL 2
associates (note (ii)) PR (BEREGD) 1,013,564 1,527,275
Guarantees for property development MYEERBEMBELREH
projects given to banks which granted FIEHEWEZ ATRHE
facilities to purchasers of the Group's BB 2 RITIR M 2 PER
properties held for sale (note (iii)) (B EEGii) ) - 14,835
2,114,412 2,712,023
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31 March 2022
202293 A31H

44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) Corporate guarantees and performance bonds
given (continued)

In addition to the above, corporate guarantees were provided
by the Group to two parties to indemnify them any losses
and liabilities that they may incur in connection with certain
construction works of the Group in which the two parties
have involvement. In the opinion of the Directors, the financial
impact of the contingent liabilities that may arise from these
arrangements is assessed to be minimal.

Notes:

@)

(ii)

(iii)

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of the financial guarantee
contracts of the Group are insignificant at initial recognition and the
possibility of the default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly,
no value has been recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position in respect of these financial guarantee contracts.

At 31 March 2022, the banking facilities granted to associates and
guaranteed by the Group were utilised to the extent of HK$692,911,000
(2021: HK$1,045,605,000). As at 31 March 2021, the other shareholder
of an associate provides to the Group a counter-guarantee in respect of
the amount of banking facilities in excess of the Group's pro rata share
based on the Group’s equity interest in the associate.

At 31 March 2021, the Group provided guarantees in respect of
mortgage facilities granted by certain banks relating to the mortgage
loans arranged for certain purchasers of the Group's properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default on
mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of the
guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, and the Group is entitled
to take over the legal title and possession of the related properties
through taking legal actions. The Group's guarantee period starts from
the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and discharges upon
the earlier of (i) the issuance of real estate ownership certificates to the
purchasers; and (i) the fully repayment of the relevant mortgage loans by
the purchasers.

The fair value of the guarantees is not significant and the Directors
consider that in the event of default on payments, the net realisable value
of the related properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties and
therefore no provision has been made in the financial statements for the
guarantees.
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44. S REE (#)
(b) =REA
AERFAE A B RA

44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Litigations
The legal proceedings arose from four sets of Sale and

Purchase Agreement dated 4 August 2011 and 3 March
2012 respectively (the “SPAs”), pursuant to which the
Group purchased four flat top barges (the “Vessels”) from
a plaintiff. The SPAs stipulated that the plaintiff should buy
back the Vessels from the Group in the total consideration of
HK$15,150,000 (the “Buyback”) after 36 months from the
Vessels' respective delivery dates (the “Buyback Dates”). The
Buyback did not take place on the Buyback Dates nor after
rounds of negotiations in 2015. In May 2018, the Group
disposed of the Vessels to a third party.

In June 2021, the plaintiff commenced the legal proceedings
alleging that the Group was in breach of the SPAs and claims,
inter alia, for (i) loss of rental charges beyond the Buyback
Dates and (i) loss of difference between the market price and
the buyback price of the Vessels.

The Group counterclaims against the plaintiff for, inter alia,
(i) the difference between the buyback prices under the
SPAs and the selling price to the third party and (ii) the costs
of maintaining the Vessels beyond the Buyback Dates until
disposal to the third party.

The plaintiff is now claiming loss and damages in the sum of
approximately HK$9,511,000 against the Group while the
Group is counterclaiming loss and damages in the sum of
approximately HK$17,496,000.

As advised by the legal advisers to the Group, the Group has
a reasonable chance of success in counterclaiming against the
plaintiff.

201198 A4H K201293A3H K
BEEWm= ([EEWHE]) S
Bt AEERRSEABE TIH
EFTEMM () -BEEHZ
HE REABEMMASEZR
EH®36ME AR ([EEAH])
MALEERBELER EARER
15,150,000/ T ([[EEE]) - [@
BIAREEBHRET TRR
20155 Z bk H 18 # 17 - 782018
F5A AEEBMMEETE=
Eo

R2021F6 A ' REARAEERE
FEARFD BREASEERE
EpZEIRE HREE ()2E
H 81 WA e 18 K K (i) S e
BMOEE M EREEBX-

AEEHREAROIRRE H
PR ()EEHEE NHERE
BEETE=-THNERZHEANZE
B Ri)VEMBARKEILE
FE=Z D ZHERBNER-

BEEARBMBAEBRREY
9,511,000 THIIB R RIBE M
AEE AR EEX17,496,000/%
TR REBE -

BMAEBERBRZER X
SEEREMKINEERMRE A
RERRE-
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202293 A31H

45. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

(a) Capital commitments

Contracted, but not provided for:
Acquisition of property, plant and
equipment

EATRERER:
BEVE HEREK

45. & iE
R EEIR  AEE BT RE:

(a)

BRERE

2021

HK$'000
FAET

- 7,387

(b)

Property development commitments

Contracted, but not provided for:

Residential developments FEERE

EATRERER:

(b)

VIR RAYE

2021

HK$°000
FAET

59 745,191

(c) Commitment for sale of a property interest

On 6 April 2021, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with an independent third party for the disposal of
a 51% equity interest in Shijiazhuang Junling. Details of the
commitment for the sale of Shijiazhuang Junling are set out
in note 31(a) to the financial statements. The transaction was
completed on 18 November 2021 and such commitment no
longer existed as at 31 March 2022.

(d)

Commitment for sale of an equity interest

On 30 May 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with the non-controlling equity holder of JA for the
disposal of the Group’s entire 50.99% equity interest in JA.
Details of the commitment for the sale of JA Group are set out
in note 31(b) to the financial statements.
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46. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material transactions with related parties during the year:

46. BEHIRE
(a) BRZEFBHRREMIBOFLZ
REHIN REBRAFEZRNERR
BHIIMATERRS

Associate: AN
Management fee income (note) EEEBEWA (M) 1,623 1,294

Note: The transaction prices were determined by reference to the then M : REBRDLEERBEAZTISE
prevailing market rates. BEE -

(b) Outstanding balances and other transactions with related by BEHEAEBFZANHBREEMR

parties: 2

()  Details of the balances with associates at the end of () MIMEHR HEZERF]Z
the reporting period are disclosed in note 21(b) to the MEBFIBR SRR M T
financial statements. 21(b) B 55 -

(i)  Details of the trade receivable balances with other (i) MMEHR - HBEE %ﬂ“‘
partners of joint operations at the end of the reporting EmEHE S ERR
period are disclosed in note 25(b) to the financial ERFBRMBRE Fﬁ?
statements. 25(b) # 55 o

(i) Details of the guarantees provided by non-controlling (iiy  — BT B 2 B IR AR AR A
equity holders of a subsidiary and shareholders of non- A AKRWER R EER
controlling equity holders of subsidiaries in respect of BEFREAZRRERAE
certain bank loans of the Group are set out in note 34(d) BETHRITERIREER
to the financial statements. 2 FEIE P B RS R R Y R

34(d) °

(iv) Details of the corporate guarantees and performance
bonds given by the Group in connection with the
operations of joint operations, a joint venture and
associates of the Group are disclosed in note 44(a) to the
financial statements.

(v) Details of the purchase of patent from a connected
person of the Company are disclosed in note 19 to the
financial statement.

This transaction constitutes connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but
is exempted from announcement, reporting and
independent shareholders’ approval requirement
pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

(ivy AEERAEEESERE
—fH& % RE REERF
BB 2 RAIER
KREHREZFHBRY B
R M aEa4(a) HRER o

(v) MARFEEALTEER
MZHFBHRERYBERE
BgFE19 o

ZRIGBRBERS (T
EREMABAUNE14AE) -
HEREET EMHRASE
14A. 7618 A&~ B ¥R R B
SRR ERRE
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46. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 46. BE LK E (2)

() Compensation of key management personnel of the Group © ZAEBFEEEABZFHHN
Short term employee benefits REEEEA 45,121 59,824
Equity-settled share option expense ABR R 4 8 2 B i i A =2 5 662
Other equity-settled share-based payment — EAML LA AL E 2 D A

expense ERSRHAX 2,403 777
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRERET B R 624 793
Total compensation paid to key management /£ 2 &2 A 8 2 {79 5 B

personnel B 48,153 62,056

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note
10 to the financial statements.

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Except for debt investments and equity investments being classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as disclosed in
note 28 to the financial statements, all other financial assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are classified
as financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost, respectively.

48. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

o the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid prices; and

o the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
included in the Level 2 and Level 3 categories have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis, with the
most significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects the
credit risk of counterparties.
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48. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 48. ERMITAZAFERAF

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Directors consider that the fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities which are due to be received or settled within one
year approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped
into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable.

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices)
or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

2022
Level 1 Level 3

F-HK F=&K
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET

Debt investments at fair value 1ZAF{EH AEBZ

through profit or loss ZERERE - -
Equity investments at fair BRATEABR
value through profit or loss ~ Z Bx A& & 5,623 -

BE& #)

EERA R—FRIHUEKEE
LERMEERERABBEIATERES
BZEREERS T2ARLETA
ZHAIRG AL

REAMBRAEERZAT
Ei R
TREHGRERRADFEFEZ
ERIADN HiEZABRAFERE
BAR—E=#-

s F-RRFEENZEREE
FEERERTISTRER (R
R -

o FoMAVEFETIRFE MG
AZBEN KREEELBER
B (AER)REZ (M ER
TE)BRBABESL -

s F=MAFEEDNFALIER
BABEMSHE CEUBERE
ABR)ZEERBBEZR/ER
AR

2021
Total Level 1 Level 3 Total
HWE F—H F=H B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FHET TFHET FET

- = 3,642 3,642

5,623 1,868 = 1,868

5,623 -

5,623 1,868 3,642 5,510

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer
into or out of Level 3 in the current and prior years.

RAFERBEFE F—REF—
BB EEMERRIEHE =R
BAREL -

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's financial instruments include trade and other receivables,
debt investments and equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss, balances with joint ventures, associates, other partners of
joint operations and non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries,
cash and bank balances, trade and other payables and bank
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes to the financial statements. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below:

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Most of the Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in
HK$ or RMB, which are the same as the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities. The Group undertakes certain
transactions denominated in foreign currencies, and hence
exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. The Group
does not expect any significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations and shall use derivative contracts to hedge against
its exposure to currency risk only when it is required. The
Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring
the movement of the foreign currency rate.

(ii) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

The Group has significant bank borrowings and bank deposits
with floating interest rates which are exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk. During the year, the Group has not hedged
its cash flow and fair value interest rate risks. The Directors
consider the Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk on
the bank deposits is insignificant as most deposits bear variable
interest rates which have not significantly fluctuated in recent
years.
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the end of
the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A
100 (2021: 100) basis point increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 (2021: 100) basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 would have
decreased/increased by approximately HK$25,369,000 (2021:
HK$26,257,000).

Sensitivity analysis on bank deposits is not presented as the
Directors consider that the Group's exposure to interest rate
fluctuations on bank deposits is insignificant.

. DB EREEBBRRBUR

[ 4=
k/éE!/)

™iE R ()

(ii)

AFERRESFRENZRER (£)
THBEE D TR BE R 2R & HAR
FRIRTERZMERBREE -
REBBEOWME DHERINES
HARAEEZABSENEF—
B RIEE - 100524 (20214
100E )RR KRB IR E HF
RZABEA BB T EREMS IR
RNBHEBER A BERFE
[ Bex BeF T F AL o

R FE EFH T BK100E 24
(20214 : 100 2) M A
HMSggsT8 AEH
HE2022F3831BLEFEEZ
BB 1&g E R g g R 18N
4925,369,000/% T (20214 :
26,257,000/ 7T ) °

HREERA/AEERITERZ

MEREREBIE TEA - B
EE2IRITEFRZGRE DN

DM E EEIERARAR 202122F
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its debtors and
amounts due from other partners of joint operations. The Group is
exposed to credit concentration risk as a substantial portion of its
trade debtors are generated from a limited number of customers.

At the end of the reporting period, three (2021: three) customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 61% (2021: 47%) of
the Group's trade receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. To mitigate credit risk arising from
guarantees provided to banks in respect of credit facilities utilised
by associates, the Group has delegated a team responsible for
assessing credit standing and limits to the guarantees to be made. In
addition, management considers the credit risk exposure to financial
guarantees provided to property purchasers is limited because the
facilities are secured by the properties. In this regard, the Directors
consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Except for the above, the Group does not have any significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spreading over a number
of counterparties and customers.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

With respect to credit risk arising from amounts due from joint
ventures, associates and other partners of joint operations,
the Group's exposure to credit risk arising from default of the
counterparty is limited as the counterparty has sufficient net assets to
repay its debts and/or a good history of repayment.
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. M EEEREEERBEE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (4 )

Credit risk (continued) EERE (&)

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRITERAEBEERENGEE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which EERGAEERRBRMKO ZEER
is mainly based on past due information unless other information REZERNBANEURER (BRIFH
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging HEREFFEH T UENKARLE N
classification as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. The amounts presented BRI 15 ) LA R A 20224 20214
are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. SANEMFERZBERSE-FTE5 &

BREMEEZREAME-
At 31 March 2022 R202253H31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1288 R
W Fa
BEEE 2HEHEERE

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
F-HER F-ER F=ZER >

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHET FHET FHET FHET

Contract assets* AREE* - - - 3,750,214 3,750,214
Trade receivables* B 5 MW IA - - - 719,207 719,207
Financial assets included in T AFBfT 2018 »

prepayments, deposits R KE th FE U

and other receivables HERNEREE

— Normal** —IEFE** 1,002,731 - - - 1,002,731

— Doubtful** — A] B ** - 88,044 - - 88,044
Restricted cash and pledged 2[R %38 & &

deposits B AE R

— Not yet past due — R AR E 16,009 - - - 16,009
Cash and cash equivalents  IR& K HEIR G

£EEA
— Not yet past due — e A 48 HR 1,440,057 - - - 1,440,057

2,458,797 88,044 4,469,421 7,016,262

SMNE A EEIERARAT 2021224 283
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. KRR EEBEZERBEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
Credit risk (continued) EERR &)
At 31 March 2021 A202163H31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A A
Y 78 5f
=EEE > HEHEEEE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—HER FIBR F=BER BEx B
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET T T TFET TET

Contract assets* BREE" - - - 3,331,161 3,331,161
Trade receivables* B 5 R MWRIR * - - - 783,551 783,551
Financial assets included in s AFEfF 3R IA -
prepayments, deposits Re R EAMEY
and other receivables HIEMN S REE
— Normal** —IEF** 1,009,283 - - - 1,009,283
— Doubtful** — ] R ** - 88,044 - - 88,044
Restricted cash and ZRHFEE KR
pledged deposits B HEAFR
— Not yet past due — A A 481 HR 14,294 = = = 14,294
Cash and cash equivalents ~ 3R& K #IE &
£@BIEA
— Not yet past due — MR8 Ef 1,556,582 - - - 1,556,582
2,580,159 88,044 - 4,114,712 6,782,915
& For contract assets and trade receivables to which the Group applies the * RAEERAGEEZETRENSNEE
simplified approach for impairment, information based on historical observed RESEWHEMNS EREBAGEF
default rates over the expected life of debtors and adjusted for forward-looking HANBAEBRMENENRGE Wit
information as disclosed in notes 24(a) and 25 to the financial statements, ATIE M ERIEITAEMNE R D BIR I H®
respectively. KM FE24(a) K251 T
**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and B BERBEMNRIE e REMERKIEN
other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due CREENEELENABE WA ET
and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant AIFRERAZERMEE B BRHERURE
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the FERBEBRELENHERBIEE] B
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”. Al ZeREENCEEEEWRA [AIE] -
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the

utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings and equity financing as
significant sources of liquidity. Details of which are set out in notes
34 and 37 to the financial statements.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that cash flows
are at floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from the
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Liquidity and interest risk tables
At 31 March 2022

MEEEEREEERBEE

(%)
REBE S @R

EERRDESRBRIE NEEE
ERER—EKRFZREREARSE
BEHEE MEEER/ETURAE
EEERTESRENREREND
FE - EEEBEEERTERZIER
B HE AR 8 T B SRR o

NEBMEERITERLBREAREIES
HIBRHEL KR BEFBHN
BA TR R M 534 %37 ©

TRFANAEEFENTECRBERD
EERGERIMZRBREHNFER-T
KRBAEELRFFTEERNZ AR
SRHBEZAMBERSRERE %
ENXKARBENERAEZHER
£ 1|J];Z%EE%I/ILEE/¥% REHIR©
BRBERRMNEGFE

REBESRANEARE
7202263 H31H

Weighted
average Repayable on Total
effective  demand or 1to  More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate  within 1 year 5 years S5years  cash flows amount
METFY  ARERS AHRRE
ERAZE  -FREE -FE5f BBEF RESR REE
% HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
A7 TErx TErx A7
Trade payables B HEMNFE 1,517,781 158,778 - 1,676,559 1,676,559
Other payables and accruals E AR FRIE R FEE FUR 670,775 - - 670,775 670,775
Due to other partners of joint ﬁ EEBEMBHL
operations - interest-free FE-28 17,7115 - - 17,7115 117,715
Due to a fellow subsidiary of ﬁ BEN-ES/ et
other partner of a joint operation B Z AZKBARZ
- interest free FE-28 25 - - 25 25
Due to associates ENBERNR A 44,59 - - 44,594 44,504
Due to non-controlling equity JET B A A TR
holders of subsidiaries RERBAZTE 9,610 - - 9,610 9,610
Bank borrowings - variable rates  $R{TEZ %8 1.80 2,331,764 802,177 30,352 3,164,293 3,093,328
Lease liabilities HEAR 5.72 28215 23122 - 51,337 49,120
Financial quarantee contracts HBRERAH 692,911 - - 692,911 -
5413,390 984,077 30,352 6,427,819 5,661,726

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%

285



Notes to Financial Statements

PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. EEMEREBFERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESRR (&)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued) RBESRFNSEARK (F)
At 31 March 2021 7202163H31H

Weighted
average  Repayable on Total
effective demand or 1to More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate  within 1 year 5 years 5 years cash flows amount

MEFE  BREXR AERRE
ERAE  —FpEE -FERF  BBRLIF  REAR REE
% HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
AT TET TEL TET AT

Trade payables BHEMNFE 1,450,199 54913 - 1,505,112 1,505,112
Other payables and accruals B A fE( F0B R JER 50B 719,993 = = 719,993 719,993
Due to other partners of joint ~ EEffAZ ¥BHMB L

operations - interest-free TE-B8 90,843 = = 90,843 90,343
Due to associates ERBEARZHE 28,688 - - 28,688 28,688
Due to non-controlling equity  FERHIB A FAIERR

holders of subsidiaries RiEsEALHE 16,302 - - 16,302 16,302
Bank borrowings - variable  $B{TEF—F 8

rates 1.86 3,272,923 21914 30,072 3,324,909 3,215,098
Lease liabilities HERE 357 32,201 26,079 - 58,280 55,805
Financial quarantee contracts BT ERAH 1,045,605 = = 1,045,605 =

6,656,754 102,906 30,072 6,789,732 5,631,841

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are PG AMBERENZEERRS
the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under HFNRERREZEAFERER K
the arrangements for the full guaranteed amounts if those amounts SERBLHAIEEREEERESE
are claimed by the counterparties to the guarantees. Based on EEZESSHE BERBRETHRZ
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers FEH AEERE TARAARER
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable under XS EAFRIE AT REMGFKE
the arrangements. However, this estimate is subject to change EXSEFRBEERIEBERZ 208
depending on the probability of the counterparties claiming under 1T 2R ED - i B A AT A M R R XX
the guarantees which are a function of the likelihood that the SHFMBOER VR FIED
financial receivables held by the counterparties which are guaranteed RIEEEE 2 IEEEA-

suffer credit losses.
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “repayable on demand or within 1 year” time band in the
above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2022, the aggregate carrying
amount of the bank borrowings classified as repayable on demand
was HK$778,988,000 (2021: HK$3,172,700,000). At 31 March
2021, the Group did not comply with certain financial covenants of
bank loans with an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,620 million.
Consent waivers of non-compliance with financial covenants have
been received by the Group subsequent to the reporting period, as
further detailed in note 34(c) to the financial statements.

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, management reviews the
expected cash flow information of the Group’s bank borrowings. The
maturity profile of the Group’s bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the scheduled repayment dates and the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

49. B EREEEEREE

(%)
RBESRER (&)

B EREREBKEXZRITERR
LB BT RIA [BIR 2Kk —
FREE] BRI 7K202256F3A31
H 2HEAREXEREZRITERZ
4 BR T 18 A&778,988,00058 7T (2021
£ :3,172,700,0007% 7T ) ° 1202143
A3MR AEEBEREETACBER
2,620,000,000% 70 < SRITE KA E T
R N EHRE ~EEDEE
REEBTHBHERY 2 REHRE (W
TE IR F M FE34(0) Frsge — 205l ) -

REEBRDESAR BEEMRMN A
SEZRITERZERREREER -
RHBERAR REHEERXRAHRE
MARRRBEM T AEEMAARER
BRI RITERZ PR T -

Total
Repayable 1to More than  undiscounted Carrying
within 1 year 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
¥R AERRE
K8 -%ZIf BBEF RELE k&
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FAT FET FAT TAT
At 31 March 2022 1202234318
Bank borrowings with a repayment MERREKERENLZ
on demand clause RITEH 775,940 3934 5,492 785,366 778,988
At 31 March 2021 ®202163H318
Bank borrowings with a repayment WEAEREKERR
on demand clause RITER 1,167,733 2,091,559 5,929 3,265,221 3,172,700

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

ERFAFTESRBEIDHET
AZ&B BRFHHRZEHERN
BEMREEBANETEHAER
R ER] ©
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

Depending on the market conditions and funding arrangements,
if at any time, repurchase of the Company’s shares will lead to an
enhancement of the net asset value per share and/or earnings per
share of the Group, the Directors will authorise such transactions.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debts
less total cash and bank balances divided by the equity attributable
to shareholders of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of
the reporting periods are as follows:

BREBEERERBE
(&)

EXEHE
AEMERTENEE B EERMEA
S L5 10 40 A TR R A L
PEEEET VT £ S TE Y -0

ab
gE /J °

AEERBEBERENSELRIEBAE
ENRRSEEEEEARBRIEL
AR N TFREMKZBKEITH
A% 17 » R & 20224 &202143A31H
IEFE - BEAEEBEZE BRERREFH
TR E -

BFMRKRE ST 6 E R
BOARRBEOBRAAEEZRE
EFER/ REREF EEHHER
AR °

AEEERERABBLRERELN,
BERBELERNBERRIRE RIRTT
EREBEBR AR R IREEEER-
RBERAREABBE L TNT

31 March 31 March
2022 2021
20224 20214

3A31H 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Bank borrowings RITIETK 3,093,328 3,215,098
Lease liabilities HEARE 49,120 55,805
Total debts BT 4R%H 3,142,448 3,270,903
Less: Total cash and bank balances B IRE MIRTTAE SRR (1,456,066) (1,570,876)
Net debts B F5 1,686,382 1,700,027
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 772 &) i% 5 fE {5 #E 25 2,377,463 2,288,006
Gearing ratio BEARBEEE 71% 74%
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50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March

2022 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

) PNCET:

Amain Engineering Development
Limited
ARMIRERARLA

Bloom Team Building Construction
Company Limited
ERRETIRBERAR

Champion Surveying & Engineering
Co., Limited
KEARIRRERAT

Chun Wo Building Construction
Limited
EAEEGR AR

Chun Wo Construction and
Engineering Company Limited

RHNRETRBRAA

Place of

incorporation/
registration and

business

gL/
B3 E

Hong Kong

BA

Hong Kong

BE

Hong Kong

BA

Hong Kong

BA

Hong Kong

BE

Issued share capital/
registered capital

BRTRA EREX

HK$100 ordinary shares
10078 7T & @A

HK$2 ordinary shares
2ETERK

HK$2 ordinary shares
2B T ERERK

HK$600,000,000
ordinary shares
600,000,000/8 7T & Bk

HK$291,000,000
ordinary shares
HK$9,000,000

non-voting

deferred shares
291,000,000/ 7T & @A
9,000,000 &7t
ERZEETRG

50. EEM B AR

RATTETEME A TIFH2022563H31H
MBI :

Percentage of

equity attributable
to the Company

FAREERERDL

2022
%

70

100

100

100

100

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%

2021
%

70

100

100

100

100

Principal activities

FEXH

Construction

e

Construction

e

Surveying and engineering
works

REREETR

Construction

B

Construction

BE
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50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 50. T EME A RFE 2

(continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Issued share capital/ equity attributable
Name of subsidiary business registered capital to the Company Principal activities
EmEL
WEAREE afREEBE SROREGEMEER  AAREGRERINL TEXH
2022 2021
) %
Chun Wo E & M Engineering Hong Kong HK$90,000,000 100 100 Electrical and mechanical
Limited ordinary shares contract works
ERNRETRERAF B 90,000,0007% 7T & @&k KEAHNTRE
Chun Wo Elegant Decoration Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 100 100 Construction
Engineering Company Limited ordinary shares
EMREEHTRERAA G 100,000,0007% 7T & ik e
Chun Wo Engineering (Macau) Macau MOP1,000,000 capital 100 100 Construction
Company Limited
ERIRORM)BRAAE il 1,000,000/2F9 L&A et
Chun Wo Foundations Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 100 100 Construction
ordinary shares
EAEETRERAR B 100,000,000 7T & 8 % B
Chun Wo Foundations (Macau) Macau MOP100,000 capital 100 100 Construction
Engineering Limited
AR ORM) TRERAR R 100,0002FF 7L & AR e
Chun Wo Group Finance (HK) Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 Provision of financing
Limited services
BB BT EBR AR E R
Chun Wo Tunnel Management Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 96 93 Tunnel management
Limited services
BHBREERBRAR BE ELERK BEERRG
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PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEBARER

City Professional Management
Limited

BHERERBRAF

City Security Company Limited

BmERBRAR

Full Fame Development Limited
EERRAERDA

Honest Kind Limited
RHEBRAF

Hong Kong Cyclotron Laboratories
Limited

Mattex Asia Development Limited

MRENEREBERAA

Smartwill Asia Limited
RETNERAR

Vasteam Construction Limited

EERRERRAR

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

Issued share capital/
registered capital

HRAL/
HRRE R

ERTRAEREE

Hong Kong HK$8,230,000

ordinary shares
& 8,230,000 B &R
Hong Kong HK$1,000,000

ordinary shares
BE 1,000,000 & 7T & @&
Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share
B ETERKk
Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share
& BTERR
Hong Kong HK$100 ordinary shares
&t 10078 70 & @R
Hong Kong HK$30,000,001

ordinary shares
BE 30,000,001 7T & &A%
Hong Kong/the UAE HK$1 ordinary share
B/ ETERKk
Hong Kong HK$180,000,000

ordinary shares
BE 180,000,000 7T & A%

50. T EME QARFE 2

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

FRREEREE D
2022 2021
% %

9% 93

9 93

100 100
100 100
100 100

95 100
100 100
100 100

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%

Principal activities

TEER

Property management
services

NEERRG
Security guard services
EFRG

Property development

NEER

Provision of financing
services

RUERE RS

Production and sale of PET
radiopharmaceuticals
EERBEFETRAER

FEEY)

Construction material
management and
procurement

B ERRRE

Property development

NEER

Civil engineering
construction work
services

TARETIRIBIRYG
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PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Place of

incorporation/

registration and Issued share capital/
Name of subsidiary business registered capital

T
) PNCET aMkEXLE SRTREERES

50. T EME QARFE 2

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company Principal activities

FAAEEREES L FREHR

Wing Cheong Electrical Engineering  Hong Kong HK$20,000,000
& Contracting Company Limited ordinary shares
XEBERIRBRAA G 20,000,000/ 7T Z 8%
Shijiazhuang Junling PRC/Mainland HK$150,000,000
(notes (i) and (jii)) China registered capital
AR (O (i) R Gi)) HE/ BN 150,000,000/ ¢
AMER
Notes:

(i) All the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

(ii) These subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established under PRC
law.

(iii) In prior year, this entity is classified as a disposal group held for sale as at
31 March 2021 and classified as investment in an associate in current year, as
further detailed in notes 31(a) and 43(a) to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22

2022 2021
% %
100 100 Electrical and mechanical
contract works
BERHTE
49 100 Property development
MERRE
liE=

(i) B prA EEHIE A R B A DR R R
B

(i)  ZEMBRRERREPEAEKLZ I
BBAEDRE-

(iii) RE—FE ZEEBN2021F3A318ED
BAREHEZ MEERBETNAFE
BOBAR—MBLERERE E—FHF
BRI IR FE31(a) 243(a) ©

ERINBESRREIBEFELAFER
BMAGAKREEEFERELEZR
RAMBEAT -EER BT H A
BRAZHBESRBANITR



Notes to Financial Statements

PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT

51. TESERBFHE

OPERATIONS

Particulars of the Company’s principal joint operations as at 31 March

2022 are as follows:

Name of joint operation

REXKELE

Form of business Place of registration/
operation

i E R

structure

RERBRA

VIBRO - TYSAN - CHUN WO JV Unincorporated Hong Kong
FRAEA BB
ATAL- CW - MH JV Unincorporated Hong Kong
RRE— - R FERFEA B
DCK IV Unincorporated Hong Kong
FRAEA BB
CW-KLIV Unincorporated Hong Kong

M — B2

Notes:

FRBEA BE

The Group's attributable interest is equal to, greater or less than 50% in these
body unincorporates. However, under the joint venture agreements, the joint
operators have contractually agreed on the sharing of control over the relevant
activities of these body unincorporates, and hence all these body unincorporates
are jointly controlled by the Group and the other joint operators. Furthermore,
the relevant joint venture agreements specify that the Group and the other
parties to the joint arrangements have rights to the assets and obligations to the
liabilities relating to the joint arrangements in accordance with the attributable
interest of the Group as disclosed above and the interest attributable to the
other joint operators respectively, and therefore these body unincorporates are
classified as joint operations.

All principal joint operations engaged in construction works are contracted to
carry out infrastructure and public facilities related works in Hong Kong. These
joint operations are strategic to the Group’s principal activities in construction
works.

The above table lists the joint operations of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affect the results of the year or
constitute a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other joint operations would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

AEEFEAREERKR2022F3A31H
MBI :

Percentage of attributable

interest of the Group

Principal activities

rRERGEEEIE FERH

2022 2021
% %
(note (a)) (note (a)) (note (b))
(K@)  (WiE) (KiEon)
19 - Construction
HEE
48 48 Construction
B#
52 52 Construction
HE
82 - Construction
e
B e -
(@) AEBREEEZAZRN SRUERZKSE
ER T EABEEHS0% o AT BRIEA Y
i AETENMEERZAZSE
ARNENE AR E B ARSI Bt
REFRAFEABBREHEYEAERARE
& B ARG o BRE &
A AREERASTHEMTOS G
FD BIR R £l A & B e 2 i i e HL A
BRAEECEN ZHEAETHMER
BE REABETOEML Bt Z5ERQ
AAABERBE S BEAAEER-
(b) FIBURERETRNTIBLELEBHD

B UARBBETERRDARREHEBT
BoZEREEBHARENEZETREN
TERHEHREE-

FRINBEERRIBEFEAFESR
BMAGAEBEEFERELEZR
SEAEZXB -EERRIHEMA
BEB HFBESREBR LK.

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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PATE SRR E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

52. PARTICULARS OF A JOINT VENTURE 52. —E&¥ R AEFIE
Particulars of the Group's joint venture, which is indirectly held by the M202263A318 KREBEB 2 & & A7
Company, as at 31 March 2022 are as follows: (BARRARIMEERE) CERFBERT

Place of Percentage

Name of Particulars of registration Ownership of voting Profit Principal

joint venture issued shares held and business interest power sharing activities

EEAREH FRERTREZFE EfMREELY MEEEE REEASL FIESA FEER

% % %

Novabala JV Corp. 2,000 common shares of Philippines 20 20 20 Design and
PHP100 each and 9,000 construction
redeemable preferred
shares of PHP200 each

2000 REBEI0FEE FEE Rt ki
R H0E B 29,0008
FREB00FEELR
) AT FE B 8 S Bk
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PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

53. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 March 2022

are as follows:

Name of associate

BENRER

Place of
incorporation/
business
SR
XM

Issued share capital/
registered capital

BRTREHREX

Vietnam Land (HK) Ltd. BVI US$25,000,000

ordinary shares

HERLHEE 25,000,000 T @M%

TSCWPD Cayman Islands US$10 ordinary shares

REENDELR HEHS 10% LB

CPDL Hong Kong HK$12,000

ordinary shares

BIMERE B 12,0007 T & AR

CPL BVI US$100 ordinary shares

HERZHEE 1003 7L 5 iR

RIL BVI US$10 ordinary shares

FE EBRIHE 10ETLmR

Shijiazhuang JunJing PRC/Mainland HK$150,000,000

China registered Capital

REEER RE/HE R 150,000,000 7T

FfER

SDL* BVI US$10 ordinary shares

HERREE 10% LB

CWBS BVI US$10 ordinary shares

BB LR HERLES (=il

Kwan Lee Holding Limited Hong Kong HK$91,057,000

ordinary shares

HNEBARRA G 91,057,000/ 7t & AR
* Acquired during the year

# In prior year, this entity is classified as a disposal group held for sale as at

31 March 2021 and classified as investment in an associate in current year, as
further detailed in notes 31(a) and 43(a) to the financial statements.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group passed the control to minority

shareholders.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other associates would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

53. T EHE NTFFHIE
MN2022%3A31H AEB 2 T B &
NEIZFIBWT :

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Group Principal activities

FEEEEREIE EREH

2022 2021

% %

20 20 Investment holding
REZKR

40 40 Property development
NEER

20 20 Property development
MEER

40 40 Property development
NEER

40 40 Property development
MEER

49 100# Property development
NEER

40 - Property development
MEER

60" 60" Non-franchised bus services
FELDTRY

40 40 Provision of consultancy

and structural
engineering services

REXALEETRRE

* AEEARE

RBEFE  ZEEBR2021F3A31BES
BARBEHE HMEEEBTAANFE
PEAR—BBEQRRE E—FFE
R S REMIFE31(a) K243(a) °

K20224F K20214F3A31H - A& E %
HIEREET DBUBR

LRINBEERRIBEFEAFER
BEABRAREEEFERELEZ
AEEBRENF -EERARIIHEAM
BERRZHBEESRBAEN IR

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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MR M E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

54.

55.

56.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021/22

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 54. SEHIREE

Subsequent to the reporting period and up to the date of these RMERBRRBEEZSVBHRE 2 H
financial statements, 798,000 ordinary shares in total were B AR A DA 4B X (B462,84078 TT RN B
repurchased by the Company on the Stock Exchange for an X P EE B A $£798,0000% @AY - B AT
aggregate consideration of HK$462,840 and all these shares were BZERMDEAEEN-

cancelled accordingly.

Save as disclosed above and in note 31(b) to the financial statements, B XX R B R M FE31(0) FTIR R &
there are no other significant events occurred subsequent to the SV R EREMEREEMEKRSE
reporting period. I8 °

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 55. L ERE(F

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to HETUBEFEENH>E UFER
the current year's presentation and disclosures. FEZE2NAAREE-
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 56. 2~ A A Z B AR R &

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the R EER - BEEARR 2 HBARNR
Company as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: RZERIT :

NON-CURRENT ASSETS *RBEE

Property, plant and equipment IER T BT 463 544
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 10,871 11,294
Investments in subsidiaries (note 50) RKTE AR 218 E (Hi5E50) 1,770,553 2,048,528
Total non-current assets FERBEELTH 1,781,887 2,060,366
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BNRIA  Re REMERGIR 681 664
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss ~ RAF{EF ABZE 2 BRARE 2,191 1,848
Cash and bank balances Re MRITHER 7177 14,804
Total current assets B EEQSE 10,049 17,316
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE

Other payables and accruals HoAh 8 A 50 IE % & 5t A 9,912 2,283
Total current liabilities REAERE 9,912 2,283
NET CURRENT ASSETS B EEFE 137 15,033
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEAERRDEE 1,782,024 2,075,399
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES *RBEE

Due to subsidiaries FET PR B A R IE 702,334 964,280
Total non-current liabilities FRBAEER 702,334 964,280
Net assets BEFE 1,079,690 1,111,119
EQUITY R

Issued capital BEETRAR 180,268 182,013
Reserves (note) 8 (PsE) 899,422 929,106
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 1,079,690 1,111,119
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PAEEER R E

31 March 2022
202293 A31H

56. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: The movements of the Company’s reserves during the year are as follows:

56. R F) Z BT #EARR T (2)

Mis: AFEERAARRZHBESHNT

Notes

Share
premium
account

B aEE
HK$ 000

-
FETL

Shares held
under the
share award
scheme
account
RERGRD
FERET
BENRG
HKS 000
FAET

Share-based
compensation
reserve

Contributed
surplus

R AHM
AR fifE
HKS 000 HKS 000

- -
FATL FAT

Retained

profits

REUA
HK$000
787

g

HK$000
i

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 2020438318 R2020E4 818 760,071 (10,643) 52,552 11,242 153,327 966,549
Loss for the year and total AEEERRAFE2ABRAE

comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (6,106) (6,106)
Cancellation of repurchased shares B el 9,171) = = = = (9,171)
Equity-settled share option expense IRAEE 7 BRER X 390) = = = 1,048 = 1,048
Transfer of share-based compensation R MR RER B R RN B E

reserve upon the forfeiture of

share options - - - (1,094) 1,094 -
Final 2020 dividend declared BEER0N0FE XGRS - - - - (7,334) (7,334)
Interim 2021 dividend declared BER0IFEFERE 3 - - - - (15,880) (15,880)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 2021434318 R2021F4A1R 750,900 (10,643) 52,552 11,196 125,101 929,106
Loss for the year and total TEEFERAFERERRLE

comprehensive loss for the year - - - - (5,244) (5,244)
Cancellation of repurchased shares FHEEERA (8,526) - - - - (8,526)
Equity-settled share option expense IRAEE 2 BIRER X 39b) - - - 7 - 7
Transfer of share-based compensation RERESBRERROAMEE

reserve upon the expiry of share options - - - (11,196) 11,196 -
Interim 2022 dividend declared BER02EEHHRS 13 - - - - (15,921) (15,921)
At 31 March 2022 2022437318 742,374 (10,643) 52,552 7 115,132 899,422

57. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 57. #t /BBt H K

SRR N202266 A27E EEERH
HEfE Ko 354 2% o

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board on 27 June 2022.

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
I FMBBRE

Year ended 31 March

BZE3AZMBLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FETT FET FET FETT
RESULTS E
Revenue - 8,231,055 8,076,048 8,000,800 7,534,258 7,722,064
Profit/(loss) before tax BREADER, (EE) 230,200 165,161 113,940  (186,711) 136,964
Income tax Fris i (66,523)  (24,066)  (13,267) (2,374)  (29,028)
Profit/(loss) for the year NERZHF, (FHE) 163,677 141,095 100,673  (189,085) 107,936
Attributable to: FEAh
Shareholders of the Company 22 &) f%E 150,176 136,648 101,432 (184,506) 121,999
Non-controlling interests JEER S 13,501 4,447 (759) (4,579)  (14,063)
163,677 141,095 100,673  (189,085) 107,936

As at 31 March
M3A31H

2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

2022
HK$'000
TET

Total assets BELR 8,628,952 8,225,514 8,154,258 8,574,536 8,464,080
Total liabilities BE8EE (6,104,870) (5,751,364) (5,655,516) (6,229,251) (6,050,383)

2,524,082 2,474,150 2,498,742 2,345,285 2,413,697

Equity attributable to: FE(LHER
Shareholders of the Company A2 &) B 5 2,505,803 2,441,602 2,462,238 2,288,006 2,377,463
Non-controlling interests FEERR A 18,279 32,548 36,504 57,279 36,234

2,524,082 2,474,150 2,498,742 2,345,285 2,413,697
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

Y E L3S

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE

Location

A parcel of land located
between northern side of

He Ping Road and

southern side of

Guang Hua Road,
Shijiazhuang, Hebei Province,
The People’s Republic of China
FEARZEMBEwW

B AR

TR AL A B ZE R A
pdiabiik

Plot No. S5-C35 at
Shams Abu Dhabi,
Al Reem Island,

Abu Dhabi,

United Arab Emirates
] B 26 B 70 FL b

Al Reem Island
Shams Abu Dhabi
358 4% 5% S5-C35

Lots 1766 R.P, 1768 R.P,
1770 R.P, 1771 R.P,

1771 S.B., 1774 R.P, 1774 S.A.
in Demarcation District

No. 3 Tung Chung, Lantau Island,

New Territories, Hong Kong
BEERARNEILRBLE
B FE34H

R 281766 R.P.~ 1768 R.P.»

1770 RP~1771RP 1771 SB.»

1774 RP.~ 1774 S.A. 5

Stage of
completion

TIRE

Phase 1:
Phase 2:
Phase 3:

W ORE R

Planning

sl

Planning

A&

Completed
Completed
T1&T2
construction
in progress

BRI
BRI
15 K25

BRET
TR

Expected date
of completion

REER A

2023

2023

Total estimated

site area

(square metres)

fhEtaa

it 88 A

(FHK)

Residential, 111,554

commercial and

carpark

FTE - BER 111,554
(e

Residential 2,425

= 2,425

Residential 3,075

FE 3,075

DB S ERIERAER AR 2021226 %%

Total estimated
gross floor area
(square metres)
fhEtEEE
BEEE
(SF5K)

219,990
(Phase 3)

219,990
(B=H#)

22,715

22,715

6,150

6,150

RERR SHEME

Group's interest

AR ES

49%

49%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Particulars of Properties

VEEE3 ]

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE

(continued)

Location

Nos. 35 and 37 Cameron Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

NERDE
& 5 mE35M375%

Residential Accommodation,
No. 128 Waterloo Road,
Kowloon

Kowloon Inland Lot No. 1900
JUEE A3 ER 55190057
TEEBHT £ 81285
FEFH

Nos. 61-67 Soy Street,
Mong Kok, Kowloon
NEEA
BmAT61-675%

Nos. 437-441
Castle Peak Road,
Cheng Sha Wan,

Kowloon
nEEDE
5 1L38437-4415;

Stage of
completion

TIEER

Superstructure work
in progress

LETRRETH

Completed

Foundation work
in progress

WETRETH

Demolition works
in progress

HEN T2

Expected date
of completion

TR B

2023

2023

2021

2021

2023

2023

2024

2024

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2021/22

Total estimated

site area
Usage (square metres)
fh5t48
o A8 T R
ke (5 K)
Commercial 542
[ZES 542
Residential 1,692
= 1,692
Residential and 336
commercial
FEREE 336
Residential and 341
commercial
FEREE 341

Total estimated
gross floor area
(square metres)
fhEtEEE
BEEER
(FFK)

6,502

6,502

7,966

7,966

3,020

3,020

2,881

2,881

FIERR SHEWE w

Group's interest

FEEFEES

20%

20%

40%

40%

40%

40%

40%

40%



MAJOR MEMBERS OF

ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP

DNBEEERZEEEENE

CONSTRUCTION
e
m  Chun Wo Construction Holdings Company Limited
BEAZEZERFR LA
= Chun Wo Building Construction Limited
EANREFR AR
= Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited
BFREETRERAR
= Chun Wo E & M Engineering Limited
EMEETRERAA]
= Chun Wo Elegant Decoration Engineering Company Limited
NSRRI TIRERAR]
= Chun Wo Foundations Limited
EMETRERAA
= Kwan Lee Holding Limited
HHNSEEBERAR
= Amain Engineering Development Limited
ERMIRERARAA
m  RJ. Crocker Consultants Pte. Ltd.
BIRER AR A A

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND ASSETS LEASING
MEHRREENRR

m  Chun Wo Property Development Holdings Limited
ENYRERITERBER AR
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
BEXRB
m  City Services Group Limited
RS EE AR LA
m  City Professional Management Limited
W EEERERAA
= City Security Company Limited
T ER AR AR
= Chun Wo Tunnel Management Limited
BB ETEGRAA
NON-FRANCHISED BUS SERVICES
FEEE LR
= Chun Wo Bus Services Limited

BEMELREERAA]

MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY AND HEALTHCARE
BREMNREER
m  AAIl Medical Technology Limited
NS R BB AR AR
= Hong Kong Cyclotron Laboratories Limited
OTHER BUSINESS
HAth %

= AAI Overseas Holdings Limited
TNEES EREBIMERBR A E]

1% %o
Cuaun Wo

C§&

Wi Mk B R E

Ciry Services Group

BINEEBRFR2S
KWAN LEE HOLDING LIMITED

X ceresmamnss
Fa

AMAIN ENGINEERING DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

.. R.J. CROCKER Consultants Pte Ltd
‘ el i I ] A B2 ]

g/ HonG KonG CycLoTRON LABORATORIES LD.



oA AR R AR A A

ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(852) 3798 5711
(852) 3798 5700
www.asiaalliedgroup.com

C1, 5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1
601-603 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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